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This Annual Report has been reviewed by the 
Company’s sponsor, SAC Capital Private Limited 
(the “Sponsor”). This Annual Report has not been 
examined or approved by Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) and the SGX-
ST assumes no responsibility for the contents of this 
Annual Report, including the correctness of any of the 
statements or opinions made or reports contained in 
this Annual Report.

The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms. Audrey Mok 
(Telephone: +65 6232 3210) at 1 Robinson Road, #21-00 
AIA Tower, Singapore 048542.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Oiltek International Limited (the “Company”, and together with 
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an established integrated process 

technology and renewable energy solutions provider in the 
vegetable oils industry, providing solutions that cater to all 

types of vegetable oils, including palm oil, soybean oil and 
rapeseed oil, which are some of the major agricultural 

commodities in the world. 

The history of the Group can be traced back to 
our principal operating subsidiary, Oiltek Sdn. 

Bhd., which was incorporated in Malaysia on 
1 December 1980 as a private company 

limited by shares and started out as a 
home-grown vegetable and edible oil 

process engineering company. With 
over 42 years of industry experience 

and the Group’s in-house proprietary 
process technology and know-how, 
the Group provides a reliable, 
innovat ive,  d ivers i f ied and 
comprehensive range of process 
and engineering solutions for 
use across all different sectors 
of the vegetable oils industry 
value chain worldwide. The 
Group has successfully designed, 
built and commercialised over 
570 plants in more than 30 

countries across 5 continents. 

The Group operates three (3) key 
businesses – Edible & Non-Edible Oil 

Refinery segment, Renewable Energy 
segment , and Product Sales and 

Trading segment. For more information, 
please visit the Company’s website at 

www.oiltek.com.my.

Oiltek International Limited was listed on the 
Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited on 3 March 2022 (SGX: HQU).
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STATEMENT BY CHAIRMAN AND CEO

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (“Board”), we 
are pleased to present the Annual Report of Oiltek 
International Limited (“Oiltek”, the “Company” and 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022”).

Outstanding Performance

The global business environment continued to remain 
challenging in FY2022. Even as the COVID-19 pandemic 
became more controlled in early 2022, logistics and 
supply chain disruptions persisted, and this was followed 
by raw material price hikes, global inflation, and rising 
interest rates. These macro headwinds caused foreign 
currency restrictions in some countries and global market 
volatility, which affected the countries where the Group 
has business and operates in. Nonetheless, the Group’s 

Our ability to continue to register growth in order book, revenue 
and profitability, even in an uncertain global economy, is a 
testament to out resilient business model and strong fundamentals

projects were not materially adversely affected by the 
impact of the abovementioned.

The Group’s efficient management controls have borne 
fruit as it recorded a stellar performance for FY2022. 
Revenue grew by 62.7% to approximately RM163.7 
million from approximately RM100.6 million in the 
financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”). This 
revenue growth was mostly driven by the Group’s Edible 
& Non-Edible Oil Refinery segment and Product Sales and 
Trading segment. For FY2022, the Group’s profit after 
income tax increased by 30.5% to approximately RM12.7 
million which translates into a healthy earnings per 
share (“EPS”) of 9.1 sen and a return on equity (“ROE”) 
of 23.7%. Excluding one-off listing expenses and listing 
grant income, the Group’s profit after income tax for 
FY2022 would have been approximately RM13.8 million 
or EPS of 9.9 sen or ROE of 25.8%.
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Strong Growth Momentum

In FY2022, the Group secured new orders amounting to 
approximately RM196.1 million. The Group’s order book 
increased by 29.1%, its revenue increased by 62.7%, and 
its profit after tax increased by 30.5% from FY2021. The 
Group’s ability to continue to register growth in its order 
book, revenue and profitability, amidst the uncertainties 
of the global economy, is a testament to its resilient 
business model and strong fundamentals built over the 
past 42 years.

The Group started the year 2023 strongly, with new 
contract wins from Indonesia and Africa. The value of 
Oiltek contract wins since 1 January 2023 amounts to 
approximately RM101.0 million. The Group’s current order 
book now stands at approximately RM303.8 million. 
Furthermore, the Group’s sizeable Indonesia contract win 
announced on 1 March 2023 demonstrates our customer’s 
high confidence in our engineering solutions and ability 
to plan and deliver large-scale projects.

The Group will build on this strong order book momentum 
to further innovate and develop new process engineering 
solutions for its clients to meet their requirements, whilst 
never ceasing in its drive to push the frontiers for greater 
output and efficiency.

Market Outlook

The Group remains confident about the long-term outlook 
of the Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery segment as the 
global consumption of oils and fats grows in tandem with 
population growth, as evidenced by the strong growth in 
the food and beverage, renewable energy and biodiesel 
sectors. 

The growing global demand for food creates a 
corresponding demand for edible and non-edible oils and 
fats, specifically, vegetable oils. This potentially benefits 
the Group as it provides solutions that cater to all types 
of vegetable oils, including palm oil, soybean oil and 

rapeseed oil.  Capitalising on this macro trend, the Group 
will continue to leverage on its capabilities, integrated 
technology know-how, and proven track record to secure 
more projects and projects of a larger scale in existing 
and new markets, and to expand its geographical reach 
to other palm oil markets with emerging prospects.

The Group sees an acceleration of the global trend 
towards environmental sustainability benefitting its 
Renewable Energy segment, particularly in Indonesia, 
the world’s biggest palm oil producing country. The 
Indonesian government has announced plans to increase 
the current mandatory 30% blend of palm-based 
biodiesel requirement in its petroleum diesel. Testing for 
biodiesel containing up to 40% of palm-based biodiesel 
(B40) is underway by the government of Indonesia with 
the aim of concluding by the end of the year if they are 
viable for public use 1.

3OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

1	 https://www.ofimagazine.com/news/indonesia-launches-road-tests-for-b40-palm-oil-biodiesel
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Furthermore, recent severe climate changes and extreme 
weather conditions has re-emphasised environmental 
protection as a key global agenda. With growing 
environmental awareness, and stronger environmental 
regulations, initiatives and policies in place, the Group 
remains optimistic of continued growth prospects in 
the renewable energy sector. Global energy demand is 
estimated to grow 47% by 2050, with renewable energy 
sources estimated to make up 27% of the 2050 global 
energy mix2. We intend to increase our focus on the 
renewable energy sector, and will continue to develop 
new and innovative processes, and provide more support 
and solutions to the sustainability efforts of existing 
customers and markets. 

Going Forward

Oiltek prides itself on the resilient business model that it 
has built since its inception over 42 years ago. This has 
allowed it to stay nimble and weather a fast-changing 
commodities industry. Having an asset-light and resilient 
business model also allows the Group to maintain a 
consistent track record of profitability, while maintaining 
a healthy cash position and no indebtedness at the same 
time.

The Group’s stellar showing in FY2022 was made 
possible by its highly effective and skilled management 
team, which has proven itself time and time again 
by successfully navigating the Group through many 
slowdowns and recessions in the past. Going forward, 
the Group’s management is committed to upholding its 
strong performance into the financial year ending 31 
December 2023 (“FY2023”) as global consumption rises 
in lockstep with population growth.

Today, the Group’s key competitive advantage is 
innovation, which remains a long-term focus. Following 
the successful commercialisation of its flagship waste-
to-energy proprietary enzymatic biodiesel process 
plant in the Renewable Energy segment that produces 

high quality biodiesel from non-food based vegetable 
oil (secondary oil), the Group recently developed a 
downstream value-added process in the Edible & Non-
Edible Oil Refinery segment, which converts low value 
co-products in refineries into premium animal feed 
products. 

The Group will further leverage on its core capabilities, 
technological expertise, and solid track record to 
secure more sizeable projects in both its existing and 
new markets, as well as expand to other geographical 
markets with good prospects. It will also continue to 
invest in its Product Sales and Trading segment, which 
complements its Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery and 
Renewable Energy segments and generates recurring 
income to the Group. In addition, the Group will also seek 
growth opportunities through investments, mergers and 
acquisitions, joint ventures and/or strategic alliances to 
complement the existing business and also build up a 
consistent and recurring revenue stream.

Notwithstanding the uncertainties of the global economy, 
the Group expects its business to be driven mainly by 
corresponding growth in the industries that it serves, 
with the overall outlook expected to remain positive. 

2	 https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/market-insights/latest-
news/oil/100621-global-energy-demand-to-grow-47-by-2050-with-oil-still-
top-source-us-eia
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In Appreciation

Oiltek understands that it has a duty as a listed company 
to grow its business and deliver shareholder value. 
Although the Company currently does not have a fixed 
dividend policy, the Board of Directors has committed to 
recommending distributions of dividends of not less than 
40% of the net profit attributable to shareholders of the 
Company for FY2022 and FY2023, in line with its mission 
to reward shareholders for participating in the Company’s 
growth. 

Therefore, the Board of Directors has recommended 
a Final Dividend of 1.2 Singapore cents per share for 
FY2022, representing about 43.3% of Group’s net profit 
attributable to shareholders of the Company, which is 
subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the Company.

We would also like to take this opportunity to thank our 
Board of Directors for their guidance and support, and 
our dedicated management and staff for their effort and 
commitment to help us to achieve a set of good results, in 
spite of the challenging business operating environment. 
Lastly, we also would like to show our appreciation to 
our valued customers, business associates and suppliers, 
with whom we have built great relationships with. We 
thank all of you for your support. We view ourselves as 
a strategic partner to all our customers to support their 
growth plans as we diligently fulfill our order books.

Mr. Hew Koon Chan

Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director

Mr. Yong Khai Weng

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Listed on the Catalist 
Board of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited

2022

Adopted pre-stripper 
technology for the 
removal of FFA 

1984

Developed a system to 
produce edible oil with 
higher Vitamin E

1986

Designed, constructed 
and commisioned of 
our flagship enzymatic 
biodiesel plant that 
converts high free fatty 
acid crude palm oil, 
palm fatty acid distillate, 
palm acid oil and palm 
sludge oil into biodiesel

2020-2021

Designed, constructed 
& commissioned our 3rd 
generation flagship dry 
fractionation plant with 
patented crystallizer 

Expanded into the 
renewable energy sector 

Embarked on biogas 
recovery for POME to be 
converted into energy 
sources

2010Commercialised 
a refining plant 
which produces low 
3-monochloropropane 
diol (3MCPD) and 
glycidyl fatty acid esters

2017

Designed, constructed 
& commissioned a 
palm edible oil refining 
plant incorporated with 
phytonutrient recovery 
& tocotrienol enrichment

2009

Licensed by MPOB for 
commercialisation of 
MPOB’s palm biodiesel 
& winter fuel processes

Designed & built one 
of the world’s largest 
physical refinery 
plants with capacity of 
approximately 2,800 
metric tonnes per day

2006

Designed, constructed 
and commisioned 
refining plants which 
produce the lightest 
colour edible oil and 
multi-feedstock palm 
biodiesel plant

2013-2016

Awarded a contract 
for construction 
of an integrated 
palm biodiesel & 
phytonutrient extraction 
plant

2001

One of the first 
locally-owned process 
engineering companies 
to obtain ISO9001 
certification

1998
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WE SERVE SOME OF THE WORLD’S LARGEST AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES MARKETS

Algeria
Benin
Cameroon
Egypt
Ghana
Ivory Coast
Kenya
Nigeria
South Africa
Tanzania
Togo
Uganda
Zaire
Zambia

Bangladesh
China
Indonesia
Malaysia
Myanmar
Pakistan
Philippines
Saudi Arabia
Singapore
Thailand
Vietnam

Papua New GuineaBrazil
Venezuela
Colombia

Costa Rica
Honduras
Mexico
Nicaragua
Guatemala

NORTH
AMERICA

SOUTH
AMERICA

AFRICA

ASIA

OCEANIA



8 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

OUR BUSINESS 

Our Group’s key businesses are principally categorised as follows:

Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery segment

	 Engineering, procurement, designing, construction and commissioning (“EPCC”) of edible and non-edible oil 
refining plants, downstream specialty products and processing plants 

	
	 Upgrading and retrofitting of existing facilities 

	
	 Turnkey outside-battery-limits (“OSBL”) infrastructure engineering

Renewable Energy segment

	 EPCC of multi-feedstock biodiesel, enzymatic biodiesel, winter fuel, and POME biogas methane recovery plants 
	

	 Upgrading and retrofitting of existing facilities 
	

	 Turnkey OSBL infrastructure engineering which includes the environmental solutions and integration into steam 
and power generation 

Product Sales and Trading segment

	 Engineering component sales 
	

	 Agency and distributorship
	

	 Specialty chemical product trading

 



OUR SOLUTIONS AND SERVICES
Our Group specialises in the design, engineering, procuring, constructing and commissioning 
of facilities and plants to our customers from various sectors of the vegetable oils industry.

9OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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	 Physical/Steam Refining 
	 Plants

	 Chemical/Alkali Refining 
	 Plants

	 Neutralisation Plants
	 Dry Fractionation Plants
	 Detergent Fractionation 

	 Plants
	 Palm Kernel Oil Fractionation 

	 Plants
	 Winterisation & Dewaxing 

	 Plants
	 Hydrogenation Plants
	 Chemical/Enzymatic 

	 Interesterification Plants
	 Texturisation (Margarine 

	 & Shortening) Plants
	 Pasteurising Plants
	 Phytonutrient Extraction 

	 Plants
	 Spray Cooling Plants
	 Premium Specialty Animal 

	 Feed Product Processing Plants
	 Pilot Plants

Edible & Non-Edible 
Oil Refinery

	 Normal Palm Biodiesel 
	 Plants

	 Winter Fuel Plants
	 Multi-Feedstock Biodiesel 

	 Plants
	 Proprietary Oiltek Biodiesel 

	 & Multi-Feedstock Process
	 Proprietary Enzymatic 

	 Multi-Feedstock Biodiesel 
	 Process 

	 Proprietary Post-Biodiesel 
	 Phytonutrient Extraction 
	 & Concentration Process

	 Acidulation Processes
	 Glycerine Refining Process
	 High Efficiency Biogas 

	 Methane Recovery Plants
	 Pilot Plants

Renewable 
Energy

	 Engineering Component 
	 Sales

	 Specialty Chemical Product 		
	 Trading

	 Agency And Distributorship
	 	 API Schmidt Plate Heat 		
		  Exchanger
	 	 TMCI Padovan Chemetator
	 	 Kieselmann Sanitary 
		  Valve, Pipe & Fitting
	 	 GekaKonus Heating
		  Systems
	 	 Novozymes Enzymes

	 Wear And Tear Items 
	 In The Process Plants

Product Sales 
And Trading
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OUR PROCESS TECHNOLOGIES

Patented Process Technologies

Patent Pending Process Technologies

Apparatus For Dry Fractionation Of Oils And Fats

Our patented hybrid crystalliser provides a well-controlled cooling process with excellent 
heat transfer efficiency

DRY FRACTIONATION PLANT
Hybrid Crystallizer

All New Physical Palm Oil Refinery

Our patented All New Physical Palm Oil Refinery is equipped with sensors connected to a 
centralised computer system to enable automated operation and immediate detection and 
response to problems in the plant

Production Of Refined, Bleached And Deodorised Palm Oil With Low Colour

Our patented process which reduces the colour intensity of the end product to 1.0 - 1.3 Red (R), 
which matches the colour of soft oils such as soybean, rapeseed and sunflower oils

Continuous Deodoriser With Thermosyphon Heat Recovery

Our patent involves a new design of continuous deodoriser for the edible oil refining plant 
with built-in heat recovery system

Phytonutrients Extraction From Palm Oil

Our process is capable of extracting and concentrating the high value naturally occuring nutrient 
compounds in the crude palm oil via a downstream refining process. Our Company remains a 
proprietary vendor of such phytonutrient extraction plants

Oil And Fat Fractionation System And Processs

Our process provides improvements to the oil and fat fractionation system and process, 
increasing overall plant operation efficiency

Biogas Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor (CSTR) System And Process

Our CSTR technology enhances the efficiency of the anaerobic digestion process for the 
treatment of effluents discharged from palm oil mills. The recovered menthane biogas is an 
energy source and can be used for various applications

Biodiesel Production From Oil And Fatty Acids Via Enzymatic Esterification

Our process is able to convert palm oil mill high FFA palm oil into biodiesel via the enzymatic 
biodiesel process
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QUALITY CONTROL AND ASSURANCE 

	 Latest and updated designs that address market 

	needs and cater to upcoming market trends and 
	developments

	 Cost-effective engineering designs for most efficient

	 and optimised capital expenditure value and
	 optimised return on capital expenditure investment

	 Efficient designs with lowest utility consumption and

	 high yield and end product quality

	 Usage of various animation, design and 3D-piping 

software in our projects to generate design, piping 
and fabrication drawings with high precision

	 Ensuring full compliance with industrial engineering 	

	and safety standards
 

	 Fully automated plants with computerised and 

programmable logic control systems for easy 
operation, remote real-time monitoring and data 
recording

	 Durable and reliable equipment, and components

	 with long shelf-lives and minimum requirements on
 	 maintenance

	 Well-trained professional and skilled technical 

	personnel

	 Efficient and prompt support services for both local  

	and overseas customers via physical or online
	 support

We have in place a quality assurance system for the 
solutions and services provided by our Group, focusing 
on the following:

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
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9,707

12,216*

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RM’000	 FY2018	 FY2019	 FY2020	  FY2021	  FY2022
Cash And Bank Balances  	   29,203  	   50,649 	   51,292  	   42,896 	    67,360	

Total Assets	   75,507	   78,635	   67,567	   82,239 	    122,472

Total Liabilities	   29,216	   41,717	   33,481	   47,876 	    68,993	
Total Equity / Net Assets	   46,291	   36,918	   34,086	   34,363 	    53,479

FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS

Gross Profit 
(RM’000)

*	 Adjusted profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding listing expenses of approximately RM2.51 million which was recognised during FY2021)
**	 Adjusted profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (excluding listing expenses of approximately RM2.07 million and listing grant income of 

approximately RM0.96 million which were recognised during FY2022)

Profit Attributable To Equity Holders Of The Company 
(RM’000)

19,804

16,613

27,658

23,589

30,957FY2022

FY2021

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018

8,370

4,432

12,057

12,671FY2022

FY2021

FY2020

FY2019

FY2018

13,785**
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FINANCIAL & OPERATIONS REVIEW

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately 
RM63.10 million or 62.7% from approximately RM100.63 
million in FY2021 to approximately RM163.73 million 
in FY2022 due to an increase in the Edible & Non-Edible 
Oil Refinery segment and the Product Sales and Trading 
segment. This was partially offset by a decrease in the 
Renewable Energy segment.

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 
RM7.01 million or 29.7% from approximately RM23.59 
million in FY2021 to approximately RM30.60 million in 
FY2022. Gross profit margin decreased by 4.7 percentage 
points from 23.4% in FY2021 to 18.7% in FY2022. This 
was mainly due to lower gross profit margins from the 
Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery and Renewable Energy 
segments.

The Group’s profit after income tax increased by 
approx imately  RM2.96 mi l l ion or  30.5% f rom 
app rox imate l y  RM9 .71  m i l l i on  i n  FY2021  to 
approximately RM12.67 million in FY2022. Excluding 
the Listing expenses and Listing grant income, the 
Group’s profit after income tax for FY2022 would be 
approximately RM13.79 million.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022 
remains strong and resilient, with a net asset position 
of approximately RM53.48 million and healthy cash 
and bank balances of approximately RM67.36 million, 
representing 126.0% of the Group’s net assets.

Cash and bank balances increased by approximately 
RM24.46 million or 57.0% from approximately RM42.90 
million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately 
RM67.36 million as at 31 December 2022 mainly due 
to the net cash provided by operating activities and 
financing activities. 

Total assets increased by approximately RM40.23 million 
or 48.9% from approximately RM82.24 million as at 31 
December 2021 to approximately RM122.47 million as 
at 31 December 2022 mainly due to an increase in cash 
and bank balances, contract assets and partially offset 
by a decrease in trade and other receivables.

Total liabilities increased by approximately RM21.11 
million or 44.1% from approximately RM47.88 million as 
at 31 December 2021 to approximately RM68.99 million 
as at 31 December 2022 mainly due to an increase in 
trade and other payables and contract liabilities.

Overal l ,  the Group’s total  equity increased by 
approximately RM19.12 mil l ion or 55.6% from 
approximately RM34.36 million to approximately 
RM53.48 million.
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Mr. Hew Koon Chan joined our Group in December 2021 as the Non-Executive Chairman and 
Independent Director of our Company. Mr. Hew began working as a process engineer in 1986 for Texas 
Instruments Singapore Pte. Ltd., a company that specialises in the manufacturing and sale of memory 
integrated circuits. In 1988, he was then employed by Venture Services (S.E.A.) Pte Ltd., a company 
under the South East Asia Venture Investment programme, as an investment analyst and promoted 
through the years to become an investment director at Seavi Venture Services Pte. Ltd., a venture 
capital firm established in the South East Asian region and is affiliated with Advent International which 
is a global private equity firm headquartered in Boston.

Mr. Hew established Integer Capital Pte. Ltd. in 2004 and carried out the role as the managing director 
providing business consultancy services on corporate mergers and acquisitions. He presently sits on 
the board of directors of public listed companies, namely Shopper360 Limited and Resources Global 
Development Limited.

Mr. Hew graduated from the National University of Singapore in 1986 with a Bachelor of Engineering 
(Mechanical). In 1987, he graduated from the Singapore Institute of Management with a Graduate 
Diploma in Financial Management and obtained his Certified Diploma in Accounting and Finance from 
the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants (UK) the following year.

Mr. Yong Khai Weng is the Executive Director and CEO of our Company. Mr. Yong has been managing 
our operations as the managing director since May 2008 and is principally in charge of (a) our Group’s 
overall business policies and strategic direction; and (b) the overall oversight and management of our 
business operations and development. Mr. Yong has accumulated more than 24 years of experience in 
the vegetable oils industry. 

Mr. Yong started his career with Carotech Sdn. Bhd. in 1997 as a process engineer in charge of 
overseeing the production for an integrated biodiesel and phytonutrient extraction plant. He then 
joined Keck Seng (M) Bhd from 2003 to 2005 as the factory manager in charge of overseeing business 
development, production expansion, and new process and product development for the company. For 
the period of 2005 to 2008, he was engaged in various capacities (including director, chief operating 
officer, adviser and chief technical officer) with three (3) private companies (being InteBiotech Sdn. 
Bhd. (July 2005 to September 2007), NewGen Biofuels Asia Pte. Ltd. (May 2006 to June 2007) and 
Zurex Corporation Sdn. Bhd. (July 2007 to December 2008)) to oversee the construction and installation 
of new integrated refinery and biodiesel complexes in Malaysia and Singapore. Whilst serving as 
our managing director, Mr. Yong was also appointed as a non-executive director and adviser of an 
investment holding company, Lipid Venture Sdn. Bhd. for the period of 2012 to 2015 and subsequently, 
from 2016 to 2020, in relation to the formation of FGV Lipid Venture Sdn. Bhd., a joint venture company 
between Lipid Venture Sdn. Bhd. and FGV Downstream Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of what 
we believe is a notable and one of the largest plantation companies in Malaysia. Mr. Yong was also 
engaged as a non-executive director and adviser by FGV Lipid Venture Sdn. Bhd. to develop a new 
integrated phytonutrient complex in Malaysia. 

Mr. Yong graduated in 1997 with First Class Honours in Bachelor of Engineering (Chemical) from the 
University of Malaya and has also been the recipient of entrepreneurial awards in 2013 from Asia 
Success Inc and 2013, 2015 and 2019 from Asia Excellence Entrepreneur Federation, in recognition of 
his achievement in business and entrepreneurial experience.

Mr. Yong Khai Weng
Executive Director 

& Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Hew Koon Chan
Non-Executive Chairman 
& Independent Director 
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Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu is a Non-Executive Director of our Company. Mr. Wong has been a non-
executive director of our subsidiaries, Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. and Oiltek Global Energy Sdn. Bhd. since 
May 2013 and September 2017, respectively. Mr. Wong has more than 20 years of engineering and 
management experience in the property sector. 

Mr. Wong currently holds the position of an executive director in the real estate division of Koh 
Brothers Development Pte. Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Koh Brothers Group Limited, which is 
our ultimate Controlling Shareholder through its shareholding interest in Koh Brothers Eco Engineering 
Limited). Prior to that, Mr. Wong was an executive director from 2001 to 2012 at Koh Maju Sdn. Bhd., 
a real estate investment firm (formerly known as A-Omega Sdn. Bhd., a contractor firm involved in 
small scale additions and alterations from 2001 to 2004). He was also a special projects manager 
at Amtek Holdings Berhard, part of the Syed Mohktar group, a conglomerate engaged in various 
businesses including real estate development, from 1996 to 2000, a project engineer and asset 
manager at Selangor Properties Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Selangor Properties Berhad), a real 
estate developer from 1990 to 1996 and he started his career as a design / resident engineer with 
Perunding Hashim & NEH Sdn. Bhd. in 1987. 

Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Engineering with Honours in Civil Engineering from the University of 
Birmingham.

Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew joined our Group in December 2021 as an Independent Director of our 
Company. Mr. Lai is currently a partner at Lee & Lee, which he joined in 2017.

Mr. Lai started his career in 1995 as an associate in Lee & Lee and relocated to Hong Kong in 1999 to 
join Baker & McKenzie, an international law firm. He joined Rajah & Tann Singapore LLP as a partner in 
2002 and was a partner at Kelvin Chia Partnership from 2005 to 2017. He undertakes both corporate 
legal advisory and transactional work, and has extensive experience in capital markets, mergers and 
acquisitions, and regulatory compliance work for listed companies. 

Mr. Lai graduated from the National University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) in 
1994. He was admitted as an advocate and solicitor in Singapore in 1995 and has also been admitted 
to the Roll of Solicitors of England and Wales and the Roll of Solicitors of Hong Kong since 2001. He 
is currently a member of the Law Society of Singapore, Singapore Academy of Law and Singapore 
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu
Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Koh Keng Siang is a Non-Executive Director of our Company. Mr. Koh has been a non-executive 
director of our subsidiaries, Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. and Oiltek Global Energy Sdn. Bhd. since February 2013. 
Mr. Koh is the managing director and group chief executive officer of Koh Brothers Group Limited (which 
is our ultimate Controlling Shareholder through its shareholding interest in Koh Brothers Eco Engineering 
Limited). Mr. Koh has been with Koh Brothers Group Limited since 1987 and has held various positions 
in management, administration, finance and project management. 

Mr. Koh is also a non-executive director and the non-independent chairman of our Controlling 
Shareholder, Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited. 

Mr. Koh holds a Master of Business Administration from the National University of Singapore and a 
Bachelor of Engineering with Honours in Civil Engineering from the University of Birmingham. He was 
conferred the Promising SME 500 (Top Business Luminary) in 2014 and was named the Real Estate 
Personality of the Year 2016 by PropertyGuru. He is also a council member of the Teochew Federation 
Council and Honorary Chairman of the Singapore Khoh Clan Association.

Mr. Koh Keng Siang
Non-Executive Director 

Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew
Independent Director 
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Ms. Tay Tze Wen was appointed as an Alternate Director to Mr. Koh Keng Siang on 1 March 2023. 
She has more than 20 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and finance. Ms. Tay currently holds 
the position of Financial Controller (the “FC”) in Koh Brothers Group Limited (which is our ultimate 
Controlling Shareholder through its shareholding interest in Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited). 
As the FC, she oversees Koh Brothers Group Limited’s financial affairs including accounting, finance, 
treasury, taxation as well as risk management. 

Prior to joining Koh Brothers Group Limited in 2006, Ms. Tay was an auditor with various international 
accounting firms.  Ms. Tay holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting and Finance from Monash 
University, Australia. She is also a Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants and a member of the CPA Australia.

Ms. Tay Tze Wen 
(Alternate Director to 
Mr. Koh Keng Siang)

Ms. Tan Yee Peng joined our Group in December 2021 as an Independent Director of our Company. She 
has more than 20 years of accounting and auditing experience, having started her career in 1995 as 
an auditor and moved to KPMG LLP in 1999 where she provided accounting and advisory services to 
clients in both private and public sectors. She was a partner in KPMG LLP from 2003 to 2010, managing 
an audit portfolio of various companies listed on the SGX-ST. She also acted as the reporting accountant 
and auditor for several companies listed on the SGX-ST. 

Since her retirement as a practicing accountant, Ms. Tan has contributed to academia as an adjunct 
associate professor at the Nanyang Technological University from 2009 to 2018 and has contributed 
actively to the non-profit sector through her appointments at various charities and government 
affiliated organisations. Among others, she is presently a director of Singapore Aerospace 
Manufacturing Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary of Temasek Holdings Limited, a council member of Agency for Care 
Effectiveness, a committee established under the Ministry of Health, and sits on the board of directors 
of TDCX Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Ms. Tan graduated with a First Class Honours degree in Accountancy from the Nanyang Technological 
University, is a Fellow and non-practising member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants 
and a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Ms. Tan Yee Peng
Independent Director
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Mr. Goh Chee Yong
Financial Controller

Mr. Goh Chee Yong joined our Group as Financial Controller in March 2021. Mr. Goh is responsible for our Group’s financial affairs including but not 
limited to our accounting, financial administration, analysis and planning, treasury, taxation, compliance and reporting, and internal control and risk 
management obligations. 

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Goh was at Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited, our Controlling Shareholder, from May 2014 to February 2021, where 
he joined as an accountant and was promoted to assistant account manager and finance manager in April 2016 and April 2018 respectively. During 
his time at Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited, he was responsible for the supervision of the financial matters of the group including maintaining 
the monthly accounting records, overseeing accounts payable and receivables, managing and forecasting cashflows for the division and ensuring 
compliance with the financial reporting requirements for a listed company. Right before joining our Group, during January to February 2021, he was 
tasked to primarily assist in reviewing the accounts of our Group including budgets, project costing, payments and other banking transactions. He 
started his career as an audit assistant in Yeoh & Company in June 2008 and subsequently worked as an accountant in Jasapadu Industri Sdn. Bhd. 
from 2009 to 2011 and Koon Holdings Limited from 2011 to 2014. 

Mr. Goh is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and an affiliate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), 
where he obtained his ACCA qualification. He has an Advanced Diploma in Commerce (Financial Accounting) from Tunku Abdul Rahman University of 
Management and Technology, Malaysia.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Mr. Yap Ping Sing
Head of Technical

Mr. Yap Ping Sing joined our Group as a project engineer in April 1989 upon graduation from the University of Malaya with a Bachelor of Engineering 
(Chemical). 

As a project engineer, Mr. Yap was in charge of executing project, design and procurement activities. In 1991, he was promoted to a project 
manager to handle project management and control activities. From 2000 to 2007, he was re-designated as a technical manager to handle project 
management and design activities for special plants. He was then appointed as the assistant general manager (technical) from 2007 to 2011, 
where he was in charge of developing new designs and inventions, and the mentoring of engineering staff. From 2011 to 2016, he led the technical 
division of our Group as the general manager (technical), where he was responsible for the overall management of engineering and technical 
support activities. Since 2016, as both general manager and general manager (technical), he has been leading both the technical and operations 
divisions in the overall management of engineering activities and operations systems. 

Mr. Yap is registered with the Board of Engineers, Malaysia since November 1989 and joined the Institution of Engineers, Malaysia since March 1990.

Mr. Tai Cheng Huat
Head of Operations 

Mr. Tai Cheng Huat started his career with Federal Metal Printing Sdn. Bhd. in 1992 as a technical research and development assistant where he 
assisted the company in the automation of its manual can manufacturing production line. Mr. Tai then joined our Group as a technical assistant 
from 1993 to 1994 and was shortly promoted to a project executive from 1994 to 1996, where he assisted with project improvement and 
research on pilot plant, and was responsible for preparatory work in relation to the process flow of projects, piping and instrumentation diagrams, 
equipment and piping layout diagrams, and the design and procurement of items and equipment for projects. 

Mr. Tai then left our Group to join InterSonikon Engineering Sdn. Bhd., an edible oil process provider, from 1996 to 2003 as a project engineer 
where he supervised erection and installation, testing and commissioning and design and procurement of items and equipment for plants. 
Subsequently, he re-joined our Group in 2003 as a project engineer. He left our Group in 2005 to manage his sole proprietorship while working as 
a freelance project and commissioning engineer for our Group. In January 2016, he re-joined our Group as general manager (operations), where 
he now manages the operations division and has overall responsibility of the operations of our Group. 

Mr. Tai has a Diploma in Mechanical Engineering from the Federal Institute of Technology, Malaysia.

Ms. Cheng Cia Cia
Head of Marketing and Sales

Ms. Cheng Cia Cia joined our Group in November 2010 as a project engineer and was responsible for the engineering designs of projects and 
project coordination. She was then appointed as a sales engineer in 2013 where she assisted our Group with sales support and after-sales 
services, with a specialisation in texturising plants. In 2018, she was promoted to regional sales manager, where she currently leads the sales 
team, handles sales for plants and after-sales services in Indonesia and Philippines, and handles sales for texturising plants and after-sales 
services globally. 

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Cheng started her career at Future NRG Sdn. Bhd., a renewable energy engineering, procurement and construction 
company as a project engineer. 

Ms. Cheng graduated in 2008 with a Bachelor of Engineering (Chemical) from the University of Malaya.
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1.0	 BOARD STATEMENT

Dear Stakeholders,

At Oiltek, we believe that sustainability is essential to our long-term success. As the Company’s Board, we are 
committed to guiding and overseeing the Company’s sustainability efforts, ensuring that they are aligned with our 
business strategy and reflect the needs and expectations of our stakeholders.

We are pleased to present our first Sustainability Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022”) 
covering Oiltek International Limited (the “Company” or “Oiltek”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”). Over 
the reporting period, we have made steady progress in establishing and solidifying our sustainability process. 

ESG has always been a major focus of our business, and we have implemented ESG policies and procedures across 
the organisation. Our products are also developed to prioritize automation in order to reduce reliance on labour, coupled 
with high energy efficiency and high energy recovery in minimising the usage of energy. Our hallmark technologies, such 
as the conversion of sludge oil and high Free Fatty Acid (“FFA”) oil into biofuels, are also capable of converting waste 
into energy. Besides, our processes are also capable of treating and cleansing palm oil mill effluent (“POME”), a non-
edible type of vegetable oil, as well as any other vegetable oil-based raw materials in compliance with the International 
Sustainability & Carbon Certification (“ISCC”) for use as feedstock in the production and manufacture of hydrogenated 
vegetable oil (“HVO”) or aviation fuels. The Company will continue to support sustainability in the palm oil sector and 
supply chain as a member of the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (“RSPO”).

We are also dedicated to ensuring that sustainability is integrated into our operations and decision-making. To this end, 
we have established a Management-level Sustainability Working Group helmed by the CEO, which is responsible for 
overseeing the effectiveness of our sustainability strategy and performance. We also engage with our stakeholders on a 
regular basis to understand their expectations and concerns, and we incorporate this feedback into our decision-making 
processes.

In conclusion, we believe sustainability is a vital part of our business and our responsibility as a corporate citizen. While 
we are pleased with our achievements, we acknowledge that there is still much work to be done. We remain committed 
to driving progress on sustainability and to delivering value to all our stakeholders through responsible and sustainable 
business practices.

Sincerely,

Board of Directors
Oiltek International Limited
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2.0	 ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting Scope and Period

This report aims to provide our stakeholders with a summary of key Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) 
related initiatives and highlights the sustainability performance of our Group’s operations from 1 January 2022 to 
31 December 2022 in Singapore and Malaysia. 

The internationally recognised standard for sustainability reporting – Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards 2021, 
the latest version of the GRI standards, and the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) serve as 
the guiding principle of our report. The GRI Standards were selected as our reporting framework because it provides 
guiding principles on report content and quality as well as suggests specific performance disclosures relevant to our 
material ESG topics. This report is also set out on a “comply and explain” basis following Rule 711B and Practice 
Note 7F of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(“SGX-ST”) (“Catalist Rules”).

The accuracy and veracity of the information presented in this report has been reported in good faith and to the best 
of our knowledge. While the information provided has been ensured by internal monitoring and verification, this report 
has not been externally assured. We have conducted an internal review of our sustainability management process in 
accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing issued by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors.

Feedback

We value and welcome any feedback from stakeholders as they are integral to the continuous improvement of our 
sustainability practices and reporting.

Stakeholders are welcome to send your comments, suggestions or feedback to the Company’s investor relations email 
at ir@oiltek.com.my.
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3.0	 SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is aware of its oversight responsibility for the Group’s sustainability policies. 
As part of developing its strategy, this involves taking sustainability concerns, such as environmental, social and 
governance factors into account. Among the key responsibilities of the Board relating to sustainability include:

	 provides overall direction and oversight of all sustainability and climate-related initiatives;

	 drives the strategy for sustainability and climate-related commitments progressively;

	 endorses any Terms of Reference (“TOR”) for the Sustainability Working Group; and

	 reviews and approves the Sustainability Report and/or Summary Report for disclosure purposes in the Annual 
Report.

The Board takes ultimate responsibility for the Company’s sustainability reporting. As a result, if a query about the 
Company’s sustainability reporting is raised, the Board would ensure that it is addressed and promptly respond to any 
issues that may arise.

A Sustainability Working Group (“SWG”), led by the Executive Director and CEO and consisting of other members of 
Senior Management Executives and Head of Departments, was established to support the Board in the following areas: 

	 annual review of the sustainability policy and climate-related strategy and frameworks, and recommend any 
changes, if required, to the Board;

	 implementation and supervision of the sustainability management process including facilitating stakeholder 
engagement sessions, identification and assessment of key sustainability matters and coordinating collection of 
disclosure information;

	 monitoring and follow-up on the implementation status of sustainability initiatives;

	 provision of briefing and updates to the Board on a periodic basis or when there are matters to be highlighted to 
the Board for information or decision making; and

	 preparation of the Sustainability Report and/or Summary Report for disclosure purposes in the Annual Report.

While some of the Board’s responsibilities in relation to sustainability matters have been delegated to the SWG, a clearly 
defined reporting channel has also been put in place to ensure the Management’s full support in discharging the Board’s 
responsibilities. 

The Board’s close involvement with management allows it to have a firm grip on how sustainability governance is 
designed and operating at various levels of management, such as analysing sustainability risks and opportunities.
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4.0	 SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT

Oiltek is steadfast in its commitment to consider and balance the needs and interest of material stakeholders while 
achieving its strategic goals. In order to achieve this effectively, the Group manages its material sustainability matters 
across the three pillars i.e., Environmental, Social and Governance as shown below:

Environmental: The Group is dedicated to reducing its environmental impact by implementing practices that minimize 
waste, reduce emissions, conserve energy and water, and use sustainable materials.

Social: The Group pledges to promote social justice and equity, to defend human rights, to assist local communities, 
and to ensure the safety and well-being of its employees and stakeholders.

Governance: The Group is committed to being transparent about its sustainability practices, reporting on its progress, 
and being accountable to stakeholders for its actions.

We strive to achieve each of the sustainability commitments with the involvement of all our stakeholders to understand 
their specific needs and requirements. These in turn form our material sustainability matters. Further elaborations are 
provided in the following “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” sections respectively.

5.0	 STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

At Oiltek, we are committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and have always recognised the 
importance of good corporate governance to enhance shareholders’ value, corporate performance, accountability, and 
healthy engagement with key stakeholders. 

Oiltek adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interest of material stakeholders, as 
part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the Group are served.



23OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Sustainability Report

STAKEHOLDERS METHOD OF 
ENGAGEMENT 

ENGAGEMENT 
FREQUENCY

EXPECTATIONS AND 
CONCERNS

OUR RESPONSES

Government 
Agencies and 

Regulators

•	 Correspondences 
through emails and 
letters

•	 Briefing and consultation
•	 Government agencies 

and regulators websites

As necessary when 
required

•	 Compliance with 
applicable laws and 
regulations

•	 Regulatory and industrial 
requirements of the 
respective governments

We have established 
sustainability governance 
to manage risk, ensure 
compliance and operate 
with integrity at all times. 

Customers •	 Regular meetings and 
site visits 

•	 Ongoing communication 
through emails and 
phone calls

•	 Customer satisfaction 
survey  

•	 Corporate website
•	 Exhibitions

As necessary when 
required

•	 Information on new 
products and services

•	 Meeting contractual 
specifications (quality, 
time and performance) 

•	 Responsiveness to 
customer requests and 
feedback

We have stringent 
quality control 
processes in place to 
ensure our product 
meets customers’ 
specifications.

Employees •	 Regular meetings 
•	 Internal communication 

through emails
•	 Staff orientation
•	 Festive celebrations 
•	 Seminars and trainings 
•	 Annual performance 

appraisals 

As necessary when 
required

•	 Remuneration and 
benefits

•	 Employee safety and 
well-being 

•	 Training and development 
opportunities

•	 Fair and competitive 
employment practices 

•	 Ethics and conduct

We provide a safe 
environment for our staff 
to thrive and provide 
equal opportunity to all.

Suppliers and 
Subcontractors

•	 Regular meetings
•	 Correspondences 

through emails and 
phone calls

•	 Site/ Plant visits 
•	 Periodical performance  

evaluation 

As necessary when 
required

•	 Fair procurement
•	 Meeting timely payment 

obligations
•	 Timely delivery and 

quality of products and 
services 

•	 Adherence to agreement 
terms

•	 Anti-corruption

We constantly review and 
monitor the performance 
of our suppliers which are 
governed by our standard 
operating procedures 
and improve efficiency 
throughout supply chain.  

Communities / 
Public

•	 Corporate website
•	 Local employment

As necessary when 
required

•	 Environment cleanliness 
•	 Corporate social 

responsibility
•	 Job opportunities

We make an effort to 
contribute positively to 
our local communities 
and be a good partner 
to the society that we 
operate in. 

Shareholders and 
Investors

•	 Corporate website
•	 Designated Investor 

Relations email
•	 Financial results 

announcement 
•	 Material matters 

announcement 
•	 Annual Report 
•	 Annual General Meeting 

/ Extraordinary General 
Meeting 

•	 Regular analysts 
briefings 

As necessary when 
required

•	 Financial results 
•	 Key business 

developments
•	 Corporate governance 

practices 
•	 Risk management 

practices 
•	 Sustainable business 

performance and growth 

We are committed to 
providing economic 
value to our capital 
providers through a well-
established corporate 
governance structure, 
as well as a framework 
for sustainability and risk 
management.

Media and Public •	 Corporate website
•	 News release

As necessary when 
required

•	 Corporate social 
responsibility

•	 Sustainable and 
responsible business 
practices

We are committed 
to transparency, 
accountability, and 
continuous improvement 
in our sustainability 
management process 
which are governed 
by our Sustainability 
Framework and the 
relevant policies. 
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6.0	 MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We have conducted a materiality assessment with the assistance of an external consultant to analyse the relevance of 
existing ESG topics against our present business activities, as outlined below. 

During the initial stages, discussions were held with internal stakeholders including the Senior Management Executives 
and Head of Departments, to provide their views and insights in identifying the material sustainability matters for 
our Group. Thereafter, the list of sustainability matters is further refined and prioritised according to its relevance to 
stakeholders and relevance to business as depicted below: 

Following that, the top 14 material economic, environmental, and social matters that the Group have identified are 
validated and endorsed by the SWG and Board respectively. This then forms part of our reporting scope for the year, in 
which we discuss further in the following pages of this report.  

On an annual basis, or as and when needed, the materiality assessment process will be carried out to determine the 
most relevant and important sustainability matters to the Group. As we move forward on our sustainability journey, we 
will continue to enhance, review and update our sustainability process within the Group.

1 

2 

3 
4 

 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 
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7.0	 ECONOMIC 

Good economic performance and continued value creation for our stakeholders are essential to our business. The 
Group is committed to surpassing its customers’ expectations with our proprietary process technology and know-how 
to provide innovative and reliable processing solutions for use across all different sectors of the value chain. We 
believe that it will achieve long-term sustainable growth and increased shareholder value through the adoption of good 
governance and ethical practices.

7.1.	 ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

As a listed company, Oiltek recognises its responsibility to grow its business to generate greater shareholders’ returns 
and enhance shareholders’ value. The Board intends to recommend and distribute dividends of not less than 40% of 
the net profit of the Group attributable to shareholders of the Company for FY2022 and FY2023. At the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting, a final cash dividend of 1.2 Singapore cents per share amounting to a total of S$1,716,000 will 
be recommended, representing about 43.3% of the Group’s net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for 
FY2022.

Please refer to the audited financial statements for FY2022 in the FY2022 Annual Report for more information on the 
Group’s economic performance for FY2022.

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To achieve long-term sustainable growth and to increase shareholder 
value subject to market conditions.

7.2.	 PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

Our economic impact occurs across our value chain as we work with a number of suppliers. We will continue to support 
the inclusion of local businesses into our supply chain and aim to help them comply with our sustainability policy in fair, 
transparent and accountable partnerships. As our main operations are based in Malaysia, local purchases are defined as 
purchases made in Malaysia.

Local vs Foreign Purchases (in %)
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We strive to be in direct engagement on a periodic basis to build good rapport and strong relationships with our 
suppliers while working towards our aspiration to become a leading player in the vegetable oil refinery engineering 
solutions sector. As such, ensuring the effectiveness and reliability of our suppliers is paramount.

The following four (4) criteria form the core areas of our pre-engagement and yearly assessment of our selection 
process:

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To maintain at least 50% of local procurement in FY2023.

•	 Supplier Capabilities assessment includes 
reviews of the quality of the manufacturing systems 
and production capacity to ensure the suppliers 
are able to cater to the product demands of Oiltek.

•	 Product Quality assessment includes the 
inspection of uniformity of products post-
production and number of rejections per 
production batch to ensure the products are of the 
highest standard for Oiltek customers.

•	 Value-added Sales Services assessment 
includes the handling of complaints and advisory 
services provided in relation to technical matters.

•	 Engagement with Sales Personnel assessment 
includes the product knowledge as well as 
promptness of salespersons in providing timely 
services such as following-up of orders and 
delivery of quotations and finished products.
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7.3.	 ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION

Oiltek remains unwavering in our commitment towards 
zero-tolerance for bribery and corruption. Violation 
of the relevant anti-corruption laws would result not 
only in financial losses and criminal penalties, but also 
reputational harm to the Group. 

A Whistle-blowing Policy is in place to support 
employees and other stakeholders by providing a proper 
platform to express his or her concerns about any 
potential malpractice within the Group, in a responsible 
and effective manner.

The whistle-blowing channel which is directed to the 
Audit and Risk Committee Chairwoman allows all 
employees and concerned stakeholders of the Group to 
have unimpeded access to report any bribery, fraudulent 
or other malpractices under the condition of strict 
confidentiality.

The Whistle-blowing Policy securely protects the 
anonymity of the whistle-blower, without fear of 
retaliation, discrimination, harassment, or threat 
of any kind which may otherwise adversely affect 
the employment status of the whistle-blower. The 
Whistle-blowing Policy is under the oversight of the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

For reporting of bribery and corruption breaches, the Audit and Risk Committee Chairwoman, also the designated party 
on the matter, can be reached at whistleblowing@oiltek.com.my. 

In FY2022, there were no whistle-blowing cases received.

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To maintain zero incident of non-compliance with anti-corruption laws 
and regulations in FY2023.

 



28 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Sustainability Report

8.0	 ENVIRONMENTAL 

Climate change has impacted the world in recent years. 
Rising sea levels, floods, erratic weather patterns, and 
many other manifestations often wreak irreparable 
damage on agriculture and industrial outputs. Oiltek is 
acutely aware of the impact of global warming, as Oiltek 
was among the many businesses that were not spared 
from the flooding events in Malaysia in FY2021.

In this regard, Oiltek promotes and advocates the 
blending of biofuels and biodiesel with fossil fuels to 
reduce carbon emissions. This lays a strong foundation 
for business sustainability in terms of renewable energy. 

We understand our responsibility as an innovative 
engineering company to tackle climate change issues and 
are dedicated to reducing the carbon footprint through the 
design, construction and performance of the systems and 
solutions that we provide to mitigate the impact posed 

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To maintain zero cases of environmental non-compliance in FY2023.

CO2 

by climate change. Accordingly, we have identified five 
(5) areas that are of concern to our business, as depicted 
below:

8.1.	 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE

In pursuing our aspiration to fulfilling our environmental responsibilities, Oiltek proactively spearheads initiatives in 
environmental management. As an engineering company, we monitor and check the plants prior to handover to our 
customers to ensure that the effluent discharged from the plants is in compliance with the contractual specifications. 
Within the Group, Oiltek ensures that all activities are carried out in accordance with the regulations set out by the 
local governments to avert the occurrence of any potential environmental issues through the following processes and 
controls.

There was no environmental non-compliance in FY2022.
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8.2.	 ENERGY CONSUMPTION

As an advocate of sustainability, Oiltek is mindful of the consumption of electricity and diesel. Our products and services 
are designed to prioritise high level of automation to minimise dependency on manpower coupled with the highest 
energy efficiency. Our flagship processes are capable of converting waste into energy, i.e., the transformation of sludge 
oil and high FFA oil into biofuels. As a member of the RSPO, the Group will continue to promote sustainability in the 
palm oil industry and supply chain.

Oiltek has been closely monitoring efforts to minimise any unnecessary energy consumption throughout the years. We 
make a conscientious effort to remind our employees that they have a part to play in conserving electricity e.g., turning 
off any electrical appliances when not in use. 

Electricity Consumption (in kWh)

FY Total 

2021 137,127

2022 128,674

Diesel Consumption (in litres)

FY Total 

2021 460

2022 926

The Group’s diesel consumption is mainly for operating the forklift and motor vehicles. As a result of business growth, 
where we have seen revenue increased by 62.7% in FY2022 as compared to FY2021, diesel consumption has also 
increased as more goods were delivered to our store. 

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To continue monitoring our annual electricity and diesel consumption and 
to maximise our energy conservation efforts in FY2023.
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8.3.	 WATER CONSUMPTION

Water Consumption in Oiltek

Water consumption in Oiltek is minimal. The below figures shown are for our premises located at Shah Alam, 
which includes both the office and warehouse space. We will continue to remain vigilant in our efforts to promote 
environmental awareness across all departments. We endeavour to conserve natural resources through reusing, 
recycling and reducing unnecessary wastages.

Discounting for an anomaly event of a pipe burst in December 2022 which did not have a material financial impact on 
the Group, increase in water consumption in FY2022 as compared to FY2021 moved in tandem with the increase in 
business operations during the year. 

Water Consumption (in m3)

FY Total 

2021 907

2022 1,706

Water Conservation in the processing plants that we designed for our customers

In the processing plants that we designed for our customers, water is dispensed for cooling down of equipment e.g., 
vacuum compressor and washing of crude palm biodiesel and others. 

As part of our ongoing efforts in assisting our customer for water conservation, we are continuously looking for new 
technologies and alternative processes as part of our engineering solutions to minimise the usage of water. 

Currently, Oiltek is sourcing for vacuum compressors that use internally recirculated water which will reduce the use of 
water from external source. Oiltek is also developing in-house solution to reuse wastewater for washing of crude palm 
biodiesel. 

8.4.	 CARBON EMISSION

Oiltek is dedicated to addressing the problems caused by climate change. We view climate change as one of the most 
significant physical, social, technological, and economic challenges in the world, and is aware of the pressing need to 
move towards a low-carbon economy and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Thus, we have embarked on a journey to 
encourage sustainability and resiliency in our business practices. 

In order to account for anticipated effects of climate change on its operations and supply chains, starting from FY2022, 
the Group is committed to adopt TCFD Recommendations into the Sustainability Report. We aspire to become a key 
player in identifying and understanding the significant risks and opportunities associated with climate change within its 
industry.

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To continue monitoring our annual water consumption and to maximise 
our water conservation efforts in FY2023.
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8.4.1.	 CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

We understand the need of having a robust risk management system to protect the interests of our businesses and 
shareholders. Following that, we have preliminarily identified the key risks and opportunities relevant to Oiltek as guided 
by the TCFD Recommendations. 

On risks, these include technology aspects in transitioning to lower-emission technology, increased stakeholder 
concerns, rise in mean temperature, amongst others. On the other hand, opportunities such as reduced water usage 
and consumption, use of lower-emission sources of energy, and development of new products or services through R&D 
and innovation are what we take to heart. 

While the materiality assessment described in Section 6.0 covers the current financial year (i.e. FY2022), we are in the 
process of conducting further risk assessment to determine the probability and impact of climate-related risks on the 
short, medium, and long-term. Thereafter, we will brainstorm on adaptation and mitigation strategies for each of the 
risks and opportunities identified.  

Oiltek aims to integrate its processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks into its overall risk assessment 
in the coming years. These processes involve monitoring and evaluating climate-related data and trends, assessing the 
potential impact of climate-related risks on Oiltek’s operations, supply chains, and customers, and conducting scenario 
analyses to understand the potential consequences of different climate-related risks. 

Oiltek will periodically monitor and review its risk management measures to ensure they are effective and adaptable to 
changing climate-related risks. Oiltek’s climate-related risk management processes will be integrated into its strategic 
planning and budgeting processes to ensure they are aligned with Oiltek’s overall objectives.

8.4.2.	 METRICS AND TARGETS

Investors are increasingly demanding more granular, comparable disclosure of ESG metrics. The metrics used to 
disclose climate risks are based on the exposure of our global facilities to each climate hazard. We also identify risk 
management strategies alongside these exposures to indicate how prepared we are to manage these impacts. These 
metrics are included in best practices outlined in the TCFD recommendations.

Implementing the TCFD recommendations will continue to be an ongoing process for Oiltek. As we produce new data 
from time to time, and as science and research continue to evolve, we will work to integrate this information into our 
strategy. Tracking and monitoring our progress against our proposed targets will also serve as an important element in 
our future TCFD responses.

In addition to our existing metrics and targets, we continue to look at how best to enhance disclosures on 
implementation of our low-emissions targets. This includes improving our ability to identify and measure emissions, 
working with our suppliers and customers, and exploring new ways in which we can use analytics and automation to 
enhance accurate decision making and transparency.

8.4.3.	 KEY INITIATIVES AND CONTROLS

Designing and engineering plants with low carbon emission as our priority

Oiltek specialises in the design, engineering, production, construction and commissioning of facilities and plants to 
our customers in various sectors of the vegetable oils industry. Our products are designed with the lowest carbon 
emission possible while generating high yield. Oiltek strives to keep carbon emissions to a minimum when designing 
and engineering plants. 

Optimising plants to reduce effluent and waste

Clean and safe water is vital to our community. Therefore, at Oiltek, it is our top priority to minimise the contamination of 
water resources. We are constantly exploring ways to minimise the risk of water contamination from the plants that we 
design and reviewing our internal processes to reduce the amount of effluent produced.
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Renewable Energy: Biofuel

Biofuel, such as biogas and biodiesel, has been perceived as the best alternative to coal and fossil fuels. In addition, 
there is a notable advantage in utilising biofuels compared to fossil fuels in terms of environmental friendliness and 
availability. To date, six (6) policies have been introduced by the Malaysian Government, including Renewable Energy 
Policy and Act, Feed-in Tariff system, Biomass Financing Policy, Electricity Supply Act, Physical Infrastructure System 
and Awareness Campaign. As an advocate of renewable energy, Oiltek is committed to comply fully with the policies 
and will work hand-in-hand with the Malaysian Government to promote the biogas and biodiesel industry.

As the leading solutions provider with over 42 years of experience in building vegetable oil refining plants, Oiltek has 
the engineering capacity to design and build winter fuel, enzymatic biodiesel, multi-feedstock biodiesel plant, as well 
as converting waste oil into biodiesel (waste to energy) with its own proprietary process technology. In addition to that, 
we have our Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor (“CSTR”) anaerobic digester technology. Our CSTR technology enhances 
the efficiency of the anaerobic digestion process for the treatment of palm oil palm oil mill effluents and converting the 
Chemical Oxygen Demand to methane biogas. The methane biogas produced is an energy source and can be used for 
various applications.

8.4.4.	 GREENHOUSE GAS PROTOCOL

The Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Protocol establishes comprehensive standards and frameworks to measure GHG 
emissions, which is in line with the GRI reporting standards, GRI 305: Emissions 2016. Oiltek has adopted both 
standards in calculating carbon dioxide equivalent (“CO2e”)  in metric tonnes.

We reviewed the value chain of the Group and classified the various sources of emissions into Scope 1 
(direct emissions) and Scope 2 (indirect emissions).

•	 Scope 1: Diesel consumption within Oiltek from forklift and motor vehicles.
•	 Scope 2: Electricity used and purchased from local utility company.

The following formula will be used to determine the CO2e of each scope:

Emissions GHG, fuel = Fuel Consumption fuel * Emission Factor GHG, fuel

The GHG emissions of the Group in FY2021 and FY2022 are illustrated below.
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TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To continue monitoring our GHG emissions and to maintain or reduce our 
GHG emissions in FY2023.
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9.0	 SOCIAL 

At Oiltek, the greatest asset to achieve our vision to be a global leader in providing leading process technology and 
sustainability solutions in the oils and fats industry, is our employees. Thus, we strive to create an inclusive, safe, 
comfortable, and conducive work environment. Nurturing talents and supporting their long-term growth has been a 
significant part of ‘Oiltek family’ human resources policies. 

9.1.	 DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

Board

In FY2022, Oiltek has 17% female representation on its Board 
of Directors, which is close to the 19% representation in 
Singapore based on Equileap Gender Equality in Asia-Pacific: 
Special Report 2022 Edition1. 

1	 Equileap Gender Equality in Asia-Pacific: Special Report 2022 Edition provides a comprehensive set of ratings and raw data points 
that covers a variety of gender equality metrics.

Employee 

At Oiltek, we ensure compliance with the Employment Act and strive to achieve fair and equal working rights. As at 
the end of FY2022, we had a total of 68 employees, of which 45 were male and 23 were females, accounting for 66% 
and 34% of our total employees respectively. At the Senior Management level, 20% is represented by female. Further 
breakdowns of our employee profile are shown below. 
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9.2.	 PEOPLE AND EMPLOYMENT

We are committed to fair and progressive opportunities for our people and aim to retain the right kind of people that fit 
into the Oiltek culture, by adopting performance-based employment through conducting annual performance appraisal 
to identify strengths and weaknesses to improve future performance so that employees have progressive career growth 
with us. 

The positive outcome of our efforts can be quantitatively measured by the low percentage of resignation in the current 
financial year. During the year, our new hire rate stands at 15%, while the employee turnover rate is at 12%. The 
breakdown of new hires and turnover profiles for the current financial year is as tabulated below.

New Hire

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To achieve an ideal number of employees by gender, age and job category 
for optimum productivity and performance in FY2023.
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Employee Turnover

9.3.	 TRAINING AND EDUCATION

Keeping our people abreast with the ever-changing environment is crucial in maintaining our competitive edge, 
especially technology. To ensure that our people remain competitive and resilient, we have cultivated a culture of 
continuous learning focusing in areas that best fit our business model and operations. Experienced executives leading 
respective departments are tasked with training junior colleagues (both formal and on-the job training), indirectly forging 
comradeship and building cohesive team spirit. 

In addition, our people from select departments often participate in annual conferences which not only provide them 
with the opportunity to expand their network but also provide them with the platform to acquire the latest industry 
knowledge, and learn about new products, services and about our competitors; and further professional development 
through workshops, lectures, and discussions relevant to the oils and fats industry, are an ongoing process to improve 
employees’ skills and broaden their horizon. 

We also engage external stakeholders in our efforts to equip our people with the necessary skills and knowledge they 
need to fulfil their roles and aid them in their career progression, such as inviting key suppliers to dispense products 
knowledge and deliver lectures on relevant issues. We believe that these efforts improve work efficiency and upskill our 
people skillsets, resulting in employee retention and growth.

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To maintain low employee turnover rate in FY2023. 

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To continue revising our training curriculum and programme that aligns 
with Oiltek’s objectives and to strive for effectiveness and efficiency in our 
training approach in FY2023.
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9.4.	 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

As we move towards our vision, we place a high value on the safety, health, and welfare of our employees and those 
who work with and around us. Besides incorporating workplace health and safety in operational procedures, we have 
also invited officers from relevant government agencies to conduct safety talks to increase the awareness of our 
employees. 

Fire drills and emergency response training are conducted to prepare our employees for emergency situations. External 
suppliers are engaged to ensure that our fire safety equipment is properly maintained at all times. To further enhance 
workplace safety, we also require our employees and subcontractors who operate machinery to obtain relevant licences 
and training so that proper safety procedures are observed in the operating and maintenance of machinery. The ability 
to identify and avoid safety hazards will improve the efficiency of these employees. 

In the current financial year, there have been zero cases of work-related accidents.

9.5.	 PRODUCT AND SERVICE QUALITY

Securing the ISO 9001 certification in 1998 marked the beginning of our corporate journey towards providing high 
quality services and ‘best of the class’ engineering solutions. The purpose of ISO 9001 is to meet the mandatory and 
international regulatory requirements to achieve excellence in our products and services. Oiltek has subsequently 
updated the certification to the latest ISO 9001:2015 certificate, first issued in August 2018 and subsequently renewed. 
Our current certification is valid until August 2025. 

9.6.	 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

As a socially responsible business and part of a larger community, we believe that we have a responsibility to do our 
part for the betterment of the community. 

We support causes that are closely linked to our sector and business operations. In FY2022, we have provided 
sponsorship to local charities and welfare associations. As a means to achieve our vision in providing sustainable 
solutions in the oils and fats industry, the Group has also provided sponsorship to the Malaysian Palm Oil Council 
(“MPOC”) for the Palm Oil Trade Fair and Seminar (“POTS”) in Philippines to support MPOC in their mission to promote 
the market expansion of sustainable Malaysian palm oil and its products.

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To maintain zero cases of work-related accidents in FY2023.

TARGET AND COMMITMENT
To provide at least one (1) sponsorship or donation to local charities or 
welfare associations in FY2023.
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9.7.	 GRI CONTENT INDEX

Statement of use Oiltek has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for the period from 1 January 2022 to 
31 December 2022 with reference to the GRI Standards.

GRI 1 used GRI 1: Foundation 2021

GRI 
Standards

Disclosure Title Section Reference & Remarks

GRI 2: GENERAL DISCLOSURE 2021

2 – 1 Organisational details 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Profile

2 – 2 Entities included in the organisation’s sustainability 
reporting

2022 Sustainability Report: About this Report

2 – 3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point 2022 Sustainability Report: About this Report

2 – 4 Restatements of information Not Applicable

2 – 5 External assurance No external assurance was sought

2 – 6 Activities, value chain and other business relationships 2022 Annual Report: Business Overview

2 – 7 Employees 2022 Sustainability Report: Social

2 – 8 Workers who are not employees Not Applicable

2 – 9 Governance structure and composition 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 11 Chair of the highest governance body 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing the 
management of impacts

2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability 
reporting

2022 Sustainability Report: Sustainability Working Group

2 – 15 Conflicts of interest 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 16 Communications of critical concerns Not Available

2 – 17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance 
body

2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 19 Remuneration policies 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 20 Process to determine remuneration 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 21 Annual total compensation ratio 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 22 Statement on sustainable development strategy 2022 Sustainability Report

2 – 23 Policy commitments 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 24 Embedding policy commitments 2022 Annual Report: Corporate Governance Report

2 – 25 Processes to remediate negative impacts Not Available

2 – 26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns 2022 Sustainability Report: Whistleblowing

2 – 27 Compliance with laws and regulations 2022 Sustainability Report: Anti-Corruption

2 – 28 Membership associations Not Applicable
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GRI 
Standards

Disclosure Title Section Reference & Remarks

2 – 29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 2022 Sustainability Report: Stakeholder Engagement

2 – 30 Collective bargaining agreements Not Applicable

GRI 3: MATERIAL TOPICS 2021

3 – 1 Process to determine material topics 2022 Sustainability Report: Materiality Assessment

3 – 2 List of material topics 2022 Sustainability Report: Materiality Assessment

3 – 3 Management of material topics 2022 Sustainability Report: Materiality Assessment

GRI 201: ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 2016

201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed 2022 Annual Report: Operating and Financial Review
2022 Sustainability Report: Economic Performance

201-2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities 
due to climate change

2022 Annual Report: Financial Statement
2022 Sustainability Report: Carbon Emission

201-3 Defined benefit plan obligations and other retirement plans Not Applicable

201-4 Financial assistance received from the government 2022 Annual Report: Financial Statement

GRI 204: PROCUREMENT PRACTICES 2016

204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers 2022 Sustainability Report: Procurement Practices

GRI 205: ANTI-CORRUPTION 2016

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption Not Available

205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption 
policies and procedures

Not Available

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken 2022 Sustainability Report: Anti-Corruption

GRI 302: ENERGY 2016

302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation 2022 Sustainability Report: Energy

302-2 Energy consumption outside of the organisation Not Applicable

302-3 Energy intensity Not Available

302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 2022 Sustainability Report: Energy

302-5 Reductions in energy requirements of products and services 2022 Sustainability Report: Energy

GRI 303 WATER AND EFFLUENTS 2018

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared resource 2022 Sustainability Report: Water and Effluents

303-2 Management of water discharge-related impacts 2022 Sustainability Report: Water and Effluents

303-5 Water consumption 2022 Sustainability Report: Water and Effluents

GRI 305: EMISSIONS 2016

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 2022 Sustainability Report: Carbon Emission

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 2022 Sustainability Report: Carbon Emission

305-4 GHG emissions intensity Not Available

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 2022 Sustainability Report: Carbon Emission
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GRI 
Standards

Disclosure Title Section Reference & Remarks

GRI 307: ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 2016

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations 2022 Sustainability Report: Environmental Compliance

GRI 401: EMPLOYMENT 2016

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 2022 Sustainability Report: People and Employment

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not 
provided to temporary or part-time employees

2022 Sustainability Report: People and Employment

401-3 Parental leave 2022 Sustainability Report: People and Employment

GRI 403: OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 2016

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system 2022 Sustainability Report: Occupational Health and 
Safety

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident 
investigation 

Not Available

403-3 Occupational health services 2022 Sustainability Report: Occupational Health and 
Safety

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on 
occupational health and safety

2022 Sustainability Report: Occupational Health and 
Safety

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety 2022 Sustainability Report: Occupational Health and 
Safety

403-6 Promotion of worker health Not Available

403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational health and 
safety impacts directly linked by business relationships 

Not Available

403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health and safety 
management system

2022 Sustainability Report: Occupational Health and 
Safety

403-9 Work-related injuries 2022 Sustainability Report: Occupational Health and 
Safety

403-10 Work-related ill health Not Applicable

GRI 404: TRAINING AND EDUCATION 2016

404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee Not Available  

404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition 
assistance programs

2022 Sustainability Report: Training and Education

404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance 
and career development reviews

Not Available

GRI 405: DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 2016

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 2022 Sustainability Report: Diversity and Equal Opportunity

405-2 Ratio of basic remuneration of women to men Not Available

GRI 416: CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY 2016

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts of product 
and service categories 

2022 Sustainability Report: Product and Service Quality

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and 
safety impacts of products and services

2022 Sustainability Report: Product and Service Quality
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TCFD 
Disclosure

TCFD Recommendations Section Reference & Remarks

GOVERNANCE

TCFD 1(a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks 
and opportunities.

2022 Sustainability Report: Sustainability Governance

TCFD 1(b) Describe management’s role in assessing and 
managing climate-related risks and opportunities.

2022 Sustainability Report: Sustainability Governance

STRATEGY

TCFD 2(a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the 
organization has identified over the short, medium, and 
long term.

2022 Sustainability Report: Climate-Related Risks and 
Opportunities

TCFD 2(b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and 
opportunities on the organization’s businesses, 
strategy, and financial planning.

2022 Sustainability Report: Climate-Related Risks and 
Opportunities – In Progress

TCFD 2(c) Describe the resilience of the organization’s strategy, 
taking into consideration different climate-related 
scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario.

Not available

RISK MANAGEMENT

TCFD 3(a) Describe the organization’s processes for identifying 
and assessing climate-related risks.

2022 Sustainability Report: Climate-Related Risks and 
Opportunities – In Progress

TCFD 3(b) Describe the organization’s processes for managing 
climate-related risks.

2022 Sustainability Report: Climate-Related Risks and 
Opportunities – In Progress

TCFD 3(c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and 
managing climate-related risks are integrated into the 
organization’s overall risk management.

2022 Sustainability Report: Climate-Related Risks and 
Opportunities – In Progress

METRICS AND TARGETS

TCFD 4(a) Disclose the metrics used by the organization to 
assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line 
with its strategy and risk management process.

2022 Sustainability Report: Greenhouse Gas Protocol 

TCFD 4(b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 
3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the related 
risks.

2022 Sustainability Report: Greenhouse Gas Protocol – 
Scope 1 and Scope 2 only

TCFD 4(c) Describe the targets used by the organization to 
manage climate-related risks and opportunities and 
performance against targets.

2022 Sustainability Report: Greenhouse Gas Protocol
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The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) and the management (“Management”) of Oiltek International 
Limited (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are committed to maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance and have always recognised the importance of good corporate governance to enhance shareholders’ 
value, corporate performance, accountability and protection of stakeholders’ interests.

The Board has taken steps to align the Group’s corporate governance framework with the principles and provisions set out 
in the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the “Code”) since the Company’s listing on the Catalist Board of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 3 March 2022. Under Rule 710 of the Listing Manual Section B: 
Rules of Catalist of the SGX-ST (“Catalist Rules”), the Company is required to describe in its annual report its corporate 
governance practices with specific reference to the principles  and the provisions of the Code.  This Report describes 
the corporate governance framework and practices of the Company that were in place for the financial year ended 31 
December (“FY”) 2022, with specific reference to the provisions of the Code included at the end of the relevant paragraphs. 
Where there are deviations from any provision of the Code, an explanation has been provided in this Report, which includes 
the reason for the variation, as well as the practices adopted which are consistent with the relevant principle of the Code. 
The Board will continue to assess the needs of the Company and implement appropriate practices accordingly. 

(A)	 BOARD MATTERS

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1: �The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with 
Management for the long-term success of the Company.

As at the date of this Report, the Board of Directors comprises one (1) Executive Director, two (2) Non-Executive Directors, 
three (3) Independent Directors and an Alternate Director, all possessing the right core competencies and diversity of 
experience which enabled them to effectively contribute to the Group. The Board comprises the following members:

Mr. Hew Koon Chan (Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director)
Mr. Yong Khai Weng (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) (the “CEO”)
Mr. Koh Keng Siang (Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew (Independent Director)
Ms. Tan Yee Peng (Independent Director)
Ms. Tay Tze Wen (Alternate Director to Mr. Koh Keng Siang)

The Board is involved in the supervision of the management of the Group’s operations. It reviews strategies, policies and 
financial performance and assesses key risks provided by Management as well as the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal controls and risk management of the Group. Day-to-day management and implementation of business strategies 
are delegated to the CEO and Management. 

Directors are fiduciaries who act objectively in the best interests of the Group and hold Management accountable for 
performance. The Board has put in place a code of conduct and ethics, sets an appropriate tone-from-the-top and desired 
organisational culture, and ensures proper accountability within the Group. Directors facing conflicts of interest recuse 
themselves from discussions and decisions involving the issues of conflict. All Directors exercise due diligence and 
independent judgement in dealing with the business affairs of the Group and are obliged to act in good faith and to take 
objective decisions in the interest of the Group. (Provision 1.1 of the Code) 

The Board’s role is to, inter alia:

(a)	 provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic objectives, and ensure that the necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the Group to meet its objectives;

(b)	 establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed, including 
safeguarding of shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets;

(c)	 monitor and review Management’s performance towards achieving the set organisational objectives and goals;

(d)	 review and approve corporate plans, annual budgets, investment and divestment proposals, major funding 
initiatives, merger and acquisition activities and financial plans of the Group;
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(e)	 set the Group’s values and standards (including ethical standards), and ensure that obligations to shareholders and 
other stakeholders are understood and met;

(f)	 consider sustainability issues, e.g. environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation;

(g)	 ensure accurate and timely release of information to shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”), in compliance 
with the requirements of the Catalist Rules;

(h)	 ensure the Group’s compliance with laws, regulations, policies and guidelines; and

(i)	 review and approve interested persons transactions and material transactions, and announcements thereof, in 
compliance with the requirements of the Catalist Rules.

Training of Directors

The Directors understand the Company’s business as well as their directorship duties (including their roles as executive, 
non-executive and independent directors). Directors are provided with opportunities to develop and maintain their skills 
and knowledge at the Company’s expense. Directors are also provided with updates on changing commercial risks in the 
Group’s operating environment through regular presentations and meetings with Management to gain a better understanding 
of business operations. The Company works closely with its professional advisors to provide its Directors with updates on 
changes affecting the Group. (Provision 1.2 of the Code)

The Company does not have a formal training program for new Directors. However, to assist the Board in discharging its 
duties, newly appointed Directors will be briefed on the business operations and regulatory issues relating to the Group to 
ensure that they are familiar with the Group’s business and governance practices and will be provided with a formal letter 
setting out the Director’s duties and obligations. The Board encourages its new members to participate in seminars and 
receive training to improve themselves in the discharge of their duties as Directors. First-time Directors who have no prior 
experience as a director of a company listed on the SGX-ST will also undergo training in the roles and responsibilities of a 
director of a listed company as prescribed by the SGX-ST pursuant to Rule 406(3)(a) of the Catalist Rules. All Directors, save 
for Ms. Tay Tze Wen who was appointed subsequent to FY2022, have attended the sustainability training as prescribed 
by the SGX-ST during FY2022 as well a Sustainability Awareness Briefing conducted by the Company’s Sustainability 
Reporting Consultant, Tricor Axcelasia (SG) Pte Ltd in January 2023.     

Ms. Tay Tze Wen was appointed as the Alternate Director to Mr. Koh Keng Siang on 1 March 2023. Ms. Tay Tze Wen 
does not have prior experience as a director of a public listed company in Singapore but has been briefed on the roles 
and responsibilities of a director of a listed company in Singapore. Ms. Tay Tze Wen will complete the relevant mandatory 
training as prescribed in the Catalist Rules within one year of her appointment to the Board. 

Matters Requiring Board Approval

The Company has prepared a document with guidelines setting forth the matters reserved for the Board’s decision and 
clear directions to Management on matters that must be approved by the Board. These matters relate, inter alia, to: 
(Provision 1.3 of the Code)

(a)	 Group’s strategic direction, goals and targets;

(b)	 matters that involve a conflict of interest of a Controlling Shareholder or a Director or persons connected to such 
Shareholder or Director;

(c)	 material acquisitions and disposals of assets which are outside the ordinary course of business;

(d)	 corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, investments and divestments;

(e)	 capital structure or fundraising exercises;
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(f)	 announcements to be released via SGXNET, including interim and full year financial results announcements;

(g)	 share issuance, interim dividends and other returns to Shareholders;

(h)	 bank facilities and provision of corporate guarantees;

(i)	 appointment, removal, re-designation and remuneration packages of the Directors and the Executive Officers;

(j)	 any matters relating to the Company’s Annual General Meeting, Board and Board Committees; and

(k)	 operating budgets, annual and interim reports, financial statements, Directors’ statements and annual reports.

In addition, there is a formalised delegation of authority matrix that sets out financial approval limits for the Board and 
the Management of the Group regarding operational expenditure, capital expenditure, sales matters, finance matters and 
cheque signatory arrangements.

All other matters are delegated to Board Committees whose actions are reported to and monitored by the Board. The 
Board does not abdicate its responsibility for such delegations of authority.

Board Processes

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a Nominating Committee (hereinafter referred 
to as “NC”), a Remuneration Committee (hereinafter referred to as “RC”) and an Audit and Risk Committee (hereinafter 
referred to as “ARC”) with clear written terms of reference setting out their authorities and duties, including reporting back 
to the Board. More details on each of the Board Committees, including the names of the Committee members, the terms 
of reference, any delegation of the Board’s authority to make decisions and a summary of their activities, are set out in 
the subsequent sections of this Report. The effectiveness of each Committee is constantly monitored. The Board has also 
established a framework for the management of the Group, including a system of internal controls and risks management. 
(Provision 1.4 of the Code)

The Board currently plans to hold a minimum of three (3) scheduled meetings each financial year. It also holds additional 
meetings at such other times as may be necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise. In addition to 
holding meetings, important matters regarding the Group are also put to the Board for decision making by way of written 
resolutions. The Constitution of the Company provides for telephonic and video-conference meetings. The agenda for 
meetings usually include the Management’s report, financial reports, strategic matters, governance, business risk issues 
and compliance, amongst other matters. Executive Officers of the Group may, from time to time, be invited to attend Board 
meetings to provide updates on operational matters.

The Board conducts an annual review of its processes to ensure that it is able to carry out its functions in the most effective 
manner.
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Board and Board Committee Meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022”)

For FY2022, the attendance of each Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings are as follows: (Provision 1.5 of 
the Code)  

Name Board ARC NC RC
No. of 

meetings
held

No. of 
meetings
attended

No. of 
meetings

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

No. of 
meetings 

held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Hew Koon Chan 
(Non-Executive Chairman 
and Independent Director)

3 3 3 3 1 1 1 1

Yong Khai Weng 
(Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer)

3 3 3 3* 1 1* 1 1*

Koh Keng Siang  
(Non-Executive Director)

3 3 3 3 1 1 1 1

Bernard Wong Ee Yu  
(Non-Executive Director)

3 3 3 3 1 1 1 1

Lai Wai Kit Andrew 
(Independent Director)

3 3 3 3 1 1 1 1

Tan Yee Peng 
(Independent Director)

3 3 3 3 1 1 1 1

Tay Tze Wen
(Alternate Director to Koh 
Keng Siang)**

– – – – – – – –

* By invitation
** Tay Tze Wen was only appointed on 1 March 2023

While some of the current Board members are on multiple boards, the NC is satisfied that currently the Directors have been 
able to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group and that they are able to satisfy their duties as Directors 
to the Company. Currently, the Board does not limit the maximum number of listed company board representations and 
principal commitments its Board members may hold as long as each of the Board members is able to commit his time 
and attention to the affairs of the Company and adequately carry out his/her duties as a Director. The Board believes that 
each individual Director is best placed to determine and ensure that he/she is able to devote sufficient time and attention to 
discharge his/her duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company, bearing in mind his/her other commitments. The 
Board and the NC will review the requirement to determine the maximum number of listed company board representations 
and principal commitments as and when they deem fit. (Provisions 1.5 and 4.5 of the Code)

Access to Information

Management provides Directors with complete, adequate and timely information prior to meetings and on an on-going 
basis to enable them to make informed decisions and discharge their duties and responsibilities. Directors are entitled to 
request from Management and would be provided with such additional information as needed to make informed decisions 
so that they are equipped to play as full a part as possible in Board meetings. Detailed Board papers will be prepared for 
each meeting of the Board. The Board papers include sufficient information from Management on financial, business and 
corporate issues to enable Directors to be properly briefed on issues to be considered at Board meetings. Information 
provided includes background or explanatory information relating to matters to be brought before the Board, copies 
of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and internal financial statements, including explanations for any material 
variance between projections and actual results. (Provision 1.6 of the Code) 

All Directors have unrestricted access to the Group’s records and information and receive detailed financial and operational 
reports from Management during the year to enable them to carry out their duties. Directors also liaise with Management 
as required, and may consult with other employees and seek additional information on request.
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All Directors have separate and independent access to Management, the Company Secretary and external advisers (where 
necessary) at the Company’s expense. The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary is a decision of the 
Board as a whole. (Provision 1.7 of the Code)

The Company Secretary will administer, attend and prepare minutes of Board meetings, assist the Non-Executive Chairman 
in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and reviewed so that the Board functions effectively, and ensures that the 
Company’s Constitution and relevant rules and regulations, including those of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Companies 
Act”) and the SGX-ST, are complied with. The Company Secretary ensures the quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of 
information within the Board and its Board Committees and between Management and Non-Executive Directors, advises 
the Board on all corporate governance matters, facilitates orientation and assists with professional development as and 
when required. 

Should Directors, whether as a group or individually, need independent professional and expertise advice in the furtherance 
of their duties, the cost of such advice will be borne by the Company.

Board Composition and Guidance

Principle 2: �The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its 
composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises six (6) Directors and an Alternate Director, of which three (3) are 
Independent Directors. The three (3) Independent Directors are Mr. Hew Koon Chan, Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew and Ms. Tan 
Yee Peng. The criterion of independence is based on the definition given in the Code and Rule 406(3)(d) of the Catalist 
Rules. 

The Board and the NC consider a Director to be “independent” if he is independent in conduct, character and judgement, 
and has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its Substantial Shareholders or its officers that could 
interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of that Director’s independent business judgement in 
the best interests of the Company. After due assessment, the Board and the NC are of the opinion that the Independent 
Directors satisfy these criteria. 

Lee & Lee, at which the Company’s Independent Director Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew is a partner, had previously provided 
legal services in the ordinary course of business to, and received customary fees from, Koh Brothers Group Limited (the 
Company’s ultimate Controlling Shareholder through its shareholding interest in Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited), 
Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited, its subsidiaries, associated companies and/or affiliates (excluding the Group) 
(collectively, “Koh Brothers Entities”). The NC has assessed the independence of Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew under the Code 
and is satisfied that the relationship described above will not interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the 
exercise of his independent business judgement in the best interests of the Group, taking into account, among others:  
(i) Lee & Lee did not provide any legal services to, and has not received any fees from, the Group in any FY since FY2020 
to FY2022; (ii) Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew has not provided any legal services to the Koh Brothers Entities while being a partner 
of Lee & Lee; and (iii) the aggregate fees paid collectively by the Koh Brothers Entities to Lee & Lee in any FY since FY2020 
to FY2022 is below the threshold of S$200,000 for payments which are deemed significant under the Code. As at the date 
of this Report, there are no Independent Directors of the Company who sit on the board of any of the Company’s principal 
subsidiaries. (Provision 2.1 of the Code) 

The Non-Executive Chairman is an Independent Director. As such, it is not necessary for Independent Directors to make 
up a majority of the Board. Nevertheless, at the date of this Report, Independent Directors make up half of the Board. 
Moreover, the number of Non-Executive Directors make up the majority of the Board. (Provisions 2.2 and 2.3 of the Code)

The composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the following principles:

•	 The Board and its Board Committees are of an appropriate size and comprise Directors who as a group provide an 
appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience, and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age, 
so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate. They also provide core competencies such as accounting 
or finance, business or management experience, legal, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience and 
customer-based experience or knowledge (this number may be increased where it is felt that additional expertise is 
required in specific areas, or when an outstanding candidate is identified); (Provision 2.4 of the Code) 
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•	 The Board should comprise a majority of Non-Executive Directors, with at least half of the Board made up of 
Independent Non-Executive Directors; and

•	 The Board should have enough Directors to serve on various committees of the Board without overburdening the 
Directors or making it difficult for them to fully discharge their responsibilities.

With three (3) out of six (6) Directors deemed to be independent, the Board is able to exercise independent judgement on 
corporate affairs and provide Management with a diverse and objective perspective on issues. Furthermore, the Board will 
be able to interact and work with Management through a robust exchange of ideas and views to help shape the Group’s 
strategic direction.

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix 
of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for effective functioning and 
informed decision-making. 

Independent members of the Board exercise no management functions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Although 
all the Directors have equal responsibility for the performance of the Group, the Independent Directors’ role are particularly 
important as they review and monitor the performance of Management in meeting the Group’s agreed goals and objectives 
and ensuring that the strategies proposed by the Management are fully discussed and rigorously examined taking into 
account the Group’s long-term interests. The Board considers its Non-Executive and Independent Directors to be of 
sufficient calibre and number such that no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s decision-making processes. 
The Independent Directors have no financial or contractual interests in the Group other than by way of their fees.

The Non-Executive Directors of the Company:

•	 constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy; and

•	 review the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of 
performance.

The Independent Directors, led by the Independent Non-Executive Chairman, will meet regularly without the presence 
of Management, and the Independent Non-Executive Chairman provides feedback to the Board as appropriate.  
(Provision 2.5 of the Code) 

The Company recognises the benefits of having an effective and diverse Board, and views diversity at the Board level 
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable development. With 
the introduction of Rule 710A of the Catalist Rules effective from 1 January 2022, the Board has since formulated and 
maintained a formal Board Diversity Policy which takes into consideration criteria such as age, gender, ethnicity, cultural 
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that 
the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. Specifically, under the Board Diversity Policy, the Board 
recognises gender as an important aspect of diversity, and will continue to work towards having female directors on the 
Board, whenever possible. The Board will in any case endeavour to ensure that: (a) female candidates are included for 
consideration when identifying candidates to be appointed as new Directors; and (b) if external search consultants are 
engaged to identify candidates for appointment to the Board, the consultants will be asked to present female candidates 
for consideration. The Company will also work towards having appropriate age diversity on the Board, with a balance of 
directors from different age groups, whenever possible. The Board is fully committed to promoting age diversity, valuing 
the contribution of its members regardless of age, and seeks to eliminate age stereotyping and discrimination on age.  
(Provision 2.4 of the Code)

The Board is of the view that its current composition of six (6) Directors is appropriate taking into account the scope and 
nature of the operations of the Company and of the Group, the requirements of the business and the need to avoid undue 
disruptions from changes to the composition of the Board and Board Committees. The Board is further of the view that 
the current members of the Board, collectively as a group, provide an appropriate mix and balance of diversity of skills, 
experience, independence, gender and age. In arriving at this view, the Board has taken into account: (a) the broad range 
of core competencies and skills, knowledge and experience of the current Directors, as to which please see their profiles 
on pages 15 to 17 of this Annual Report; (b) that the Board comprises a majority of Non-Executive Directors, and half of 
the Board comprises Independent Directors; (c) that there is currently one female member on the Board, Ms. Tan Yee Peng, 
who is also Chairwoman of the Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nominating 
Committee; and (d) that the age profiles of the Directors spread across the three age groups of 40 to 49 years, 50 to 59 
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years and 60 to 69 years old. If a vacancy arises under any circumstances, or where it is considered that the Board would 
benefit from the services of a new director, the NC will consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity including, but not 
limited to, those described in the Board Diversity Policy and select the appropriate candidate for the position. In light of 
the foregoing, the Board is of the view that the current Board members comprise persons whose diverse skills, experience, 
knowledge of the Company and attributes provide for effective direction for the Group. 

None of the Independent Directors have served on the Board for more than nine (9) years from the date of his/her first 
appointment. 

Other key information on the individual Directors of the Company is set out in pages 15 to 17 of this Annual Report. Their 
shareholdings in the Company are also disclosed in the Directors’ Statements. 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Principle 3: �There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, 
and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executives responsible for managing 
the Company’s business. Mr. Hew Koon Chan is the Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director of the Group and 
Mr. Yong Khai Weng is the Executive Director and CEO of the Group. (Provision 3.1 of the Code)  

The Chairman and CEO of the Group are separate persons and are not related. The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are 
deliberately kept distinct through a clear division of responsibilities to ensure effective oversight, appropriate balance of 
power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making. 

Mr. Hew Koon Chan, as the Independent Non-Executive Chairman, has the overall responsibility for the leadership of the 
Board. His key roles include: 

(a)	 leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its roles and setting its agenda for Board meetings; 

(b)	 ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information; 

(c)	 ensuring effective communication with Shareholders; 

(d)	 encouraging constructive relations between the Board and Management;

(e)	 facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors; 

(f)	 promoting high standards of corporate governance; and 

(g)	 promoting a culture of openness and debate at the Board. 

Mr. Yong Khai Weng, the CEO, focuses on managing the operations of the Company and is principally in charge of (a) the 
Group’s overall business policies and strategic direction, and (b) the overall oversight and management of the Group’s 
business operations and development. (Provision 3.2 of the Code) 

No lead independent director is required to be appointed as the roles of the Chairman and the CEO are separate and the 
Chairman is independent. (Provision 3.3 of the Code)   

Board Membership

Principle 4: �The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

The NC comprises Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew as the Chairman and Mr. Hew Koon Chan, Ms. Tan Yee Peng, Mr. Koh Keng 
Siang and Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu as members. The NC is made up of Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including 
the Chairman of the NC, are Independent Directors. (Provisions 1.4 and 4.2 of the Code) 
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The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the NC. The NC performs inter alia the following functions: 
(Provisions 1.4 and 4.1 of the Code)

(a)	 developing and maintaining a formal and transparent process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of 
Directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board and making recommendations to the 
Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors, taking into consideration each Director’s competencies, 
commitment, contribution and performance (for example, attendance, preparedness, participation and candour) 
including, if applicable, his/her performance as an Independent Director, as well as appraising the qualifications 
and experience of any proposed new appointments to the Board and recommending to the Board whether the 
nomination should be supported; (Provision 4.1(d) of the Code)

(b)	 ensuring that Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at least once every three (3) years;

(c)	 reviewing and approving any new employment of related employees (being employees that are related to the 
Directors, Executive Officers and/or Substantial Shareholders) and proposed terms of their employment;

(d)	 ensuring that Directors disclose their relationships with the Company, related corporations, Substantial Shareholders 
or officers, which may affect their independence and review such disclosures to highlight these to the Board;

(e)	 determining on an annual basis and as and when circumstances require, whether or not a Director is independent, 
taking into account the circumstances set forth in the Code of Corporate Governance, the Practice Guidance to the 
Code of Corporate Governance, the Catalist Rules and any other salient factors;

(f)	 reviewing and deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as 
a Director;

(g)	 in respect of a Director who has multiple board representations on various companies, if any, reviewing and 
deciding, on an annual basis (or more frequently as the NC deems fit), whether such Director is able to and has 
been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director, having regard to the competing time commitments that 
are faced by the Director when serving on multiple boards and discharging his/her duties towards other principal 
commitments, and establish guidelines on what a reasonable and maximum number of directorships and principal 
commitments for each Director (or type of Director) shall be;

(h)	 reviewing the training and professional development programmes for the Board and in particular, ensuring that new 
Directors are aware of their duties and obligations; (Provision 4.1(c) of the Code)

(i)	 reviewing succession plans for Directors and Executive Officers; (Provision 4.1(a) of the Code) 

(j)	 reviewing the composition of the Board annually to ensure that the Board and the Board Committees comprise 
Directors who as a group provide an appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience and other aspects 
of diversity such as gender and age, so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate, and provide core 
competencies such as accounting or finance, business or management experience, industry knowledge, strategic 
planning experience and customer-base experience or knowledge;

(k)	 developing a process and criteria for evaluation of the performance of the Board as a whole and its committees, 
and assessing the contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the Board; and (Provision 4.1(b) of the Code)  

(l)	 generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Catalist Rules and by 
such amendments made thereto from time to time. 

In the event there is a need to change the structure of the Board, the Chairman of the Company or the membership of 
the Board Committees, the NC will review the change to be implemented and make recommendations to the Board 
accordingly. With the introduction of Rule 710A of the Catalist Rules effective from 1 January 2022, the Board has put 
in place a formal Board Diversity Policy which takes into consideration criteria such as age, gender, ethnicity, cultural 
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that 
the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. For the new appointment of Directors, the NC will, in 
consultation with the Board, examine the strength and capabilities of the existing Board as well as the skills, knowledge 
and experience contributed by the existing Directors to the Group and the Board. The NC will take into account the future 
needs of the Group and together with the Board, it will seek candidates who are able to contribute to the Group. The NC 
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will attempt to seek candidates widely and beyond persons directly known to the existing Directors. The NC then meets 
with the shortlisted potential candidates with the appropriate profile to assess suitability and to ensure that the candidates 
are aware of the expectation and the level of commitment required, before recommending suitable candidates to the Board. 
If such candidates are appointed, announcements relating to their appointment will be released via SGXNET. In the event 
of cessation of appointment of any Director or Executive Officer, the NC will conduct the exit interviews with such Director 
or Executive Officer, as the case may be, and announcements relating to such cessation will also be released via SGXNET. 
(Provision 4.3 of the Code) 

The NC determines annually, and as and when circumstances require, if a Director is independent, having regard to the 
circumstances set forth in Provision 2.1 of the Code. Each Independent Director is required annually to complete a form 
to confirm his/her independence. Directors disclose their relationships with the Company, its related corporations, its 
Substantial Shareholders or its officers, if any, which may affect their independence to the Board. As mentioned under 
Principle 2 above, the Board and the NC are of the opinion that the Independent Directors satisfy the criteria under 
Provision 2.1 of the Code. (Provision 4.4 of the Code) 

All Directors must submit themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment at least once every three (3) years pursuant to 
Rule 720(4) of the Catalist Rules. The Company’s Constitution provides that one-third of the Directors, or if their number 
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third with a minimum of one, shall retire by rotation 
at every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). The Directors who are retiring by rotation pursuant to Regulation 117 of the 
Constitution of the Company at the forthcoming AGM are Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew and Ms. Tan Yee Peng. After assessing 
their respective contributions and performance, the NC is recommending each of Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew and Ms. Tan Yee 
Peng for re-election at the forthcoming AGM (with Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew and Ms. Tan Yee Peng having abstained from 
deliberation in respect of his and her own re-election). The Board has accepted the NC’s recommendation. The details 
of the Directors seeking for re-election as required under Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules are set out in the “Additional 
Information on Directors Seeking Re-election” section of this Annual Report.

Currently, the Board has one (1) Alternate Director, Ms. Tay Tze Wen, appointed on 1 March 2023, who is Alternate Director 
to Mr. Koh Keng Siang. The Board takes into consideration the same criteria for selection of alternate directors as that of 
directors such as his/her qualifications, competencies and independence. 

When new Directors are appointed, the NC also ensures that they are aware of their duties and obligations. The NC 
also decides if a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a director of the Company. 
Specifically, the NC will review and decide, on an annual basis (or more frequently as the NC deems fit), whether such 
Director with competing time commitments is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director, 
having regard to the competing time commitments that are faced by the Director when serving on multiple boards and 
discharging his/her duties towards other principal commitments. The Board has not currently set the maximum number of 
listed company directorships which a Director may hold. If a Director serves on the board of multiple companies, the NC 
will consider on a case-by-case basis whether he/she has been able to devote adequate time and attention to the affairs 
of the Group. In the event there are sufficient grounds for complaint, the Chairman of the Board will, on the advice of the 
NC, discuss, and if necessary, advise the Director concerned of the issues and the consequences of failure to rectify the 
situation within the period required. (Provision 4.5 of the Code) 
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Details of the appointment of each Director, including the date of initial appointment, the date of last re-election, directorships 
in other listed companies and principal commitments, both current and for the preceding 5 years are set out below: 
(Provision 4.5 of the Code) 

Directorship in Other Listed Companies

Name of Director
Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Last Re-
election Present

Past (Preceding 5 
Years)

Other Principal 
Commitments

Hew Koon Chan 30 December 
2021

27 May 
2022

-	 Resources 
Global 
Development 
Limited

-	 Shopper360 
Limited

-	 DeClout Limited 
-	 Ecowise 

Holdings 
Limited

-	 Far East Group 
Limited

-	 Livingstone 
Health Ltd 

-	 Nordic Group 
Limited

-	 Roxy-Pacific 
Holdings 
Limited 

-	 Managing 
Director of 
Integer Capital 
Pte. Ltd.

Yong Khai Weng 30 December 
2021

27 May 
2022

– – -	 Director of 
Oiltek Sdn. Bhd.

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Global 
Energy Sdn. 
Bhd.

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Global 
Pte. Ltd. 

Koh Keng Siang 22 July 2021 27 May 
2022

-	 Koh Brothers 
Group Limited

-	 Koh Brothers 
Eco Engineering 
Limited

– -	 Director of 
Canberra 
Development 
Pte Ltd 

-	 Director of FEC 
Skypark Pte Ltd 

-	 Director of G & 
W Industries Pte 
Ltd 

-	 Director of G & 
W Precast Pte 
Ltd 

-	 Director of G & 
W Ready-Mix 
Pte Ltd

-	 Director of KBD 
Holland Pte. 
Ltd.

-	 Director of KBD 
Kosdale Pte Ltd

-	 Director of 
Koh Brothers 
Building & Civil 
Engineering 
Contractor (Pte) 
Ltd 

-	 Director of 
Koh Brothers 
Development 
Pte Ltd 

-	 Director of 
Koh Brothers 
Holdings Pte Ltd 



52 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance REPORT

Directorship in Other Listed Companies

Name of Director
Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Last Re-
election Present

Past (Preceding 5 
Years)

Other Principal 
Commitments
-	 Director of 

Koh Brothers 
Investment Pte 
Ltd 

-	 Director of 
Kosland Pte Ltd    

-	 Director of 
Oxford Hotel Pte 
Ltd

-	 Director of G & 
W Industries (M) 
Sdn Bhd  

-	 Director of G 
& W Building 
Materials Sdn 
Bhd  

-	 Director of PT 
Koh Brothers 
Indonesia 

-	 Director of Koh 
Maju Sdn Bhd 

-	 Director of 
Panareno Sdn 
Bhd

-	 Director of 
Koh Brothers 
Gangnam 
Limited

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Sdn. Bhd.

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Global 
Energy Sdn. 
Bhd.

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Global 
Pte. Ltd. 

Bernard Wong Ee Yu 30 December 
2021

27 May 
2022

– – -	 Director of 
Atlantic Star 
Pte. Ltd.

-	 Director of KBD 
Ventures Pte. 
Ltd. 

-	 Director of KBD 
Holland Pte. Ltd.

-	 Director of Koh 
Maju Sdn. Bhd.

-	 Director of 
Koh Brothers 
Gangnam 
Limited

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Sdn. Bhd.

-	 Director of 
Oiltek Global 
Energy Sdn. 
Bhd.
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Directorship in Other Listed Companies

Name of Director
Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Last Re-
election Present

Past (Preceding 5 
Years)

Other Principal 
Commitments

Lai Wai Kit Andrew 30 December 
2021

27 May 
2022

– – -	 Partner at Lee & 
Lee

Tan Yee Peng 30 December 
2021

27 May 
2022

-	 TDCX Inc. 
(NYSE)

-	 First Sponsor 
Group Limited 

-	 City 
Developments 
Limited

-	 Dutech 
Holdings 
Limited

-	 Director of 1FSS 
Pte. Ltd. 

-	 Director of 
Dutech Holdings 
Pte. Ltd.

-	 Director of 
Hercules Pte 
Ltd

-	 Director of 
Singapore 
Aerospace 
Manufacturing 
Pte Ltd

-	 Director of 
TDCX Inc.  

-	 Director of 
Hupsteel Pte. 
Ltd.

-	 Director of 
Sheares 
Healthcare 
International 
Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.

-	 Director of 
Sheares 
Healthcare 
China Holdings 
Pte. Ltd.

-	 Director of Hup 
Seng Huat Land 
Pte Ltd

-	 Director of Hoe 
Seng Huat Pte 
Ltd

Tay Tze Wen 1 March 2022 – – -	 Oiltek 
International 
Pte. Ltd. 

-	 Financial 
Controller, Koh 
Brothers Group 
Limited 
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Specifically, the NC has considered that whilst Mr. Hew Koon Chan, Mr. Koh Keng Siang, Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu and Ms. Tan 
Yee Peng hold multiple directorships: (a) Mr. Hew Koon Chan holds only two (2) other listed directorships, being Resources 
Global Development Limited and Shopper360 Limited, and his other directorship under his principal commitment is in a 
non-listed entity; (b) Mr. Koh Keng Siang holds only two (2) other listed directorships, being Koh Brothers Group Limited 
and Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited (both of which are the Company’s Controlling Shareholders), and his other 
directorships under his principal commitment are in non-listed entities and relate primarily to his role as Managing Director 
and Group Chief Executive Officer of Koh Brothers Group Limited; (c) Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu’s other directorships under his 
principal commitment are in non-listed entities and relate primarily to his role as executive director of the real estate division 
of Koh Brothers Group Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Koh Brothers Group Limited; and (d) Ms. Tan Yee Peng 
holds only two (2) other listed directorships, with her remaining other directorships under her principal commitment being in 
non-listed entities and/or the non-profit sector, and she does not hold a full-time position. Taking into account the foregoing, 
the NC has assessed that each of Mr. Hew Koon Chan, Mr. Koh Keng Siang, Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu and Ms. Tan Yee Peng is 
able to commit his or her time and attention to the affairs of the Company and adequately carry out his/her duties as a Director.  
(Provisions 1.5 and 4.5 of the Code) 

Board Performance

Principle 5: �The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each 
of its board committees and individual directors.

The NC recommends for the Board’s approval the objective performance criteria and process for the evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and of each Board Committee separately, as well as the contribution by the Chairman 
and each individual Director to the Board. Such performance criteria, which are meant to enhance long-term shareholder 
value, would not be changed from year to year and where circumstances deem it necessary for any of the criteria to be 
changed, the Board would justify this decision. (Provision 5.1 of the Code) 

The Board evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the size of the Board, the Board’s accountability, Board’s processes, 
and Board’s performance in relation to the discharge of its principal responsibilities. Each Board Committee’s performance 
is evaluated based on, among other things, its ability to carry out the terms of reference attributed to each Board Committee 
and its effectiveness in discharging its duties and responsibilities. The evaluation criteria for individual Directors include 
attendance, level of preparation, participation in discussions and contributions at Board and Board Committee meetings. 

The evaluation process involves each Director being required to complete appraisal forms for evaluation in respect of the 
Board, each Board Committee of which he or she is a member, and himself or herself, based on the parameters mentioned 
above. The results of the Board appraisal exercise, which is conducted once annually, are circulated to all Directors for 
information and feedback. The information gleaned from the completed Board appraisal exercise(s) are also taken into 
consideration by the NC, in determining whether there are any changes needed to the appraisal system, prior to the 
commencement of the next Board appraisal cycle. (Provision 5.2 of the Code)

The Board has completed its appraisal exercise for FY2022. The NC is satisfied that for FY2022, the Board and Board 
committees were effective in the discharge of their respective duties and responsibilities. 

The Board has not engaged any external consultant to conduct an assessment of the performance of the Board, each 
Board Committee and each individual Director. Where relevant and when the need arises, the NC will consider such an 
engagement. (Provision 5.2 of the Code) 
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(B)	 REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 6: �The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive 
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management 
personnel. No director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The RC comprises of Mr. Hew Koon Chan as the Chairman, Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew, Ms. Tan Yee Peng, Mr. Koh Keng Siang 
and Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu as members. The RC is made up of Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including the 
Chairman of the RC, are Independent Directors. (Provisions 1.4 and 6.2 of the Code)

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the RC. The RC performs inter alia the following functions: 
(Provision 1.4 of the Code) 

(a)	 review and recommend to the Board for approval a framework of remuneration for the Directors and Executive 
Officers, as well as specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director and Executive Officer, ensuring that 
a significant and appropriate proportion of the remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to corporate and 
individual performance. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, 
bonuses, options, share-based incentives and awards, benefits-in-kind and termination payments shall be covered, 
with the aim to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance; (Provisions 6.1(a), 6.1(b) and 6.3 of the Code) 

(b)	 review annually the remuneration, bonuses, pay increase and/or promotions of related employees (being employees 
that are related to the Directors, Executive Officers and/or Substantial Shareholders) to ensure that their remuneration 
packages are in line with staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and 
level of responsibilities, and performing an annual review of the remuneration packages in order to maintain their 
attractiveness to retain and motivate the Directors and the Executive Officers, and to align the interests of the 
Directors and the Executive Officers with the interests of the Shareholders and other stakeholders and promote the 
long-term success of the Group;

(c)	 ensuring that the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is appropriate to the level of contribution, taking into 
account factors such as effort, time spent and responsibilities; 

(d)	 reviewing and approving any new employment of related employees (being employees that are related to the 
Directors, Executive Officers and/or Substantial Shareholders) and the proposed terms of their employment, and 
reviewing and recommending to the Board of Directors, for endorsement, the specific remuneration packages for 
each of the Directors and the Executive Officers; 

(e)	 proposing, for adoption by the Board, measurable, appropriate and meaningful performance targets for assessing 
the performance of the key management personnel, individual Directors and of the Board as a whole; 

(f)	 ensuring that the remuneration policies and systems of the Group, as approved by the Board, support the Group’s 
objectives and strategies, and are consistently being administered and being adhered to within the Group; 

(g)	 reviewing the Group’s obligations arising in the event of termination of service contracts entered into between the 
Group and the Directors or Executive Officers, as the case may be, to ensure that the service contracts contain fair 
and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous; (Provision 6.3 of the Code) 

(h)	 reviewing and administering the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme and Oiltek Performance Share Plan, noting 
that the total number of Shares issued and/or transferred and issuable and/or transferable in respect of all Options 
granted under the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of the total number of issued 
Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) of the Company as at 3 March 2022, being a total of 
3,575,000 Option Shares, and the total number of Shares which may be issued and/or transferred pursuant to 
Awards under the Oiltek Performance Share Plan on any date, when added to the number of Award Shares issued 
and/or transferred or issuable and/or transferable in respect of all Awards granted under the Oiltek Performance 
Share Plan shall not exceed 2.5% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) of the Company as at 3 March 2022, being a total of 3,575,000 Award Shares; 



56 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance REPORT

(i)	 if necessary, seeking expert advice within and/or outside the Group on remuneration matters and ensuring that 
existing relationships, if any, between the Group and its appointed remuneration consultants will not affect the 
independence and objectivity of the remuneration consultants; and 

(j)	 generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Catalist Rules and by 
such amendments made thereto from time to time. 

During FY2022, the RC did not seek any external professional advice on fixing remuneration packages for the Directors and 
employees. Where relevant, the RC will consider such engagement and will review the suitability and independence of the 
external firm before engaging them. (Provision 6.4 of the Code)

The members of the RC do not participate in any decision concerning their own remuneration.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: �The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are 
appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, 
taking into account the strategic objectives of the company. 

The Group recognises that a competitive remuneration and reward system based on individual performance is important 
to attract, retain and incentivise the best talent. The Group has adopted a remuneration structure for the Executive Director 
and key management executives that promotes the long-term success of the Group. The RC ensures that the Executive 
Director’s and key management executives’ remuneration are commensurate with their performance and that of the 
Group’s, taking into consideration the prevailing financial and commercial health, contribution to value creation of the 
Group and business needs of the Group. (Provision 7.3 of the Code) 

The remuneration packages of the Executive Director and key management executives consist of fixed, variable components 
and benefits. The fixed component mainly comprises the basic salary and statutory contributions. The variable component 
is linked to the Group’s performance and individual’s performance. Such performance-related remuneration is designed to 
align with the interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders and promote long-term success of the Group. (Provision 
7.1 of the Code) 

The Company has entered into service agreement with Mr. Yong Khai Weng, the Executive Director and CEO, on 31 
December 2021 for an initial period of five (5) years commencing on 3 March 2022 and thereafter the terms and conditions of 
the service agreement shall be negotiated and if agreed, renewed every two (2) years. Either party to the service agreement 
may terminate it by giving not less than six (6) months’ notice (after the initial term) in writing to the other, or payment of 
six (6) months’ salary in-lieu of notice to the other party. The remuneration of Mr. Yong Khai Weng comprises (a) a base 
salary; (b) capped monthly staff welfare expenses on a reimbursement basis; (c) a fixed bonus of one (1) month’s salary; 
(d) an annual performance bonus in respect of each financial year (the “Performance Bonus”); (e) a motor vehicle for use 
during the course of employment; (f) statutory contributions; and (g) such additional bonus payments or benefits and/or 
participation in schemes provided for in the Company’s current remuneration policies. Mr. Yong Khai Weng is also entitled 
to benefits such as medical benefits and insurance coverage. The Performance Bonus is calculated based on 4.0% of the 
audited combined total profit after tax (excluding (i) extraordinary/exceptional items, including but not limited to one-off 
government grants and concessions not in the ordinary course of the Group’s business, to be determined based on the 
discretion of the RC; and (ii) any profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests and other comprehensive income/loss, 
if any) of the Group and to be computed with reference to the terms and conditions of the service agreement. The Service 
Agreement does not include the annual director’s fee which shall be determined by the Board with the Remuneration 
Committee and remain subject to Shareholders’ approval. 

In determining the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, the RC ensures that the level of remuneration is appropriate 
to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent and responsibilities of the Non-
Executive Directors, subject to Shareholders’ approval. Other than the Directors’ fees, the Non-Executive Directors do not 
receive any other forms of remuneration from the Company. The Directors’ fees are reviewed annually to ensure that the 
Independent Directors are not overly compensated to the extent their independence may be compromised. For FY2022, 
the RC had recommended to the Board an amount of S$215,000 as Directors’ fees. This includes the special one-off fees 
of S$21,000 to the Independent Directors for their services rendered in relation to the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of the 
Company prior to their formal appointment as Directors of the Company. Such fees, payable quarterly in arrears, had been 
approved by the Shareholders at the AGM of the Company held on 27 May 2022. No Director or a member of the RC is 
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. (Provision 7.2 of the Code)



57OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance REPORT

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: �The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the 
procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and 
value creation.

The Company’s procedures for developing remuneration policies, as well as the level and mix of remuneration, have 
been set out in detail above under Principles 6 and 7. In considering the disclosure of remuneration of the Directors 
and key management executives, the Board has taken into account the sensitive nature of such information in a niche 
business environment, the confidential nature and commercial sensitivity of remuneration matters and the negative impact 
such disclosure may have on the Group in attracting and retaining talent at the Board level on a long-term basis, and 
also considered factors such as competitiveness of the industry of key talents and increased risk of poaching by other 
competitors in the market. The Board believes that full detailed disclosure of the specific remuneration figures of each 
Director and the key management executives (who are not Directors or the CEO) would be prejudicial to the interests of the 
Group. The Board has presented such information in remuneration bands no wider than S$250,000 and believes that such 
disclosure, together with disclosure of the breakdown of the level and mix of remuneration in the tables below, is sufficient 
to enable Shareholders to understand Company’s remuneration policies for Directors and key management executives, 
and the relationship between remuneration and performance. (Provisions 8.1(a), 8.1(b) and 8.3 of the Code) 

The aggregate total remuneration paid to the Directors and the four (4) key management executives for FY2022 is 
approximately RM3,977,000. The Company has provided an aggregate figure for Directors and the four (4) key management 
executives in light of the confidential nature and commercial sensitivity of remuneration matters as mentioned above. The 
following table sets out the Directors’ remuneration for FY2022: 

Name of Directors
Remuneration 

Band(1)
Fees
(%)

Salary
(%)

Bonuses and 
other variable 
performance 
components

(%)

Allowances 
and other 
benefits

(%)
Total
(%)

Mr. Hew Koon Chan A 100 – – – 100

Mr. Yong Khai Weng B 5 50 35 10 100

Mr. Koh Keng Siang A 100 – – – 100

Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu A 100 – – – 100

Mr. Lai Wait Kit Andrew A 100 – – – 100

Ms. Tan Yee Peng A 100 – – – 100

Note:

(1)	 Remuneration bands:
	 “Band A” refers to remuneration less than or equal to S$250,000 per annum.
	 “Band B” refers to remuneration greater than S$250,000 per annum and less than or equal to S$500,000 per annum.

In addition, the Group only has four (4) key management executives who are not Directors or the CEO. The remuneration of 
the key management executives are within Band A, being less than or equal to S$250,000 per annum. The breakdown of 
remuneration of key management executives are not disclosed nor have these key management executives been named 
as the Board is of the view that the disclosure of the remuneration of individual key management executives would be 
disadvantageous to the Company’s business interests, taking into consideration the competitive pressures in the talent 
market and the sensitivity of remuneration matters given the small management team.

There are no termination or retirement benefits, as well as post-employment benefits that are granted to the Directors and 
key management executives. (Provision 8.3 of the Code) 

Ms. Tan Law Law, sister-in-law of the Executive Director and CEO, Mr. Yong Khai Weng, had received remuneration 
during FY2022 of between S$50,000 and S$100,000. Save as aforementioned, none of the employees in the Group 
(excluding the Executive Director and CEO), and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 during the year is a Substantial 
Shareholder of the Company or an immediate family member of a Director or a Substantial Shareholder of the Company.  
(Provision 8.2 of the Code)



58 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance REPORT

Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme 

On 11 February 2022, the Shareholders approved a share scheme which is known as the Oiltek Employee Share Option 
Scheme, the rules of which are set out in Appendix H titled “Rules of the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme” to the 
Offer Document dated 18 February 2022.

The objectives of the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme are as follows: 

(a)	 to motivate participants to optimise their performance standards and efficiency and to maintain a high level of 
contribution of the Group; 

(b)	 to retain key employees whose contributions are essential to the long-term growth and profitability of the Group; 

(c)	 to instil loyalty to, and a stronger identification by participants with the long-term prosperity of, the Group; 

(d)	 to attract potential employees with relevant skills to contribute to the Group and to create value for the Shareholders; 
and 

(e)	 to align the interests of participants with the interests of the Shareholders. 

The purpose of adopting the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme in addition to the Oiltek Performance Share Plan is to 
give us greater flexibility to align the interests of our employees, especially key executives, with interests of Shareholders.

The Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme is administered by the RC, which has absolute discretion to determine, among 
others, the following: 

(a)	 persons to be granted Options; 

(b)	 number of Options to be offered; and 

(c)	 recommendations for modifications to the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme. 

However, in compliance with the requirements of the Catalist Rules, a participant who is a member of the RC shall not be 
involved in any deliberation or decision in respect of any Options to be granted to or held by that participant.

The Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme allows for participation by full-time employees of the Group (including the 
Executive Director(s)), who have been confirmed in his/her employment with the Group and attained the age of 21 years on 
or before the relevant date of grant of the Option, provided that none of them shall be an undischarged bankrupt or have 
entered into a composition with his/her creditors. 

As at the date of this Annual Report, no Options have been granted under the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme.

The full details of the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme can be found in the Offer Document dated 18 February 2022. 

Oiltek Performance Share Plan 

On 11 February 2022, the Shareholders approved a share scheme which is known as the Oiltek Performance Share Plan, 
the rules of which are set out in Appendix I titled “Rules of the Oiltek Performance Share Plan” to the Offer Document dated 
18 February 2022. 

The objectives of the Oiltek Performance Share Plan are as follows: 

(a)	 to provide an opportunity for participants of the Oiltek Performance Share Plan to participate in the equity of the 
Company, thereby inculcating a stronger sense of identification with the long-term prosperity of the Group and 
promoting organisational commitment, dedication and loyalty of participants towards the Group; 

(b)	 to motivate participants to strive towards performance excellence and to maintain a high level of contribution to the 
Group; 
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(c)	 to give recognition to contributions made or to be made by participants by introducing a variable component into 
their remuneration package; and 

(d)	 to make employees’ remuneration sufficiently competitive to recruit new participants and/or to retain existing 
participants whose contributions are important to the long-term growth and profitability of the Group. 

The Oiltek Performance Share Plan is administered by the RC, which has the absolute discretion to determine persons who 
will be eligible to participate in the Oiltek Performance Share Plan. However, in compliance with the requirements of the 
Catalist Rules, a participant who is a member of the RC shall not be involved in any deliberation or decision in respect of 
any Awards to be granted to or held by that participant. 

The Oiltek Performance Share Plan allows for participation by full-time employees of the Group (including the Executive 
Director(s)) who have been confirmed in his/her employment with the Group and attained the age of 21 years and above 
on or before the relevant date of grant of the award, provided that none shall be an undischarged bankrupt or have entered 
into a composition with his/her creditors. 

As at the date of this Annual Report, no Awards have been granted under the Oiltek Performance Share Plan.

The full details of the Oiltek Performance Share Plan can be found in the Offer Document dated 18 February 2022. 

(C)	 ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

Accountability

The Company announces its financial results on a half-yearly basis and other information via SGXNET in accordance with 
the Catalist Rules. The Company aims to provide the Shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and assessment 
of the Group’s financial position and prospects.

Management provides all members of the Board with management accounts and such explanation and information on a 
half-yearly basis and as the Board may require from time to time to enable the Board to make a balanced and informed 
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: �The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a 
sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the company 
and its shareholders.

The Board determines the Group’s levels of risk tolerance and risk policies, and oversees the Management in the design, 
implementation and monitoring of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that no cost-
effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The ARC, on behalf of the Board, determines the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Company is willing 
to take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation. Management regularly reviews the Group’s business 
and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and 
mitigate these risks. Management reviews all the significant control policies and procedures and highlight all significant 
findings to the Directors and the ARC for further discussion. The Board and the ARC also work with the external auditors 
on their recommendations and institutes and executes relevant controls with a view to managing business risks.  
(Provision 9.1 of the Code) 



60 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance REPORT

The Board and the ARC regularly review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls. Based on the internal 
controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the external auditors as well as the internal auditors, 
and reviews performed by Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the ARC, is of the opinion that the system of 
internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management 
systems put in place by Management is adequate and effective to address the financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology risks of the Group.

The Board has also received the following assurance from: (Provisions 9.2(a) and 9.2(b) of the Code) 

(a)	 the CEO and the Financial Controller, that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s operations and finances; and

(b)	 the CEO and the four (4) key management executives who are responsible, that the Group’s risk management and 
internal controls system are adequate and effective. 

Audit and Risk Committee

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit and Risk Committee which discharges its duties objectively.

The ARC comprises Ms. Tan Yee Peng as the Chairwoman, Mr. Hew Koon Chan, Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew, Mr. Koh Keng Siang 
and Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu as members. The ARC is made up of Non-Executive Directors and the majority, including the 
Chairwoman of the ARC, are Independent Directors. At least two (2) members, including the ARC Chairwoman, have recent 
and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience. Accordingly, the ARC is appropriately 
qualified to discharge its responsibilities. (Provisions 1.4 and 10.2 of the Code) 

The ARC does not comprise former partners or directors of the Company’s existing auditing firm or auditing corporation: 
(a) within a period of two years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be a partner of the auditing firm or director of 
the auditing corporation; and in any case, (b) for as long as they have any financial interest in the auditing firm or auditing 
corporation. (Provision 10.3 of the Code) 

The ARC will assist the Board in discharging its responsibility to safeguard the assets, maintain adequate accounting 
records, and develop and maintain effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that 
Management creates and maintains an adequate and effective control environment in the Group. The ARC will provide 
a channel of communication between the Board, Management and the external auditors and the internal auditors of the 
Group on matters relating to audit. 

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the ARC. Specifically, the ARC’s duties include inter alia the 
following: (Provisions 1.4 and 10.1 of the Code) 

(a)	 assisting the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities on financial and reporting matters; 

(b)	 reviewing the relevance and consistency of accounting standards, the significant reporting issues, recommendations 
and judgements made by external auditors so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the Group; 
(Provision 10.1(a) of the Code) 

(c)	 reviewing, with the internal and external auditors, the audit plans, scope of work, their evaluation of the system of 
internal accounting controls, their management letter and the management’s response, and results of the audits 
compiled by the internal and external auditors, and reviewing at regular intervals with the management on the 
implementation by the Group of the internal control recommendations made by the internal and external auditors; 

(d)	 reviewing the periodic financial statements and results announcements of the Company before submission to 
the Board for approval, focusing, in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, 
significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with financial reporting 
standards as well as compliance with the Catalist Rules and any other statutory or regulatory requirements, concerns 
and issues arising from their audits, including any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss in the absence 
of the management, where necessary; 
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(e)	 reviewing the assurance from the Executive Director and CEO and the Financial Controller on the financial records 
and financial statements of the Group; (Provision 10.1(c) of the Code) 

(f)	 reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness and independence of the external auditors and internal audit function of the 
Group; (Provision 10.1(e) of the Code)

(g)	 reviewing the risk management structure and oversight of the risk management process and activities; 

(h)	 reviewing and reporting to the Board, at least annually, the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal control 
and procedures (addressing financial, operational, information technology, compliance risks) and risk management 
systems (such review to be carried out internally or with the assistance of any competent third parties) and 
discuss issues and concerns, if any, prior to the incorporation of the Directors’ comments in annual report;  
(Provision 10.1(b) of the Code) 

(i)	 appraising and reporting to the Board on the audits undertaken by the external auditors and internal auditors and 
the adequacy of disclosure of information; 

(j)	 making recommendations to the Directors on establishing an adequate, effective and independent internal audit 
function (which can be in-house or outsourced to a reputable accounting/auditing firm or corporation), and ensuring 
that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and staffed with persons with the relevant qualifications and 
experience and that the internal auditors comply with the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised 
professional bodies; 

(k)	 recommending to the Board on the proposals to Shareholders on the appointment or re-appointment and 
removal of the external auditors, and the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;  
(Provision 10.1(d) of the Code) 

(l)	 considering the independence of the external auditor, taking into account the non-audit services provided by the 
external auditor and the fees paid for such non-audit services, if any; 

(m)	 considering the appointment or re-appointment of the internal auditors, the level of their remuneration and matters 
relating to resignation or dismissal of the internal auditors; 

(n)	 considering the appointment or re-appointment of a qualified tax adviser to ensure that the Group remains in 
compliance with applicable tax regulations and having oversight of issues and concerns raised by the tax adviser, if 
any, to prevent recurrence of non-compliance with tax regulations; 

(o)	 meeting with the external auditors and the internal auditors and in each case without the presence of management, 
at least annually and reviewing the cooperation given by the management to the internal and external auditors; 

(p)	 where applicable, ensuring that the internal audit function has unfettered access to all the Group’s documents, 
records, properties and personnel, including the ARC, and has appropriate standing within the Group; 

(q)	 given the Group’s overseas operations and expansion plans, reviewing and discussing with the internal and external 
auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations 
(including overseas jurisdictions) which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results 
or financial position and the management’s response, and at appropriate times, report the matter to the Board and 
to the Sponsor; 

(r)	 reviewing the financial risk areas, with a view to providing an independent oversight of the Group’s financial reporting, 
the outcome of such review to be disclosed in the annual reports or, if the findings are material, to be immediately 
announced via SGXNET; 

(s)	 reviewing the risk profile of the Group and the appropriate steps to be taken to mitigate and manage risks at 
acceptable levels determined by the Board; 
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(t)	 reviewing policies and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other 
matters to be safely raised, ensuring that such policies and arrangements continue to be in place for independent 
investigation and appropriate follow-up, and ensuring that the Group publicly discloses, and clearly communicates, 
to employees the existence of a whistle-blowing policy and the procedures for raising such concerns;  
(Provision 10.1(f) of the Code)

(u)	 reviewing and establishing procedures for receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Group, 
among others, criminal offences involving the Group or its employees, questionable accounting, auditing, business, 
safety or other matters that impact negatively on the Group, and ensuring that arrangements are in place for the 
independent investigations of such matter and for appropriate follow-up; 

(v)	 reviewing and approving transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Catalist Rules, including the review 
of any interested person transactions under the section “Interested Person Transactions and Conflicts of Interest – 
Guidelines and Review Procedures for Ongoing and Future Interested Person Transactions” of the Offer Document 
dated 18 February 2022; 

(w)	 reviewing any actual or potential conflicts of interest and set out a framework to resolve or mitigate any potential 
conflict of interest and monitor compliance with such framework; 

(x)	 reviewing and approving transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 10 of the Catalist Rules (if any); 

(y)	 reviewing and approving all hedging policies and instruments (if any) to be implemented by the Group and conducting 
periodic reviews of the hedging policies together with the transactions and hedging activities undertaken by the 
Group; 

(z)	 reviewing the Group’s transactions with Asia Oil Products Sdn. Bhd1. on an internal voluntary basis, to ensure that 
such transactions are carried out on commercial terms and on arm’s length basis; 

(aa)	 reviewing the job scope and level of responsibility of related employees (being employees that are related to the 
Directors, Executive Officers and/or Substantial Shareholders) and resolving or mitigating any actual or potential 
conflicts of interest that may arise from the involvement of such related employees in the relevant job functions; 

(bb)	 generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Catalist Rules, and by 
such amendments made thereto from time to time; and 

(cc)	 undertaking such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board and reporting to the Board its 
findings from time to time on matters arising therefrom and which require the attention of the ARC. 

The ARC is authorised to conduct or authorise investigations into any matter within its terms of reference, and has full 
access to Management and resources which are necessary to enable it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full 
discretion to invite any Executive Director or Executive Officer to attend its meetings.

The ARC has reviewed the Group’s financial reporting function, internal controls and processes and is satisfied with the 
adequacy and quality of the same. The ARC is satisfied with the adequacy of the Group’s financial statements and financial 
reporting resources and the performance of the Group’s finance department.

Whistle-blowing Policy

From time to time, the ARC reviews the policy and arrangements by which the employees of the Group and any 
other persons may, in confidence, raise concerns about the possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or 
other matters within the Group, with the objectives of ensuring that arrangements are put in place for such concerns 
to be raised and independently investigated and for appropriate follow-up action to be taken as and when the need 
arises. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Group has put in place a whistle-blowing policy for this purpose. The 
whistle-blowing policy has been made available on the Company’s website and has been made known to employees.  
(Provision 10.1(f) of the Code) 

1	 The spouse of Mr Yong Khai Weng, the Executive Director and CEO of the Company, Mdm Tan Law Yong, is a non-executive 
director and 20% shareholder of Asia Oil Products Sdn. Bhd., a customer of the Group.
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The ARC has the responsibility of overseeing the Company’s whistle-blowing policy and compliance by all employees. 
The ARC Chairwoman, being the Designated Party (as defined in the Company’s whistle-blowing policy) at the date of 
this Annual Report, will review and assess the seriousness of all complaints promptly and determine, in consultation 
with others, if necessary, the manner in which complaints will be investigated. The Designated Party may, among other 
things, determine whether to instruct relevant members of management, the internal auditors or other independent party 
to investigate any complaint made in good faith, or take such other action as may be in the best interests of the Company. 
If upon initial assessment of the complaint it appears that the complaint could materially affect the financial statements 
of the Company or the integrity of Company’s system of internal controls, the Designated Party will advise the ARC. It is 
anticipated that in the ordinary course, the Designated Party will complete their assessment of each complaint generally 
within ten business days of receiving such complaint.

Further to the Company’s whistle-blowing policy, the Company is fully committed to maintaining procedures for the 
anonymous and confidential reporting of complaints by staff. All reports of complaints (including the identity of the whistle-
blower) will be treated on a confidential basis. Generally, a report of a complaint will only be disclosed to those persons 
who have a need to know in order to properly carry out an investigation of such complaint. In addition, there will be no 
retaliation or other action (including any detrimental or unfair treatment) taken against any staff who, in good faith, reports a 
complaint. Anyone engaging in retaliatory conduct will be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, which may include 
termination.

There were no reported incidents pertaining to whistle-blowing which fell under the scope and purview of the  
whistle-blowing policy for FY2022.

External Audit

The external auditor of the Company is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and Mr. Lee Chian Yorn is the current audit partner in 
charge. During FY2022, the amount of audit fees payable to the external auditors for audit related work was approximately 
S$79,000 (exclusive of GST). With respect to the S$106,000 (exclusive of GST) disclosed in the annual report for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2021 paid/payable to the external auditors for non-audited related work in connection 
with the listing of the Company on Catalist, approximately S$42,400 (exclusive of GST) was paid as non-audit fees in 
FY2022. Having reviewed, amongst others, the scope and quality of the audit and their independence, the ARC is satisfied 
that the external auditors’ independence has not been impaired during their engagement for FY2022.

The ARC also has full access to the external auditors without the presence of Management and is authorised to have full 
and unrestricted access to Management and all personnel, records, operations, properties and other informational sources 
of the Group as required or desirable to properly discharge its responsibilities.

The ARC intends to and will meet with the external auditors separately, at least once a year, without the presence of the 
Management. The ARC has met with the external auditors at least once without the presence of Management to discuss 
audit matters for FY2022. (Provision 10.5 of the Code)

Having regard to the adequacy of the resources and experience of the auditing firm and the audit engagement partner 
assigned to the audit, the firm’s other audit engagements, the size and complexity of the Group being audited, and the 
number and experience of supervisory and professional staff assigned to the particular audit, the Board and the ARC are 
of the opinion that a suitable auditing firm has been appointed to meet the Group’s auditing obligations. The Company 
thereby complies with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist Rules. 

The ARC has recommended to the Board the nomination of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for re-appointment as external 
auditors at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Internal Audit

The internal auditors’ primary line of reporting is to the ARC and the ARC Chairwoman. The ARC also decides and approves 
the appointment, termination, evaluation and remuneration of the head of the internal audit function, or the accounting/
auditing firm or corporation to which the internal audit function is outsourced. The internal auditors have unfettered access 
to all the Group’s documents, records, properties and personnel, including access to the ARC, and has appropriate standing 
within the Group. (Provision 10.4 of the Code) 
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The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to KPMG Services Pte. Ltd. (“KPMG”), a certified public 
accounting firm. The internal auditors are a member of the Singapore branch of the Institute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”), 
an internal professional association which has its headquarters in the United States. The audit work carried out is guided 
by the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing laid down in the International Professional 
Practices Framework issued by the IIA.

KPMG completed the review on process of revenue, collections and project management in FY2022 in accordance with 
the internal audit plan approved by the ARC. The internal audit report, which includes the findings and recommendations 
of KPMG, Management’s responses and Management’s implementation of remedial actions have been reviewed and 
approved by the ARC.

The ARC has assessed and is satisfied that KPMG is independent, effective and adequately resourced, taking into 
consideration that KPMG is staffed with persons with the relevant qualifications and experience and carries out its function 
according to the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised professional bodies including the Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors. The ARC will be appointing KPMG to 
conduct an internal audit for the Group for the financial year ending 31 December 2023. The ARC will annually assess and 
ensure the adequacy of the internal audit function. 

Key Audit Matter

The ARC has reviewed the following key audit matter (“KAM”) presented by the external auditors and concurred with the 
identification of the KAM: 

KAM ARC’s comments

Accounting for engineering contracts The ARC considered the audit procedures performed by the 
external auditors to address this key audit matter, including 
obtaining an understanding of the on-going engineering 
contracts through discussions with management and 
project teams, assessed the appropriateness of the method 
selected to measure progress of individual projects and 
to recognise the contract revenue, and examined project 
documentation. 

Based on the above procedures, the ARC was satisfied 
that this key audit matter has been properly dealt with for 
purpose of the Board’s approval of the financial statements 
for FY2022.

The external auditor has included this item as a key audit 
matter in its audit report for FY2022. Please refer to page 
73 of this Annual Report. 

(D)	 SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: �The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 
shareholders’ rights, and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting 
the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its 
performance, position and prospects.

The Company facilitates the exercise of ownership rights by all Shareholders. In particular, Shareholders have the right to 
be timely and sufficiently informed of changes in the Company or its business which would be likely to materially affect the 
price or value of the Company’s shares.
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The Company provides Shareholders with the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings of 
Shareholders. Shareholders are informed of the rules, including voting procedures, that govern general meetings of 
Shareholders. (Provision 11.1 of the Code) 

The Company tables separate resolutions at general meetings of Shareholders on each substantially separate issue unless 
the issues are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal. Where the resolutions are “bundled”, 
the Company explains the reasons and material implications in the notice of meeting. Each item of special business 
included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution.  
(Provision 11.2 of the Code) 

The Constitution of the Company currently allows a Shareholder of the Company to appoint up to two proxies to attend 
and vote in his stead at general meetings, and Shareholders who are a “relevant intermediary” (as defined under section 
181 of the Companies Act) may also appoint multiple proxies pursuant to the Companies Act. As the authentication of 
Shareholder identity information and other related security issues still remain a concern, the Group has decided, for the 
time being, not to implement voting in absentia by mail, email or fax. (Provision 11.4 of the Code) 

The notice of general meetings of Shareholders are announced to Shareholders on SGXNET, together with explanatory 
notes or a circular on items of special business, at least 14 clear days (for ordinary resolutions) or 21 clear days (for special 
resolutions) before the meeting. The Board welcomes questions from Shareholders who have an opportunity to raise issues 
either informally or formally before or at the general meetings of Shareholders.

All Directors attended the AGM of the Company held during FY2022 on 27 May 2022. All Directors normally attend the 
general meetings of Shareholders. The Chairmen and/or Chairwoman of the ARC, RC and NC are normally available at the 
meeting to answer those questions relating to the work of these Committees. The Company’s external auditors will also be 
present to assist the Directors in addressing queries by Shareholders about the conduct of audit and the preparation and 
content of the auditors’ report. (Provision 11.3 of the Code) 

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of general meetings that include substantial and relevant comments or queries 
from Shareholders relating to the agenda of the general meeting and responses from the Board and Management thereto. 
These minutes are published on SGXNET as well as the Company’s corporate website as soon as practicable, and in any 
event no later than one (1) month from the date of AGM. (Provision 11.5 of the Code) 

The Company puts all resolutions to vote by poll and makes an announcement of the detailed results showing the number 
of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of dividends that the Directors may 
recommend or declare in respect of any particular financial year or period will be subject to the factors outlined below as 
well as any other factors deemed relevant by the Directors: (Provision 11.6 of the Code) 

(a)	 the Group’s retained profits and cash flow;

(b)	 the Group’s actual and projected business and financial performance;

(c)	 the Group’s projected levels of capital expenditure and other investment plans;

(d)	 the Group’s working capital requirements and general financial condition;

(e)	 the ability of the subsidiaries to declare and pay any dividends to the Company;

(f)	 restrictions on payment of dividends imposed on the Group (such as by the banking facilities); and

(g)	 the general economic and business conditions in countries in which the Group operates.

However, subject to the above factors, the Directors intend to recommend and distribute dividends of not less than 40.0% 
of the net profit of the Group attributable to the Shareholders of the Company for financial year ended 31 December 2022 
and financial year ending 31 December 2023 (collectively, the “Proposed Dividends”) as the Company wishes to reward 
the Shareholders for participating in the Group’s growth. The foregoing statement on the Proposed Dividends is merely a 
statement of the Company’s present intention and shall not constitute a legally binding obligation on the Company or a 
legally binding statement in respect of its future dividends and may be subject to modification (including reduction or non-
declaration thereof) in the Directors’ sole and absolute discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any pay-out of dividends 
would be clearly communicated to Shareholders via announcements released on SGXNET.
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The Board has recommended the payment of a final cash dividend of 1.20 Singapore cents per share for FY2022, subject 
to the approval of the Shareholders at the upcoming AGM.

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: �The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of 
shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate 
their views on various matters affecting the company.

In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company, pursuant to the Catalist Rules and the Companies Act, the 
Board’s policy is to ensure that Shareholders are informed of all major developments that impact the Group. In disclosing 
information, the Company will be as descriptive, detailed and forthcoming as possible and avoid boilerplate disclosures. 

The Company currently does not have a formalised written investor relations policy but has in place designated investor 
relations personnel and considers advice from its legal counsel, external investor relations consultants and professionals 
on appropriate disclosure requirements and regularly conveys pertinent information to Shareholders to allow for an ongoing 
exchange of views so as to actively engage and promote regular, effective and fair communication with Shareholders. 
(Provision 12.2 of the Code) 

Shareholders may contact the Company with questions and the Company may respond to such questions via the 
Company’s investor relations email at ir@oiltek.com.my (Provision 12.3 of the Code)

Information is communicated to Shareholders on a timely basis through SGXNET and other information channels, including 
a well-maintained and updated corporate website. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a selected group, the 
Company will make the same disclosure publicly as promptly as possible. The Board has established regular dialogue 
with Shareholders, to gather views or inputs, and address Shareholders’ concerns. Communication is made through:  
(Provision 12.1 of the Code)

•	 annual reports that are prepared and issued to all Shareholders. The Board makes every effort to ensure that the 
annual reports include all relevant information about the Group, including future developments and other disclosures 
required by the Companies Act and the relevant accounting standards;

•	 interim financial statements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of the Group for the 
relevant financial period;

•	 notices of and explanatory memoranda for AGMs and extraordinary general meetings;

•	 press and results briefings for the Group’s annual results as well as other briefings, as appropriate;

•	 press releases on major developments of the Group;

•	 disclosures to the SGX-ST; and

•	 the Company’s website at URL https://www.oiltek.com.my at which Shareholders can access information on the 
Group. The website provides, inter alia, information on the Group’s products and the corporate profile of the Group.

Shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in and to vote at general meetings of Shareholders to ensure a 
high level of accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and goals. (Provision 12.1 of the Code) 
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(E)	 MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

Principle 13: �The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of 
material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the 
company are served.

The Group has arrangements in place to identify and engage with its material stakeholder groups and to manage its 
relationship with such groups. The Group identifies stakeholders as groups that have an impact, or have the potential 
to be impacted by the Group’s business, as well as external organisations that have expertise in aspects that the Group 
considers material. The feedback the Group receives from stakeholders helps to determine the Group’s material topics and 
identify focus areas. Stakeholders of the Company include, but are not limited to, customers, employees, suppliers and 
subcontractors, community and Shareholders and investors. (Provision 13.1 of the Code) 

Please refer to the Sustainability Report on pages 22 to 23 for more details on the Company’s strategy and key focus areas 
in relation to the management of stakeholder relationships during FY2022. (Provision 13.2 of the Code) 

The Company maintains a current corporate website at URL https://www.oiltek.com.my to communicate and engage with 
stakeholders. (Provision 13.3 of the Code) 

(F)	 DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company adopts the following policies in relation to dealings in its securities:

•	 Officers are not to deal in its securities during the period commencing one (1) month before the announcement of 
the Group’s financial results for the half year and financial statements for the full year, and ending on the date of the 
announcement of the relevant results.

•	 The Company reminds its Directors and officers that it is an offence under the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of 
Singapore for a listed issuer or its officers to deal in the listed issuer’s securities as well as securities of other listed 
issuers when the listed issuer and its officers are in possession of unpublished material price- or trade-sensitive 
information in relation to those securities. The Company reminds its officers to observe the laws on insider trading 
at all times, even when dealing in its securities within the permitted trading period.

•	 The Company’s internal compliance code provides guidance to its officers with regard to dealings by the Company 
and its officers in its securities and requires that its officers should not deal in the Company’s securities on short 
term considerations.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules.

(G)	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for the material contracts as disclosed in the Offer Document dated 18 February 2022, there were no material 
contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or Controlling Shareholders subsisting at 
the end of the FY2022, or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.
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(H)	 INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
	
The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely 
manner to the ARC and that the transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the 
interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

The Group does not have a general mandate from shareholders for interested person transactions pursuant to  
Rule 920(1)(a)(i) of the Catalist Rules.

There were no interested person transactions entered into during FY2022 with a value of equal to or more than S$100,000.

(I)	 NON-SPONSORSHIP FEES

SAC Capital Private Limited is the current continuing sponsor of the Company. With reference to Rule 1204(21) of the 
Catalist Rules, save for the non-sponsor fees incurred in connection with the listing of the Company on Catalist in 
the amount of S$461,125 as disclosed in the annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2021, no other  
non-sponsor fees were paid to SAC Capital Private Limited for FY2022.

(J)	 USE OF IPO PROCEEDS 

As at the date of this Report, the utilisation of net proceeds from the IPO are as follows:

Use of Proceeds
Net IPO Proceeds

(S$’000)
Utilisation
(S$’000)

Working capital to expand our business operations through 
securing more projects and projects of a larger scale

2,634 –

Expansion of our business through investments, mergers and 
acquisitions, joint ventures and/or strategic alliances

1,000 –

Total 3,634 –
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The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2022 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2022. 

In the opinion of the directors,

(a)	 the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 
76 to 115 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and of the 
Group as at 31 December 2022 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for 
the financial year covered by the consolidated financial statements; and

(b)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Yong Khai Weng 	
Koh Keng Siang 	
Bernard Wong Ee Yu
Hew Koon Chan 	
Tan Yee Peng 		
Lai Wai Kit Andrew 	
Tay Tze Wen (Alternate Director to Koh Keng Siang - Appointed on 1 March 2023)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 
object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year 
had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered in name
of director or nominee

Holdings in which director is
deemed to have an interest 

At
31.12.2022

At
1.1.2022

At
31.12.2022

At
1.1.2022

The Company
Ordinary shares

Yong Khai Weng 9,020,323 2,040,240 – –

Koh Keng Siang – – 97,445,805 21,814,362

Tay Tze Wen 25,000 – – –

Immediate holding corporation
- Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited 
Ordinary shares

Yong Khai Weng 11,002,000 11,002,000 – –

Koh Keng Siang 13,120,000 13,120,000 1,544,629,607 1,544,629,607

Warrants – 2018

Koh Keng Siang 4,388,846 4,388,846 – –

Ultimate holding corporation
- Koh Brothers Group Limited 
Ordinary shares

Yong Khai Weng 60,000 60,000 – –

Koh Keng Siang 30,272,535 30,007,035 60,020,000 60,020,000

S$70 million 5.1% fixed rate notes due 2022

Koh Keng Siang – – – S$250,000

S$22.75 million 6.5% fixed rate notes due 2026

Koh Keng Siang S$750,000 – S$500,000 –

The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares and debentures of the Company as at 21 January 2023 were the same as 
those as at 31 December 2022.

Share options

There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of 
the Company or its subsidiaries.

There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at the end of the financial year.
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Audit and Risk Committee

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Tan Yee Peng (Chairwoman)
Hew Koon Chan
Lai Wai Kit Andrew
Koh Keng Siang
Bernard Wong Ee Yu

All members of the Audit and Risk Committee are non-executive directors. Tan Yee Peng, Hew Koon Chan and Lai Wai 
Kit Andrew are independent directors.

The Audit and Risk Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies 
Act. In performing those functions, the Committee reviewed:

•	 the scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditor;

•	 the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal accounting controls 
arising from the statutory audit; 

•	 the assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent auditor; and

•	 the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2022 before their submission to the Board of Directors, as well as the Independent Auditor’s 
Report on the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Audit and Risk Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP, be nominated for re‑appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Independent Auditor

The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Yong Khai Weng
Director

Koh Keng Siang
Director

17 March 2023
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Oiltek International Limited (“the Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (“the Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International)  
(“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial 
position of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes 
in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

What we have audited

The financial statements of the Company and the Group comprise:

•	 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 
2022;

•	 the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2022;

•	 the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group for the financial year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and

•	 the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of 
Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 

Our Audit Approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
accompanying financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements; for 
example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events 
that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of 
material misstatement due to fraud. 
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Our Audit Approach (continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2022. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Accounting for engineering contracts 
Refer to Note 3(a) and Note 4

During the financial year ended  
31 December 2022, revenue from 
engineering contracts amounted to 
RM148.8 million and it represented 
90.9% of the total revenue of the Group.

The Group uses the input method (i.e. 
“cost-to-cost” method) to measure 
project progress and recognise contract 
revenue in accordance with SFRS(I) 
15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. This requires significant 
judgement in estimating the total contract  
costs which affects the accuracy 
of revenue recognition based on 
percentage-of-completion and 
completeness of provision for onerous 
contracts. 

We focused on the accuracy of revenue 
recognition and recoverability of 
contract assets due to the significant 
management judgement required in 
determining the total contract sum and 
the total contract costs.

We obtained an understanding of the on-going engineering contracts 
through discussions with management and project teams, assessed the 
appropriateness of the method selected for individual projects to measure 
progress and to recognise the contract revenue, and examined project 
documentation (including contracts, correspondences with customers on 
delays).
 
In relation to total contract sums for on-going engineering contracts, our 
audit procedures included the following on a sampling basis:

•	 agreed total contract sums to contract entered into by the Group and its 
customer;

•	 inspected correspondences with customers and supporting documents 
relating to variation orders included in total contract sums;

•	 inspected progress billings to customers subsequent to year end and 
compared amounts to contract asset balances at year end; and

•	 assessed the adequacy of the amount of liquidated damages and 
foreseeable losses to be net off against contract sums, based on our 
understanding of the projects.

 
In relation to total contracts costs, we have obtained the estimated budgeted 
costs for all on-going contracts as at year end, and our audit procedures 
included the following on a sampling basis:

•	 traced the cost to complete for each project by substantiating costs that 
have been committed to quotations and contracts entered; 

•	 tested the reasonableness of the cost to complete for selected projects, 
focusing on those with significant activities during the year; and

•	 assessed the reasonableness of cost incurred against our understanding 
of the project.

Based on the audit procedures performed above, we have assessed 
management’s estimates to be reasonable.

We then recomputed the percentage of completion based on actual 
cumulative contract cost incurred as a portion of total contract costs, 
cumulative contract revenue and the contract revenue recognised for the 
current financial year as well as the amount of provision for onerous contract 
(where relevant) for each project, and traced to the accounting records and 
found it to be appropriate.

We have also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of the key 
accounting estimates and the sensitivity and found the disclosures in the 
financial statements to be appropriate.
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement (but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, and the other sections of the annual report (“the Other Sections”), which are expected to be made 
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

When we read the Other Sections, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to the directors and take appropriate actions in accordance with SSAs.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls 
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or 
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation 
of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group's internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the subsidiary 
corporation incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lee Chian Yorn.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 17 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 4 163,731 100,628

Cost of sales 7 (133,134) (77,039)

Gross profit 30,597 23,589

Other income 5 2,218 53

Other gains - net 6 1,763 658

Expenses

- (Allowance for)/reversal of impairment of trade receivables 7 (131) 2,031

- Administrative and others 7 (16,748) (13,344)

Profit before income tax 17,699 12,987

Income tax expense 9(a) (5,028) (3,280)

Profit after income tax 12,671 9,707

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 12,671 9,707

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity   
    holders of the Company:
- Basic and diluted earnings per share (in sen) 10 9.10 8.06

Profit after income tax 12,671 9,707

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassified subsequent to profit or loss:

Currency translation differences arising from consolidation 731 –

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 731 –

Total comprehensive income 13,402 9,707

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 13,402 9,707
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Group Company
Note 2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances 11 67,360 42,896 15,661 –

Trade and other receivables 12 11,392 16,976 3,146 –

Contract assets 4(b) 39,524 18,246 – –

Inventories 13 602 895 – –

Income tax receivables 9(b) 127 98 – –

119,005 79,111 18,807 –

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 14 – – 91,888 85,412

Property, plant and equipment 15 3,157 2,949 – –

Deferred tax assets 9(c) 310 179 – –

3,467 3,128 91,888 85,412

Total assets 122,472 82,239 110,695 85,412

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 44,355 31,167 2,282 4,121

Contract liabilities 4(b) 23,085 15,898 – –

Current income tax liabilities 9(b) 1,553 811 – –

68,993 47,876 2,882 4,121

Total liabilities 68,993 47,876 2,882 4,121

NET ASSETS 53,479 34,363 108,413 81,291

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to 
equity holders of the Company

Share capital 18 98,566 83,918 98,566 83,918

Merger reserve 19 (81,436) (81,436) – –

Currency translation reserve 20 731 – 6,439 –

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) 35,618 31,881 3,408 (2,627)

Total equity 53,479 34,363 108,413 81,291
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 Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Note
Share 
capital

Merger
reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserve
Retained 
profits Total

Group RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January 2022 83,918 (81,436) – 31,881 34,363

Profit for the financial year – – – 12,671 12,671

Other comprehensive income for the 
financial year – – 731 – 731

Total comprehensive income for the 
financial year – – 731 12,671 13,402

Transactions with owners, 
recognised directly in equity – 
dividend 21 – – – (8,934) (8,934)

Issuance of shares pursuant to the 
Listing 18 15,988 – – – 15,988

Capitalisation of Listing expenses 18 (1,340) – – – (1,340)

Total transactions with owners, 
recognised directly in equity 14,648 – – (8,934) (5,714)

Balance at 31 December 2022 98,566 (81,436) 731 35,618 53,479

Balance at 1 January 2021 2,482 – – 31,604 34,086

Profit for the financial year – – – 9,707 9,707

Transactions with owners, 
recognised directly in equity - 
dividends 21 – – – (9,430) (9,430)

Issuance of shares pursuant to the 
Restructuring Exercise (Note 1.2) 18,19 81,436 (81,436) – – –

81,436 (81,436) – (9,430) (9,430)

Balance at 31 December 2021 83,918 (81,436) – 31,881 34,363
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 Attributable to equity holders of the Company 

Note
Share 
capital

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Retained 
profits / 

(accumulated 
loss) Total

Company RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January 2022 83,918 – (2,627) 81,291

Profit for the financial year – – 6,035 6,035

Other comprehensive income for the financial year – 6,439 – 6,439

Total comprehensive income for the financial year – 6,439 6,035 12,474

Issuance of shares pursuant to the Listing 18 15,988 – – 15,988

Capitalisation of Listing expenses 18 (1,340) – – (1,340)

Total transactions with owners, recognised directly 
in equity 14,648

–
– 14,648

Balance at 31 December 2022 98,566 6,439 3,408 108,413

Balance at beginning of financial period – – – –

Issuance of new ordinary shares 18 83,918 – – 83,918

Loss for the financial period – – (2,627) (2,627)

Balance at 31 December 2021 83,918 – (2,627) 81,291



80 OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Group
Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit after income tax 12,671 9,707

Adjustments for:

- Income tax expense 9(a) 5,028 3,280

- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 151 133

- Property, plant and equipment written off 6 1

- Interest income 5 (325) (53)

- Unrealised translation loss 1,113 304

18,644 13,372

Changes in working capital:

- Trade and other receivables 4,771 (9,575)

- Inventories 293 183

- Contract assets and liabilities (14,091) (7,155)

- Trade and other payables 13,188 13,857

Cash generated from operations 22,805 10,682

Interest received 284 53

Income tax paid 9(b) (4,446) (3,548)

Net cash provided by operating activities 18,643 7,187

Cash flows from investing activity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (365) (32)

Net cash used in investing activity (365) (32)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (8,934) (14,393)

Listing expenses paid (486) (854)

Proceeds from issuance of new shares pursuant to the Listing 15,988 –

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 6,568 (15,247)

Net change in cash and bank balances 24,846 (8,092)

Beginning of financial year 42,896 51,292

Effect of currency translation on cash and bank balances (382) (304)

End of financial year 11 67,360 42,896

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

1 January
Dividends 
declared Dividends paid 31 December

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2022
Dividend payables (Note 21) – 8,934 (8,934) –

2021
Dividend payables (Note 21) 4,963 9,430 (14,393) –
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1.	 General information and the restructuring exercise

1.1	 General information

Oiltek International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated on 19 March 2021 under the Singapore 
Companies Act as a private company limited by shares under the name of Oiltek International Pte. Ltd. and is 
domiciled in Singapore. The Company was converted into a public company limited by shares and its name was 
change to Oiltek International Limited on 11 February 2022. The Company was listed on the Catalist Board of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) on 3 March 2022 (“Listing”). The address of its 
registered office is 15 Genting Road, Singapore 349493.

The principal activities of the Company is an investment holding company. The Company together with its 
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the supply and provision of engineering design and 
commissioning of oil extraction equipment and plant.

The principal activities of its significant subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 14 of the financial statements.

1.2	 Restructuring exercise

	 The Group undertook the following transactions as part of a corporate reorganisation implemented in preparation 
for its listing on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) (the 
“Restructuring Exercise”).

(a)	 Incorporation of the Company

	 On 19 March 2021, the Company was incorporated in Singapore under the Companies Act as a private 
company limited by shares, with an issued and paid-up share capital of S$2 (approximately RM6) 
comprising 2 shares held by the immediate holding corporation, Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited 
(“KBE”).

(b)	 Acquisition of subsidiaries

	 Pursuant to a restructuring deed dated 14 December 2021 entered into between SWW Pte. Ltd. (“SWW”), 
WSB Pte. Ltd. (“WSB”), Mr. Yong Khai Weng, Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu, Mr. Tan Hun Tee, and Mr. Ma Ong 
Kee (collectively, the “Vendors”), the Company, Oiltek Sdn. Bhd., and KBE (the “Restructuring Deed”), the 
Company, on 28 December 2021, acquired:

(i)	 all of the issued and paid-up ordinary shares of Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. from the Vendors at an aggregate 
amount of S$27,255,000 (approximately RM83,918,145) (the “OSB Consideration”), which was 
determined on a “willing buyer, willing seller” basis, and satisfied by the allotment and issue of 
27,255,000 ordinary shares in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company at an issue price 
of S$1.00 per Share (the “Consideration Shares”) to the Vendors (save for SWW, WSB, and Mr 
Bernard Wong Ee Yu who assigned their respective right to the OSB Consideration to KBE, 
the allotment and issue of the corresponding number of Consideration Shares to KBE of which 
constituted good and valuable consideration to SWW, WSB, and Mr. Bernard Wong Ee Yu for the 
sale of such shares in Oiltek Sdn. Bhd.); and

(ii)	 all of issued and paid-up ordinary shares of Oiltek Global Energy Sdn. Bhd. and Oiltek Global Pte. 
Ltd. from Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. at an aggregate amount of S$485,181 (approximately RM1,439,872), 
which was determined taking into consideration of the unaudited net asset value of Oiltek Global 
Energy Sdn. Bhd. as at 30 June 2021 and the share capital of Oiltek Global Pte. Ltd., and satisfied 
in cash or such other payment method agreed in writing between the Company and Oiltek Sdn. 
Bhd.
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1.	 General information and the restructuring exercise (continued)

1.2	 Restructuring exercise (continued)

(c)	 Conversion of the Company into a public company

	 On 11 February 2022, the Company was converted into a public company limited by shares and its name was 
changed from Oiltek International Pte. Ltd. to Oiltek International Limited.

(d)	 Share split

	 On 11 February 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved the share split, pursuant to which 
27,255,002 shares in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company were subdivided into 120,500,000 shares. 
Following the share split, which was effected on 11 February 2022, the issued and paid-up share capital of the 
Company was S$27,255,002, comprising 120,500,000 shares.

1.3 	 Basis of Presentation

	 The Group resulting from the above Restructuring Exercise is regarded as a continuing entity for the year ended 
31 December 2021 as the Group is ultimately controlled by the common shareholders both before and after the 
Restructuring Exercise. Accordingly, although the Company is only incorporated on 19 March 2021, the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the principles of merger accounting on the basis that the 
Restructuring Exercise transfer the equity interest in the combining entities under the common control to the Company 
has been effected for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2.	 Significant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)s”) under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I)s requires management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2022

On 1 January 2022, the Group has adopted the new or amended SFRS(I) and Interpretations of SFRS(I)  
(“INT SFRS(I)”) that are mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies 
have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective SFRS(I) and INT SFRS(I).

The adoption of these new or amended SFRS(I) and INT SFRS(I) did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s 
accounting policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.

2.2	 Revenue recognition

(a)	 Contract revenue

The Group provides engineering services to customers through fixed-price contracts. Contract revenue is 
recognised when the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 
asset is created or enhanced.

For these contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Group’s progress towards completion 
of the contract. The measure of progress is determined based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to 
date to the estimated total contract costs (“input method”). Costs incurred that are not related to the contract 
or that do not contribute towards satisfying a performance obligation are excluded from the measure of 
progress and instead are expensed as incurred.

In some circumstances such as in the early stages of a contract where the Group may not be able to 
reasonably measure its progress but expects to recover the contract costs incurred, contract revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of the contract costs incurred until such time when the Group can reasonably 
measure its progress.

Contract modifications that do not add distinct goods or services are accounted for as a continuation 
of the original contract and the change is recognised as a cumulative adjustment to revenue at the date of 
modification.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2	 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)	 Contract revenue (continued)

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances 
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in the 
profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by 
management.

The period between the transfer of the promised services and customer payment may exceed one year. 
For such contracts, there is no significant financing component present as the payment terms is an 
industry practice to protect the customers from the performing entity’s failure to adequately complete 
some or all of its obligations under the contract. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the 
transaction prices for the time value of money.

The customer is invoiced on a milestone payment schedule. If the value of the goods transferred by the 
Group exceed the payments, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the value of the 
goods transferred, a contract liability is recognised.

For costs incurred in fulfilling the contract which are within the scope of another SFRS(I) (eg. Inventories), 
these have been accounted for in accordance with those other SFRS(I). If these are not within the scope 
of another SFRS(I), the Group will capitalise these as contract costs assets only if (i) these cost relate 
directly to a contract or an anticipated contract which the Group can specifically identify; (ii) these cost 
generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) 
performance obligations in the future; and (iii) these costs are expected to be recovered. Otherwise, such 
costs are recognised as an expense immediately.

(b)	 Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when the Group has delivered the products to 
the customer and the customer has accepted the products. 

(c)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

2.3	 Group accounting

(a)	 Subsidiaries 

(i)	 Consolidation

	 Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.

	 In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment indicator of the transferred asset. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

	 Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of operations and its 
net assets, which is attributable to the interests that are not owned directly or indirectly by the 
equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a 
subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3	 Group accounting (continued)

(a)	 Subsidiaries (continued)

(ii)	 Acquisitions 

Except for the Restructuring Exercise as described in Note 1.2, the acquisition method of 
accounting is used to account for business combinations entered into by the Group.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair 
value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
The consideration transferred also includes any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-
existing equity interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non‑controlling interest in 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the 
(b) fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 

(iii)	 Disposals

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained profits if required by a specific 
Standard.
 
Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(b)	 Transactions with non-controlling interests

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the 
subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference between 
the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4	 Property, plant and equipment 

(a)	 Measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and 
any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

(b)	 Depreciation

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their 
depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Useful lives

Leasehold land 92 years

Factory building 50 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Office equipment and computers 5 – 8 years

Furniture, fittings and renovation 6 – 8 years

Machinery and equipment 4 – 6 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

(c)	 Subsequent expenditure

	 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(d)	 Disposal

	 On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds 
and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5	 Investments in subsidiaries 

	 Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s balance 
sheet. On disposal of investments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
investments are recognised in profit or loss.

2.6	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use (“ROU”) asset 
Investments in subsidiaries 

Property, plant and equipment, ROU asset and investments in subsidiaries are tested for impairment whenever 
there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 
and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in 
profit or loss.

Management assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment 
recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of that asset is estimated and may result in a reversal of impairment loss. The carrying 
amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss.

2.7	 Financial assets

(a)	 Classification and measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the 
Group’s business model for managing the financial assets as well as the contractual terms of the cash 
flows of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes.



87OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Annual Report 2022

Notes to THE Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7	 Financial assets (continued)

(a) 	 Classification and measurement (continued)

At initial recognition

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except for financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

At subsequent measurement

Debt instruments

Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables.

Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt 
instrument that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship 
is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method.

(b)	 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt 
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 22(b) details how the Group determines whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by the 
SFRS(I) 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the 
receivables.

(c)	 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sale of financial assets are recognised on trade date - the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating to 
that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 	 Leases

When the Group is the lessee: 

At the inception of the contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains a lease. A contract contains a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. Reassessment is only required when the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

(a)	 ROU asset

The Group recognised a ROU asset and lease liability at the date which the underlying asset is available 
for use. ROU asset is measured at cost which comprises the initial measurement of lease liabilities 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentive received. 
Any initial direct costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained are added to 
the carrying amount of the ROU asset.

The ROU asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the ROU asset or the end of the lease term.

The ROU asset is presented within “Property, plant and equipment”.

(b)	 Lease liabilities

The initial measurement of lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments 
discounted using the implicit rate in the lease, if the rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Group shall use its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments include the following:

–	 Fixed payment (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivables;
–	 Variable lease payment that are based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date;
–	 Amount expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;
–	 The exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and
–	 Payment of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that 

option.

For contract that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration 
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease and non-lease 
component. The Group has elected to not separate lease and non-lease component for property leases 
and account these as one single lease component.

	 Lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Lease liability shall be 
remeasured when:

–	 There is a change in future lease payments arising from changes in an index or rate;
–	 There is a change in the Group’s assessment of whether it will exercise an extension option; or
–	 There are modifications in the scope or the consideration of the lease that was not part of the 

original term.

	 Lease liability is remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the ROU asset, or is recorded in profit or 
loss if the carrying amount of the ROU asset has been reduced to zero.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 	 Leases (continued)

(c)	 Short term and low value leases

	 The Group has elected to not recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have 
lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low value leases, except for sublease arrangements. Lease 
payments relating to these leases are expensed to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

(d)	 Variable lease payments

	 Variable lease payments that are not based on an index or a rate are not included as part of the 
measurement and initial recognition of the lease liability. The Group shall recognise those lease payments 
in profit or loss in the periods that triggered those lease payments. There are no variable lease payments 
for the Group.

2.9	 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end 
of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as non‑current 
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

2.10	 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 
average method. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and 
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
applicable variable selling expenses.

2.11	 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered 
from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a tax 
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most 
likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of 
the uncertainty.

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associated companies, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11	 Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is measured:

(a)	 at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred 
tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the balance sheet date; and

(b)	 based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 
balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

	 Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that 
the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax 
arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

2.12	 Employee compensation

	 Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset.

(a)	 Defined contribution plans

	 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund and the Employees Provident Fund 
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid.

(b)	 Employee leave entitlement

	 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
balance sheet date.

2.13	 Currency translation

(a) 	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements are presented in Malaysian Ringgit, while the functional currency of the Company is Singapore 
Dollar. As the major subsidiaries of the Group operate in Malaysia, management has assessed that 
Malaysian Ringgit is a suitable presentation currency.

(b) 	 Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency exchange 
differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date 
are recognised in profit or loss. However, in the consolidated financial statements, currency translation 
differences arising from borrowings in foreign currencies and other currency instruments designated and 
qualifying as net investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency translation reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of or any loan forming part of the net investment of the foreign 
operation is repaid, a proportionate share of the accumulated currency translation differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented in the income statement within 
Note 6 “Other gains – net”.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair values are determined.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13	 Currency translation (continued) 

(c)	 Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

	 The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)	 assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date;

(ii)	 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions); and

(iii)	 all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the currency translation reserve. These currency translation differences are 
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the entity giving rise to such reserve.

	 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rates at the reporting date.

2.14	 Segment reporting

	 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the members 
of the management and the chief operation decision makers who are responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments.

2.15	 Cash and bank balances

	 For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and bank balances include 
cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
For cash subjected to restriction, assessment is made on the economic substance of the restriction and whether 
they meet the definition of cash and bank balances.

2.16	 Share capital 

	 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary 
shares are deducted against the share capital and accounts.

2.17	 Dividends

	 Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.
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3.	 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

	 Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)	 Estimation of contract costs for engineering contracts

The Group has significant ongoing construction contracts as at 31 December 2022 that are non-
cancellable. For these contracts, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Group’s progress 
towards completion of the contract. The measure of progress is determined based on the proportion of 
contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs (“input method”).

Management has to estimate the total contract sum and total contract costs to complete, which are used 
in the input method to determine the Group’s recognition of revenue. When it is probable that the total 
contract costs will exceed the total contract revenue, a provision for onerous contracts is recognised 
immediately.

Significant judgements are used to estimate the total contract costs which affect the accuracy of revenue 
recognition based on the percentage-of-completion and completeness of provision for onerous contracts 
recognised. In making these estimates, management has relied on past experience.

If the remaining estimated contract costs increase by 1% from management’s estimates, the Group’s 
profit before income tax will decrease by approximately RM358,000 (2021: RM255,000). 

(b)	 Measurement of expected credit loss allowances for financial assets

	 The loss allowances for financial assets (Note 22(b)) are determined based on management’s assumptions 
on risk of default and expected loss rates. Management has applied judgement in making those 
assumptions and selecting inputs in estimating the expected credit loss using the Group’s past history, 
existing market conditions, as well as forward-looking information at the balance sheet date.

(c)	 Critical judgement in determination of functional currencies of Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. and Oiltek Global Energy 
Sdn. Bhd.

	 The functional currency of the Group’s major subsidiaries, Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. and Oiltek Global Energy 
Sdn. Bhd. is Malaysian Ringgit. In determining the appropriate functional currency for these subsidiaries, 
management has considered (i) the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services, (ii) 
the currency that mainly influences cost of sales, (iii) the currency in which funds from financing activities 
are generated and (iv) the currency in which operating activities are usually retained in.

4.	 Revenue

(a)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Contract revenue – over time 148,843 91,313

Sales of goods – at a point in time 14,888 9,315

Total 163,731 100,628
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4.	 Revenue (continued)

(b)	 Contract assets and liabilities

Group
31 December 1 January

2022 2021 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Contract assets
Current

Engineering contracts 39,524 18,246 5,543

Contract liabilities
Current

Engineering contracts 23,085 15,898 10,350

	 Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed but not yet billed 
at reporting date on engineering contracts. The increase in contract assets was mainly due to revenue 
being recognised during the financial year but which has not yet been billed to the customers.

	 Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to customers 
for which the Group has received advances from customers for engineering contracts. The increase in 
contract liabilities was mainly due to advances received from customers during the financial year.

(i)	 Revenue recognised in relation to contract balances

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Revenue recognised in current period that was 
  included in the contract liability balance at the 
  beginning of the period

- Engineering contracts 14,785 9,131

(ii)	 Unsatisfied performance obligations

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Aggregate amount of the transaction price 
  allocated to contracts that are partially or fully 
  unsatisfied as at 31 December

- Engineering contracts 209,879 162,616

Management expects that the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied 
performance obligations as of 31 December 2022 will be recognised as revenue as the Group 
continues to perform to complete the projects, which is expected to occur over the next two years 
up to 2024 (2021: 2023). The amount disclosed above does not include variable consideration 
which is subject to significant risk of reversal.
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4.	 Revenue (continued)

(c)	 Trade receivables from contracts with customers

Group
31 December 1 January

2022 2021 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current assets
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 9,725 15,196 14,517

Less: Allowance for impairment (520) (389) (8,028)

9,205 14,807 6,489

5.	 Other income

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Interest income 325 53

Listing grant income 959 –

Insurance compensation income 918 –

Other income 16 –

2,218 53

6.	 Other gains - net

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Net foreign exchange gain 1,763 658
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7.	 Expenses by nature

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Purchases of raw material, equipment, consumables and subcontractor costs 126,954 71,879

Changes in inventories 293 183

Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment of trade receivables 131 (2,031)

Sales commission expenses 2,536 1,829

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 151 133

Employee compensation (Note 8) 11,925 9,520

Freight, shipping, transport and travelling expenses 3,351 3,148

Legal and professional fees 1,068 275

Listing expenses 2,073 2,509

Other expenses 1,531 907

150,013 88,352

8.	 Employee compensation

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Salaries, bonus and other costs 10,681 8,446

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans 1,244 1,074

11,925 9,520

	 Compensation to key management personnel, including directors’ remuneration is separately disclosed in Note 
23(b).

9.	 Income taxes

(a)	 Income tax expense

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:

- Current income tax [Note 9(b)] 4,939 3,304

- Deferred tax [Note 9(c)] (131) (181)

4,808 3,123

Under provision in prior financial year

- Current income tax [Note 9(b)] 220 157

5,028 3,280
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9.	 Income taxes (continued)

(a)	 Income tax expense (continued)

	 The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
respective domestic standard rates of income tax as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Profit before income tax 17,699 12,987

Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable to profit in countries where 
the Group operates 4,410 3,300

Effects of:

Tax incentives (7) –

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 447 464

Income not subject to tax (198) (667)

Under provision in prior financial years 220 157

Others 156 26

Tax charge 5,028 3,280

(b)	 Movement in current income tax liabilities

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Balance as at 1 January 713 800

Currency translation differences

Income tax paid (4,446) (3,548)

Tax expense [Note 9(a)] 4,939 3,304

Under provision in prior financial year [Note 9(a)] 220 157

Balance at 31 December 1,426 713

	 The amounts shown on the balance sheet as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Income tax receivables (127) (98)

Current income tax liabilities 1,553 811

Net current income tax liabilities 1,426 713
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9.	 Income taxes (continued)

(c)	 Deferred tax

The movement in the net deferred tax account is as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January (179) 2

Credited to profit or loss [Note 9(a)] (131) (181)

Balance at 31 December (310) (179)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same 
fiscal authority.

(d)	 Movement in deferred tax

The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheet as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax assets 310 179

Movements in the Group’s deferred tax liabilities and assets (prior to offsetting of the balances within the 
same tax jurisdiction) during the financial year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Group

Unrealised 
foreign 

exchange 
differences

Timing 
difference in 
taxation of 

contract profits Total
2022 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance as at 1 January (5) (197) (202)
Credited to profit or loss (81) (57) (138)
Balance at 31 December (86) (254) (340)

2021

Balance as at 1 January – (32) (32)

Charged to profit or loss (5) (165) (170)

Balance at 31 December (5) (197) (202)
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9.	 Income taxes (continued)

(d)	 Movement in deferred tax (continued) 

Deferred tax liabilities

Group

Accelerated
tax

depreciation

Unrealised 
foreign 

exchange 
differences Total

2022 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance as at 1 January 23 – 23
Charged to profit or loss 7 – 7
Balance at 31 December 30 – 30

2021

Balance as at 1 January 17 17 34

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 6 (17) (11)

Balance at 31 December 23 – 23

10.	 Earnings per share

(a)	 Basic earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Group
2022 2021

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RM’000) 12,671 9,707

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for basic 
earnings per share (‘000)* 139,240 120,500*

Basic earnings per share (in sen) 9.10 8.06

	 * 	� The weighted average number of ordinary shares is derived from the number of ordinary shares in issue by the 
Company, adjusted retrospectively for the effects of restructuring as described in Note 1.2.

(b)	 Diluted earnings per share

	 There is no dilution of earnings per share for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as 
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares. 
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11.	 Cash and bank balances

	 For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and bank balances comprise the 
following:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash and bank balances 52,592 42,896 893 –

Fixed deposits 14,768 – 14,768 –

67,360 42,896 15,661 –

12.	 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables from non-related 
   parties 9,725 15,196 – –

Less: Allowance for impairment of 
   trade receivables (520) (389) – –

Trade receivables - net 9,205 14,807 – –

Amount due from a subsidiary – – 3,057 –

Deposits 64 239 – –

Prepaid listing expenses – 854 – –

Other receivables from non-related 
   parties 2,123 1,076 89 –

11,392 16,976 3,146 –

13.	 Inventories

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Finished goods 602 895

	 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in “cost of sales” amounts to RM5,438,000 
(2021: RM2,770,000).
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14.	 Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost

Balance at 1 January 85,412 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 1.2) – 85,412

Additional capital injection into an existing subsidiary 800 –

Foreign currency translation difference 5,676 –

Balance at 31 December 91,888 85,412

	 Details of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Name

Country of
incorporation 
and business Principal activities

Effective interest held 
by Group

2022 2021
% %

SUBSIDIARIES
Held by the Company
Oiltek Sdn. Bhd. (1) Malaysia Specialist engineers 100 100
Oiltek Global Energy Sdn. Bhd. (1) Malaysia Specialist engineers in the 

   renewable energy segment
100 100

Oiltek Global Pte. Ltd. (2) Singapore Engineering design and 
   consultancy activities

100 100

(1)	 Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT, Malaysia. 
(2)	 Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Singapore. 
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Furniture,
fittings and 
renovation

Motor
vehicles

Office 
equipment

and 
computers Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Group
Cost
At 1 January 2022 3,611 106 468 594 661 5,440
Currency translation 

differences – – – – 1 1
Additions – – 246 – 119 365
Write-off – – (9) – (20) (29)
At 31 December 2022 3,611 106 705 594 761 5,777

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2022 879 106 463 570 473 2,491
Currency translation 

differences – – – – 1 1
Write-off – – (5) – (18) (23)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) 49 – 13 24 65 151
At 31 December 2022 928 106 471 594 521 2,620

Net book value at 31 
December 2022 2,683 – 234 – 240 3,157

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2021 3,611 106 468 594 644 5,423
Additions – – – – 32 32
Write-off – – – – (15) (15)
At 31 December 2021 3,611 106 468 594 661 5,440

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2021 830 106 462 547 427 2,372
Write-off – – – – (14) (14)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) 49 – 1 23 60 133
At 31 December 2021 879 106 463 570 473 2,491

Net book value at 31 
December 2021 2,732 – 5 24 188 2,949

(i)	 ROU asset acquired under leasing arrangements is presented together with the owned assets of the same 
class. Details of such leased asset is disclosed in Note 16(a).

(ii)	 The Group’s major property included in property, plant and equipment is as follows:

Name and location Description Tenure

Lot 6 Jalan Pasaran 23/5, Kawasan MIEL, 
Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Factory-cum-office building 99 years from 
15 August 1997
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16.	 Leases – The Group as a lessee 

Nature of the Group’s leasing activities

Leasehold land

The Group leases leasehold land from a non-related party under a non-cancellable lease agreement, for which 
the Group has prepaid upfront in full. The leasehold land is recognised within property, plant and equipment 
(Note 15).

There is no externally imposed covenant on the lease arrangement.

(a)	 Carrying amounts of ROU asset classified within Property, plant and equipment

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Leasehold land 1,997 2,025

(b)	 Depreciation charge during the year

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Leasehold land 27 27

17.	 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables to non-related parties 37,939 27,197 – –

Non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries – – 1,900 1,495

Other payables 3,499 1,618 – –

Accrued operating expenses 2,917 2,352 382 2,626

44,355 31,167 2,282 4,121

	 The non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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18.	 Share capital

No. of ordinary shares Amount
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Group and Company

Balance at 1 January 120,500,000 – 83,918 –

Issue of shares upon incorporation – 2 – –*

Issue of shares pursuant to the 
   Restructuring Exercise (Note 1.2) – 27,255,000 – 83,918

Share split pursuant to the 
   Restructuring Exercise (Note 1.2) – 93,244,998 – –

Issue of shares pursuant to the Listing 22,500,000 – 15,988 –

Capitalisation of Listing expenses – – (1,340) –

Balance at 31 December 143,000,000 120,500,000 98,566 83,918

*	 Denotes less than RM1,000

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. There is no par value for these ordinary shares. Fully paid ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared by the Company.

As part of the Restructuring Exercise (Note 1.2), there was an issue of 27,255,000 ordinary shares for the total 
consideration of RM83,918,145 on 28 December 2021. The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all aspects 
with the previously issued shares.

19.	 Merger reserve

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January (81,436) –

Pursuant to the Restructuring Exercise (Note 1.2) – (81,436)

Balance at 31 December (81,436) (81,436)

	 The merger reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid and the aggregate of share capital 
of the entities acquired under common control accounted for by applying the principles of merger accounting.

	 Merger reserve is not available for dividend distribution.
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20.	 Foreign currency reserve

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Balance at 1 January – – – –

Net exchange difference on translation 
   to presentation currency – – 6,439 –

Net currency translation differences of 
   financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 731 – – –

Balance at 31 December 731 – 6,439 –

21.	 Dividend

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Dividends paid in respect of the financial year ended of RM3.60
(2021: RM3.80) per share 8,934 9,430

The above dividends are declared by a subsidiary to the shareholders.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final cash dividend of 1.2 Singapore cents per share amounting 
to a total of S$1,716,000 will be recommended. These financial statements do not reflect these dividends, which 
will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending  
31 December 2023.

22.	 Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risks (including currency risks), credit risks and liquidity risks. The 
Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial 
markets on the Group’s financial performance. Where possible, the Group seeks to match assets and liabilities of 
the same currency. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk 
management for the Group. The management then establishes the detailed policies such as authority levels, 
oversight responsibilities, risk identification and measurement, exposure limits and hedging strategies, in 
accordance with the objectives and underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors. 

There have been no changes to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

(a) 	 Market risk

(i)	 Currency risk

	 The Group operates mainly in Asia with operations mainly in Malaysia. Entities in the Group 
transact predominantly in their respective functional currencies.

	 Currency risk arises within entities in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign 
currencies such as Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), Euro (“EUR”) and United States Dollar (“USD”). The 
Group monitors the foreign currency exchange rate movements closely to ensure that its exposure 
is minimised.
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22.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a) 	 Market risk (continued)

(i)	 Currency risk (continued)

	 The Group’s currency exposure is as follows: 

MYR SGD EUR USD Total
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 31 December 2022
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 18,729 15,896 981 31,754 67,360
Trade and other receivables 8,855 89 1,087 1,361 11,392
Intra-group balances 4,927 – – – 4,927

32,511 15,985 2,068 33,115 83,679

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (29,628) (1,487) (7,707) (5,533) (44,355)
Intra-group balances (4,927) – – – (4,927)

(34,555) (1,487) (7,707) (5,533) (49,282)

Net financial (liabilities)/assets (2,044) 14,498 (5,639) 27,582 34,397
Less: Net liabilities/(assets) 

denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currency 2,044 (15,479) – – (13,435)

Net currency exposure – (981) (5,639) 27,582 20,962

At 31 December 2021
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 10,571 37 803 31,485 42,896

Trade and other receivables 7,671 – 921 8,384 16,976

Intra-group balances 1,494 23 – – 1,517

19,736 60 1,724 39,869 61,389

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (22,515) (343) (4,719) (3,590) (31,167)

Intra-group balances (1,494) (23) – – (1,517)

(24,009) (366) (4,719) (3,590) (32,684)

Net financial (liabilities)/assets (4,273) (306) (2,995) 36,279 28,705

Less: Net assets denominated 
in the respective 
entities’ functional 
currency 4,273 96 – – 4,369

Net currency exposure – (210) (2,995) 36,279 33,074
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22.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(a) 	 Market risk (continued)

(i)	 Currency risk (continued)

	 If the USD, EUR and SGD change against the RM by 6%, 6% and 6% respectively with all other 
variables including tax rate held constant, the effects arising from the net financial assets and 
liabilities position on profit after income tax will be as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Group
USD against RM

- Strengthened 1,258 1,654

- Weakened (1,258) (1,654)

EUR against RM

- Strengthened (257) (137)

- Weakened 257 137

SGD against RM

- Strengthened (45) (10)

- Weakened 45 10

(ii)	 Interest rate risk

	 The Group has insignificant exposure to interest rate risk.

(iii)	 Price risk

	 The Group is not exposed to price risk.

(b) 	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. The Group adopts the policy of dealing only with:

•	 Customers of appropriate credit standing and history, where cash term, advance payments, 
bankers’ guarantees and performance bonds are required for customers of lower credit standing; 
and

•	 High credit quality counterparties.

	 As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each 
class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the 
balance sheet.

	 The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single customer. 
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22.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) 	 Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk for trade receivables from non-related parties based on the information provided to key 
management is as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

By geographical areas
Malaysia 7,836 6,314

Indonesia 897 2,109

Africa 472 556

Pakistan – 5,817

Others – 11

9,205 14,807

The movement in credit loss allowance for trade receivables are as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables from non-related parties(1)

Balance at 1 January 389 2,373

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year on:

- Asset acquired/originated 143 221

- Reversal of unutilised amount (12) (2,205)

Balance at 31 December 520 389

(1)	 Loss allowance measured at lifetime expected credit loss

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary (trade)

Balance at 1 January – 5,655

Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year on:

- Reversal of unutilised amount – (47)

Allowance written off – (5,608)

Balance at 31 December – –

The Group’s contract assets and other receivables are subject to immaterial credit loss.
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22.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) 	 Credit risk (continued)

(i)	 Trade receivables and contract assets

In measuring the expected credit losses (“ECL”), trade receivables and contract assets are grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due. The contract assets relate mainly 
to unbilled work in progress, which have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade 
receivables for the same type of contracts. 

The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a 
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers, and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. The Group has 
identified the gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth of the countries in which it sells goods and 
services to be the most relevant factor, and accordingly adjust the historical loss rates based on 
expected changes in this factor.

The Group considers a financial asset as in default when the counterparty fail to make contractual 
payments for a prolonged period of time when they fall due, and the Group may also consider 
internal and external information, such as significant adverse changes in business, financial or 
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet 
its obligation. Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
the contractual cash flow, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group 
and it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 
Where receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to 
attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Management has assessed and concluded that the expected credit loss rate for trade receivables 
past due less than 1 year approximates nil and is immaterial, while the expected credit loss rate for 
trade receivables past due more than 1 year approximates 50% to 100%, except for specific cases 
where management has assessed that the amount is still fully recoverable.

The Group’s and the Company’s credit risk exposure in relation to trade receivables and contract 
assets under SFRS(I) 9 are set out in the provision matrix as follows:

 Past due 

Current
1 to 6 

months
7 to 12 
months

Over 12 
months Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
2022
Group
Contract assets 39,524 – – – 39,524
Trade receivables 1,605 7,038 – 1,082 9,725
Loss allowance – – – (520) (520)

2021
Group
Contract assets 18,246 – – – 18,246

Trade receivables 11,537 2,832 – 827 15,196

Loss allowance – – – (389) (389)
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22.	 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) 	 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. At the balance sheet 
date, assets held by the Group and the Company for managing liquidity risk included cash and bank 
balances as disclosed in Note 11.

The Group’s financial liabilities due within one year as at 31 December 2022 is RM44,355,000  
(2021: RM31,167,000).

The Company’s financial liabilities due within one year as at 31 December 2022 is RM2,282,000  
(2021: RM4,121,000).

(d)	 Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to 
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, 
issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

The Group is in a net cash position as it has no borrowings.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed requirements for the financial years ended  
31 December 2022 and 2021.

(e)	 Financial instruments by category 

	 The aggregate carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost are as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets at amortised cost 78,752 59,017 18,807 –

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 44,355 31,167 2,282 4,121

23.	 Related party transactions

	 In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
transactions took place between the Group and related parties at terms agreed between the parties:

(a) 	 Sales and purchases of goods and services

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Rental of premise from a related corporation 12 6
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23.	 Related party transactions (continued)

(b) 	 Key management personnel compensation

	 Key management personnel compensation is analysed as follows:

Group
2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 3,618 2,615

Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans 359 320

3,977 2,935

	 Included in the above was total directors’ fees to directors of the Company amounting to RM687,000 
(2021: nil).

24.	 Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) that are used to make strategic decisions. The CEO is the Group’s chief operating 
decision-maker.

The CEO considers the business from a business segment perspective. Management manages and monitors the 
business in three main business segments which are “Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery”, “Renewable Energy” 
and “Product Sales and Trading”. The “Others” segment relates to corporate activities which are not allocated to 
the business segments.

The Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery segment provides services for edible and non-edible oil industries including 
(i) the engineering, procurement, design, construction and commissioning of edible and non-edible oil refining 
plants, downstream specialty products and processing plants, (ii) upgrading and retrofitting the existing facilities, 
and (iii) turnkey outside-battery-limits (“OSBL”) infrastructure engineering.

The Renewable Energy segment provides services for renewable energy industries including (i) the engineering, 
procurement, designing, construction and commissioning of multi-feedstock biodiesel, enzymatic biodiesel, 
winter fuel, and palm oil mill effluent biogas methane recovery plants, (ii) upgrading and retrofitting the existing 
facilities, and (iii) turnkey OSBL infrastructure engineering which includes the environmental solutions and 
integration into steam and power generation.

The Product Sales and Trading segment derives revenue from the sale of specialty chemical products and 
engineering components.

CEO assesses the performance of these business segments based on segment revenue, segment results, 
segment assets and segment liabilities.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly other income, other gains/(losses) - net, 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, listing expenses, income tax expense, cash and bank balances, 
property, plant and equipment, current income tax receivables/liabilities and deferred tax assets/liabilities.
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24.	 Segment information (continued)

(a)	 Analysis by Reportable Segment  

	 The segment information provided to the CEO for the reportable segments for the financial period ended 
31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Edible & 
Non-Edible 
Oil Refinery

Renewable 
Energy

Product 
Sales and 
Trading Others Total

Group (RM’000)

2022
Revenue
External 135,137 13,706 14,888 – 163,731

Results
Segment results 13,440 6 2,496 – 15,942
Other income 2,218
Other gains - net 1,763
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (151)
Listing expenses (2,073)
Profit before income tax 17,699
Income tax expense (5,028)
Profit after income tax 12,671

Assets
Segment assets 40,427 7,939 2,982 170 51,518

Unallocated assets:

Cash and bank balances 67,360
Income tax receivables 127
Property, plant and equipment 3,157
Deferred tax assets 310
Total assets 122,472

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 60,611 1,061 2,409 3,359 67,440

Unallocated liabilities:

Current income tax liabilities 1,553
Total liabilities 68,993
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24.	 Segment information (continued)

(a)	 Analysis by Reportable Segment (continued)

Edible & 
Non-Edible 
Oil Refinery

Renewable 
Energy

Product 
Sales and 
Trading Others Total

Group (RM’000)

2021
Revenue
External 74,262 17,051 9,315 – 100,628

Results
Segment results 12,532 1,036 1,350 – 14,918

Other income 53

Other gains - net 658

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (133)

Listing expenses (2,509)

Profit before income tax 12,987

Income tax expense (3,280)

Profit after income tax 9,707

Assets
Segment assets 28,203 3,948 2,873 1,093 36,117

Unallocated assets:

Cash and bank balances 42,896

Income tax receivables 98

Property, plant and equipment 2,949

Deferred tax assets 179

Total assets 82,239

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 37,379 4,723 1,866 3,097 47,065

Unallocated liabilities:

Current income tax liabilities 811

Total liabilities 47,876
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24.	 Segment information (continued)

(b) 	 Geographical Information

	 The Group operate in several main geographical areas: Asia, America and Africa.

	 The following table presents sales information for the main geographical areas for the financial years 
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Total revenue
2022 2021

Group RM’000 RM’000

      

Asia:

-   Bangladesh 49 169

-   Indonesia 100,115 36,746

-   Malaysia 31,658 32,224

-   Pakistan 9,147 13,492

-   Philippines 10,700 992

-   Thailand 1,467 1,173

-   Others 333 624

153,469 85,420

America 2,537 4,063

Africa:

-   Algeria 152 3,996

-   Benin 367 1,142

-   Kenya 776 1,691

-   Nigeria 1,948 –

-   South Africa 3,676 –

-   Uganda 621 3,943

-   Others 185 373

7,725 11,145

163,731 100,628

	 The Group’s non-current assets comprise mainly property, plant and equipment and are located in 
Malaysia. Accordingly, no geographical analysis for non-current assets is presented.

(c) 	 Information about major customers

	 Revenue of approximately 37% (2021: 31%) are derived from three (2021: two) major customers. Major 
customers are defined as customers that contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue. These revenue 
are mainly attributable to the Edible & Non-Edible Oil Refinery and Renewable Energy segments. 

25.	 Immediate and ultimate holding corporation

	 The Company’s immediate holding corporation is Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited, incorporated in 
Singapore. The Company’s ultimate holding corporation is Koh Brothers Group Limited, incorporated in 
Singapore.
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26.	 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations

Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been 
published, and are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and which 
the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

The narrow-scope amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify that liabilities are 
classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. 
Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date (e.g. the receipt 
of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendments also clarify what SFRS(I) 1-1 means when it refers to the 
‘settlement’ of a liability.

The amendments could affect the classification of liabilities, particularly for entities that previously considered 
management’s intentions to determine classification and for some liabilities that can be converted into equity.

The Group does not expect any significant impact arising from applying these amendments.

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilties arising from a Single 
Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

The amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes require companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions 
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. They will 
typically apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and decommissioning obligations, and will require the 
recognition of additional deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. In addition, entities should recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent that it is 
probable that they can be utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the earliest comparative period 
for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with:

•	 right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and

•	 decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and the corresponding amounts recognised as part of 
the cost of the related assets.

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is recognised in retained earnings, or another component 
of equity, as appropriate.

SFRS(1) 1-12 did not previously address how to account for the tax effects of on-balance sheet leases and 
similar transactions and various approaches were considered acceptable. Some entities may have already 
accounted for such transactions consistent with the new requirements. These entities will not be affected by the 
amendments.

The Group does not expect any significant impact arising from applying these amendments.
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27. 	 Events occurring after balance sheet date

	 On 6 January 2023, there was a fire incident of a refinery plant located at the premises of a customer in Malaysia 
that is supplied by the Group and in the course of being commissioned for the customer. As announced by the 
Group on 16 March 2023, the Group and the customer have come to an agreement on the list of rectification 
work scopes and schedule, where the rectification works are to be completed between a period of four weeks to 
six months. The rectification works are expected to complete within the financial year ending 31 December 2023.

	 The fire incident does not have any financial impact on the results of the Group for the financial year ended 
31 December 2022.

28.	 Authorisation of financial statements

	 These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of 
Oiltek International Limited on 17 March 2023.
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As at 22 March 2023

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID CAPITAL

Number of shares issued : 143,000,000

Class of shares : Ordinary shares

Voting rights : One vote per share

Number of treasury shares : Nil

Number of subsidiary holdings : Nil

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 99 0 0.00 0 0.00

100 - 1,000 59 18.43 54,000 0.03

1,001 - 10,000 126 39.38 567,000 0.40

10,001 - 1,000,000 127 39.69 10,403,300 7.28

1,000,001 and above 8 2.50 131,975,700 92.29

TOTAL     320 100.00 143,000,000 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES %

1 KOH BROTHERS ECO ENGINEERING LIMITED 97,445,805 68.14

2 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 11,104,300 7.77

3 YONG KHAI WENG 9,020,323 6.31

4 MA ONG KEE 6,013,549 4.21

5 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 3,740,000 2.62

6 TAN HUN TEE 2,470,323 1.73

7 CHU CHEE KEONG (ZHU ZHIQIANG) 1,125,000 0.79

8 LAI WENG KAY 1,056,400 0.74

9 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 981,900 0.69

10 ELAINE CHAN LI FEI OR TAN -KIM TIPPI 641,800 0.45

11 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 490,000 0.34

12 GOI KOK MING (WEI GUOMING) 450,000 0.31

13 TEO HARK PIANG (ZHANG XUEBIN) 450,000 0.31

14 TIEW YEW SENG 300,000 0.21

15 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 256,600 0.18

16 KOH TIAN YEOW 220,000 0.15

17 ONG KIEN SOO 220,000 0.15

18 YAP CHAY LEE 220,000 0.15

19 HO YEOW JOO 219,100 0.15

20 ELVINA DUAN 215,000 0.15

136,640,100 95.55
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 22 March 2023

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders)

DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST

NAME OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
NO. OF 

SHARES %
NO. OF 

SHARES %

KOH BROTHERS ECO ENGINEERING LIMITED 97,445,805 68.14 – –

YONG KHAI WENG 9,020,323 6.31 – –

KOH BROTHERS GROUP LIMITED(1) – – 97,445,805 68.14

PENTA-OCEAN CONSTRUCTION CO., LTD.(1) – – 97,445,805 68.14

KOH KENG SIANG(2) – – 97,445,805 68.14

Notes:	 											         

(1)	 Koh Brothers Group Limited and Penta-Ocean Construction Co., Ltd. are the Controlling Shareholders of Koh Brothers Eco 
Engineering Limited holding 54.81% and 28.74% respectively, and are deemed interested in shares held by Koh Brothers Eco 
Engineering Limited by virtue of Section 4 of the SFA.

(2)	 Koh Keng Siang has direct and deemed interest in Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited of approximately 0.47% and 54.81% 
respectively. His deemed interest in Koh Brothers Eco Engineering Limited is by virtue of shares held by his spouse and by 
Koh Brothers Group Limited. Accordingly, Koh Keng Siang is deemed to have interest in all shares held by Koh Brothers Eco 
Engineering Limited by virtue of Section 4 of the SFA.

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD BY PUBLIC	
								      
Based on the information available to the Company as at 22 March 2023, approximately 25.53% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company was held by the public and therefore, the Company complied with Rule 723 of the Listing 
Manual Section B : Rules of Catalist issued by SGX-ST.			 
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Oiltek International Limited (the “Company”) will be held 
at Carlton Hall, Level 2, York Hotel Singapore, 21 Mount Elizabeth, Singapore 228516 on Monday, 24 April 2023 at 2 p.m. 
for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2022 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.	 (Resolution 1)

2.	 To declare a final tax-exempt one-tier dividend of 1.20 Singapore cents per ordinary share for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2022.	 (Resolution 2)

3.	 To re-elect Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew (“Mr. Lai”) as Director of the Company who will be retiring pursuant to Regulation 
117 of the Company’s Constitution.

	 Mr. Lai will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Director of the Company, the 
Chairman of the Nominating Committee, a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration Committee 
and will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. Detailed information of Mr. Lai 
required pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules can be found in the section entitled “Additional Information on 
Directors Seeking Re-election” of the Annual Report.	 (Resolution 3)

4. 	 To re-elect Ms. Tan Yee Peng (“Ms. Tan”) as Director of the Company who will be retiring pursuant to Regulation 117 
of the Company’s Constitution.

	 Ms. Tan will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Director of the Company, 
the Chairwoman of the Audit and Risk Committee, a member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration 
Committee and will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. Detailed 
information of Ms. Tan required pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules can be found in the section entitled 
“Additional Information on Directors Seeking Re-election” of the Annual Report.	 (Resolution 4)

	
5.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$200,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2023 (financial 

year ended 31 December 2022: S$215,000), payable quarterly in arrears.	 (Resolution 5)

6.	 To re-appoint M/s PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Auditors of the Company, and to authorise the Directors of 
the Company to fix their remuneration.	 (Resolution 6)             

                                    
7.	 To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

8.	 Authority to issue shares under the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme 

	 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, the Directors of the Company be authorised 
and empowered to grant options (the “Options”) in accordance with the provisions of the Oiltek Employee Share 
Option Scheme (“ESOS”) and to allot and issue from time to time such number of fully paid-up shares in the capital 
of the Company as may be required to be allotted and/or issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options (the “Option 
Shares”) provided that the total number of Option Shares which may be issued and/or transferred pursuant to the 
exercise of the Options to be granted pursuant to the ESOS on any date when added to the number of Option 
Shares issued and/or transferred and issuable and/or transferable in respect of all Options granted under the ESOS 
shall not exceed 2.5% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in 
the capital of the Company as at 3 March 2022, being a total of 3,575,000 Option Shares.	 (Resolution 7)

	 [See Explanatory Note (i)]
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9.	 Authority to issue shares under the Oiltek Performance Share Plan

	 That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, the Directors of the Company be authorised 
and empowered to grant awards (“Awards”) in accordance with the provisions of the Oiltek Performance Share Plan 
(“PSP”) and to allot and issue from time to time such number of fully paid-up shares in the capital of the Company as 
may be required to be allotted and/or issued pursuant to the vesting of the Awards (the “Award Shares”) provided 
that the total number of Award Shares which may be issued and/or transferred pursuant to Awards granted under 
the PSP on any date, when added to the number of Award Shares issued and/or transferred or issuable and/or 
transferable in respect of all Awards granted under the PSP shall not exceed 2.5% of the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company as at 3 March 2022, being 
a total of 3,575,000 Award Shares.	 (Resolution 8)

	 [See Explanatory Note (ii)]

By Order of the Board

Tan Swee Gek
Joint Company Secretary

Singapore
6 April 2023

Explanatory Notes on Resolutions to be passed:

(i)	 The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will authorise the Directors of the Company, effective until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever 
is the earlier, to grant Options in accordance with the ESOS and to allot and issue from time to time Option Shares pursuant to 
the exercise of the Options provided that the total number of Option Shares which may be issued and/or transferred pursuant to 
the exercise of the Options to be granted pursuant to the ESOS on any date when added to the number of Option Shares issued 
and/or transferred and issuable and/or transferable in respect of all Options granted under the ESOS shall not exceed 2.5% of 
the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company as at 3 March 
2022, being a total of 3,575,000 Option Shares. Please refer to the Company’s Offer Document dated 18 February 2022 for further 
information on the ESOS. 

(ii)	 The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will authorise the Directors of the Company, effective until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever 
is the earlier, to grant Awards in accordance with the PSP and to allot and issue from time to time Award Shares in the capital of 
the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the vesting of the Awards provided that total number of Award Shares 
which may be issued and/or transferred pursuant to Awards granted under the PSP on any date, when added to the number 
of Award Shares issued and/or transferred or issuable and/or transferable in respect of all Awards granted under the PSP shall 
not exceed 2.5% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the 
Company as at 3 March 2022, being a total of 3,575,000 Award Shares. Please refer to the Company’s Offer Document dated 18 
February 2022 for further information of the PSP.
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Notes:

1.	 The members of the Company are invited to attend physically at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting” or “AGM”) 
pursuant to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable Capital 
Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020. There will be no option for shareholders 
to participate virtually. Printed copies of this Notice, Proxy Form and Annual Report will NOT be sent to members. This 
Notice, Proxy Form and Annual Report are available to members by electronic means via publication on SGXNet at the URL 
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements or at the Company’s website at the URL https://www.oiltek.com.my/. 
A member will need an internet browser and PDF reader to view these documents. 

2.	 Arrangements for participation in the AGM physically

	 Members (including CPFIS and SRS investors) may participate in the AGM by:

(a)	 attending the AGM in person; 

(b)	 submitting questions to the Chairman of the Meeting in advance of, or at, the AGM; and/or 

(c)	 voting at the AGM 

(i)	 themselves personally; or 

(ii)	 through their duly appointed proxy(ies). 

	 CPFIS and SRS investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting (and not third party prox(ies)) as proxy to 
approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes. Please see item 6 below for details.

	 In the event members encounter COVID-19 like symptoms prior to the Meeting, members are strongly encouraged to exercise 
social responsibility to rest at home and consider appointing a proxy(ies) to attend the Meeting. We encourage members to mask 
up when attending the Meeting.

3.	 Relevant Intermediary 

(a)	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and 
vote in his/her stead at the AGM. The appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 
shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. 

(b)	 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at 
the AGM, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such 
member. Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member 
specifies the number of shares in the Company (“Shares”) in relation to which each proxy has been appointed.

	 “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967. 

4.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 

5.	 A member can appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/it proxy, but this is not mandatory. 

	 If a member wishes to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy, such member (whether individual or corporate) must give 
specific instructions as to voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on, each resolution in the instrument appointing 
the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at 
the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof, the appointment of the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy for that resolution will be 
treated as invalid.

6.	 CPFIS/SRS investors who hold SGX shares through CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators: 

(a)	 may vote at the Meeting if they are appointed as proxies by their respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators, and should 
contact their respective CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies; 
or 

(b)	 may appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as proxy to vote on their behalf at the Meeting, in which case they should 
approach their CPF Agent Banks/SRS Operators to submit their votes at least 7 working days prior to the date of AGM i.e. 
by 5 p.m. on 12 April 2023.
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7.	 Submission of instrument of proxy or proxy (“Proxy Form”) – by 2 p.m. on 21 April 2023

	 The Proxy Form must be submitted through any one of the following means: 

(a)	 if submitted by post, be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company’s Share Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 
77 Robinson Road, #06-03 Robinson 77, Singapore 068896; or

 
(b)	 if submitted electronically, be sent via email to main@zicoholdings.com,

	 in either case, not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting i.e. by 2 p.m. on 21 April 2023, 
and failing which, the Proxy Form will not be treated as valid. 

8.	 The Company shall be entitled to, and will, treat any valid Proxy Form which was delivered by a member to the Company before 2 
p.m. on 21 April 2023 as a valid instrument as the member’s proxy to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting if: (a) the member had 
indicated how he/she/it wished to vote for or vote against or abstain from voting on each resolution; and (b) the member has not 
withdrawn the appointment by 2 p.m. on 21 April 2023.  The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy 
or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable 
from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, 
being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) 
hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

9.	 If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy must be under seal or the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorised. 

10.	 Completion and return of the Proxy Form by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and voting at the Meeting 
if he/she so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the Meeting will be deemed to be revoked if the member attends the 
Meeting in person and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under 
the relevant instrument appointing a proxy(ies) to the Meeting. 

11.	 Submission of questions by members in advance of the Meeting – by 14 April 2023 at 2 p.m.

(a)	 Members may also submit questions related to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the Meeting. All questions, 
together with the members’ full names, identification numbers, contact numbers and email addresses and manner in 
which they hold Shares, must be submitted by 14 April 2023 at 2 p.m. by email to main@zicoholdings.com or by post to 
B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 77 Robinson Road, #06-03 Robinson 77, Singapore 068896.

(b)	 The Company will publish the responses to substantial and relevant questions on the SGX website at 
https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements or at the Company’s website at the URL at 
https://www.oiltek.com.my/ by 2 p.m. on 19 April 2023. 

(c)	 The Company endeavours to address (i) subsequent clarifications sought (ii) follow-up questions or (iii) subsequent 
substantial and relevant questions which are received after its responses referred to at (b) above, at the Meeting itself. 
Where substantially similar questions are received, the Company will consolidate such questions and consequently not all 
questions may be individually addressed. 

(d)	 Minutes of AGM – The Company will, within one month after the date of the AGM, publish the minutes of the AGM on 
SGXNET, and the minutes will include the responses to the questions which are addressed during the AGM, if any.

12.	 Important reminder. Any changes to the manner of conducting the AGM will be announced by the Company on SGXNET. Members 
are advised to check SGXNET regularly for any further updates.
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Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/ or any 
adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data 
by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and 
representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, 
minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to 
comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the 
member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member 
has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its 
agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify 
the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of 
warranty.

This notice has been reviewed by the Company’s Sponsor, SAC Capital Private Limited (the “Sponsor”). It has not been examined or 
approved by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the contents 
of this notice, including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports contained in this notice. 

The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms. Audrey Mok (Telephone: +65 6232 3210) at 1 Robinson Road, #21-00 AIA Tower, Singapore 
048542. 
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Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew and Ms. Tan Yee Peng are the Directors seeking re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company to be convened and held on Monday, 24 April 2023 at 2 p.m., (“AGM”) (collectively, the “Retiring 
Directors” and each a “Retiring Director”).

Pursuant to Rule 720(5) of the Catalist Rules of the SGX-ST, the information relating to the Retiring Directors as set out in 
Appendix 7F to the Catalist Rules of the SGX-ST is set out below:

Name of Director LAI WAI KIT ANDREW 

Date of first appointment 30 December 2021

Date of last re-appointment 27 May 2022

Age 53

Country of principal residence Singapore 

The Board’s comments on this appointment 
(including rationale, selection criteria, and the 
search and nomination process)

The Board of Directors of the Company has considered, among 
others, the recommendation of the Nominating Committee and 
has reviewed and considered the qualification, work experience 
and suitability of Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew for re-appointment as 
Independent Director. The Board has reviewed and concluded 
that Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew possesses the experience, expertise, 
knowledge and skills to contribute towards the core competencies 
of the Board.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the 
area of responsibility

Non-Executive  

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC 
Member etc.)

Independent Director, Chairman of Nominating Committee, member 
of the Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration Committee 

Professional qualifications Bachelor of Laws (Honours), National University of Singapore
Advocate and Solicitor, Singapore
Roll of Solicitors of England and Wales 
Roll of Solicitors of Hong Kong 

Working experience and occupation(s) during 
the past 10 years

From 2017 – present: Partner at Lee & Lee 
From 2005 – 2017: Partner at Kelvin Chia Partnership

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries

No

Any relationship (including immediate family 
relationships with any existing director, existing 
executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

No

Conflict of Interest (including any competing 
business)

No 

Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 
7H) under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the 
listed issuer

Yes 

Other Principal Commitments*
Including Directorships#

*	 “Principal Commitments” has the same 
meaning as defined in the Code.

#	 These fields are not applicable for 
announcements of appointments pursuant 
to Listing Rule 704(9)

Past (last 5 years)
Nil

Present 
Partner at Lee & Lee
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Name of Director LAI WAI KIT ANDREW 

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief financial 
officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question 
is “yes”, full details must be given.

(a)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 
years, an application or a petition under 
any bankruptcy law of any jurisdiction was 
filed against him or against a partnership of 
which he was a partner at the time when he 
was a partner or at any time within 2 years 
from the date he ceased to be a partner?

No

(b)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 
years, an application or a petition under 
any law of any jurisdiction was filed against 
an entity (not being a partnership) of which 
he was a director or an equivalent person 
or a key executive, at the time when he 
was a director or an equivalent person or a 
key executive of that entity or at any time 
within 2 years from the date he ceased to 
be a director or an equivalent person or a 
key executive of that entity, for the winding 
up or dissolution of that entity or, where that 
entity is the trustee of a business trust, that 
business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

No 

(c)	 Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment 
against him?

No 

(d)	 Whether he has ever been convicted of any 
offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving 
fraud or dishonesty which is punishable 
with imprisonment, or has been the subject 
of any criminal proceedings (including any 
pending criminal proceedings of which he is 
aware) for such purpose?

No 

(e)	 Whether he has ever been convicted of 
any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, 
involving a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 
or has been the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any pending criminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) for such 
breach?

No 

(f)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 
years, judgment has been entered against 
him in any civil proceedings in Singapore 
or elsewhere involving a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement that relates to the 
securities or futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his 
part, or he has been the subject of any civil 
proceedings (including any pending civil 
proceedings of which he is aware) involving 
an allegation of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part?

No 
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Name of Director LAI WAI KIT ANDREW 

(g)	 Whether he has ever been convicted in 
Singapore or elsewhere of any offence 
in connection with the formation or 
management of any entity or business trust?

No 

(h)	 Whether he has ever been disqualified from 
acting as a director or an equivalent person 
of any entity (including the trustee of a 
business trust), or from taking part directly 
or indirectly in the management of any entity 
or business trust?

No 

(i)	 Whether he has ever been the subject of 
any order, judgment or ruling of any court, 
tribunal or governmental body, permanently 
or temporarily enjoining him from engaging 
in any type of business practice or activity?

No 

(j)	 Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, 
been concerned with the management or 
conduct, in Singapore or elsewhere, of the 
affairs of:–

(i)	 any corporation which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement governing 
corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; 
or

(ii)	 any entity (not being a corporation) 
which has been investigated for 
a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing such entities in 
Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii)	 any business trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement governing 
business trusts in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

(iv)	 any entity or business trust which 
has been investigated for a breach 
of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures 
industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 

in connection with any matter occurring or arising 
during that period when he was so concerned 
with the entity or business trust?

No 

(k)	 Whether he has been the subject of any 
current or past investigation or disciplinary 
proceedings, or has been reprimanded 
or issued any warning, by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore or any other 
regulatory authority, exchange, professional 
body or government agency, whether in 
Singapore or elsewhere?

No 
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Name of Director TAN YEE PENG 

Date of first appointment 30 December 2021

Date of last re-appointment 27 May 2022

Age 49

Country of principal residence Singapore 

The Board’s comments on this appointment 
(including rationale, selection criteria, and the 
search and nomination process)

The Board of Directors of the Company has considered, among others, 
the recommendation of the Nominating Committee and has reviewed 
and considered the qualification, work experience and suitability of Ms. 
Tan Yee Peng for re-appointment as Independent Director. The Board 
has reviewed and concluded that Ms. Tan Yee Peng possesses the 
experience, expertise, knowledge and skills to contribute towards the 
core competencies of the Board.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the 
area of responsibility

Non-Executive 

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member 
etc.)

Independent Director, Chairwoman of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nominating Committee

Professional qualifications Degree in Accountancy (First Class Honours), Nanyang Technological 
University 
Fellow of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants 

Working experience and occupation(s) during the 
past 10 years

From 2009 to 2018, Adjunct Associate Professor, Nanyang Technological 
University
From 2014 to 2020, Director of City Developments Limited
From 2017 to 2021, Management Committee member / Treasurer of 
Viriya Community Services
From 2017 to present, Director of Vanguard Health Fund Limited
From 2019 to present, Director of 1FSS Pte. Ltd. 
From 2019 to present, Director of Dutech Holdings Pte. Ltd.
From 2019 to present, Director of Hercules Pte Ltd
From 2021 to present, Director of Singapore Aerospace Manufacturing 
Pte Ltd
From 2021 to present, Director of TDCX Inc.
From 2021 to present, Director of TTSH Community Fund
From 2021 to present, Director of Tri Star Security Pte Ltd
From 2022 to present, Director of Hupsteel Pte. Ltd. 
From 2022 to present, Director of Sheares Healthcare International 
Holdings Pte. Ltd. 
From 2022 to present, Director of Sheares Healthcare China Holdings 
Pte. Ltd. 
From 2022 to present, Director of Hup Seng Huat Land Pte Ltd
From 2022 to present, Director of Hoe Seng Huat Pte Ltd
From 2023 to present, Director of First Sponsor Group Limited 

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries

No

Any relationship (including immediate family 
relationships with any existing director, existing 
executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

No

Conflict of Interest (including any competing 
business)

No
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Name of Director TAN YEE PENG 

Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7H) 
under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed 
issuer

Yes 

Other Principal Commitments*
Including Directorships#

*	 “Principal Commitments” has the same 
meaning as defined in the Code.

#	 These fields are not applicable for 
announcements of appointments pursuant to 
Listing Rule 704(9)

Past (last 5 years) 
Director of City Developments Limited 
Management Committee member / Treasurer of Viriya Community 
Services

Present 
Director of 1FSS Pte. Ltd. 
Director of Dutech Holdings Pte. Ltd.
Director of Hercules Pte Ltd
Director of Singapore Aerospace Manufacturing Pte Ltd
Director of TDCX Inc.
Director of Hupsteel Pte. Ltd.
Director of Sheares Healthcare International Holdings Pte. Ltd.
Director of Sheares Healthcare China Holdings Pte. Ltd.
Director of Hup Seng Huat Land Pte Ltd
Director of Hoe Seng Huat Pte Ltd
Director of First Sponsor Group Limited 

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, 
chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is “yes”, full 
details must be given.

(a)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an 
application or a petition under any bankruptcy 
law of any jurisdiction was filed against him 
or against a partnership of which he was a 
partner at the time when he was a partner or 
at any time within 2 years from the date he 
ceased to be a partner?

No 

(b)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 years, 
an application or a petition under any law of 
any jurisdiction was filed against an entity 
(not being a partnership) of which he was 
a director or an equivalent person or a key 
executive, at the time when he was a director 
or an equivalent person or a key executive of 
that entity or at any time within 2 years from 
the date he ceased to be a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive of that 
entity, for the winding up or dissolution of 
that entity or, where that entity is the trustee 
of a business trust, that business trust, on the 
ground of insolvency?

No 

(c)	 Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment 
against him?

No 

(d)	 Whether he has ever been convicted of any 
offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving 
fraud or dishonesty which is punishable with 
imprisonment, or has been the subject of any 
criminal proceedings (including any pending 
criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for 
such purpose?

No 
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(e)	 Whether he has ever been convicted of any 
offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving 
a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures industry 
in Singapore or elsewhere, or has been the 
subject of any criminal proceedings (including 
any pending criminal proceedings of which he 
is aware) for such breach?

No 

(f)	 Whether at any time during the last 10 years, 
judgment has been entered against him in any 
civil proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere 
involving a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or 
futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 
or a finding of fraud, misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part, or he has been the 
subject of any civil proceedings (including 
any pending civil proceedings of which he 
is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

No 

(g)	 Whether he has ever been convicted in 
Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in 
connection with the formation or management 
of any entity or business trust?

No 

(h)	 Whether he has ever been disqualified from 
acting as a director or an equivalent person of 
any entity (including the trustee of a business 
trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly 
in the management of any entity or business 
trust?

No 

(i)	 Whether he has ever been the subject of 
any order, judgment or ruling of any court, 
tribunal or governmental body, permanently or 
temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any 
type of business practice or activity?

No 
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(j)	 Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been 
concerned with the management or conduct, 
in Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:–

(i)	 any corporation which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement governing 
corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; 
or

(ii)	 any entity (not being a corporation) 
which has been investigated for 
a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement governing such entities in 
Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii)	 any business trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of any law 
or regulatory requirement governing 
business trusts in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or

(iv)	 any entity or business trust which 
has been investigated for a breach 
of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures 
industry in Singapore or elsewhere, 

in connection with any matter occurring or arising 
during that period when he was so concerned with 
the entity or business trust?

No 

(k)	 Whether he has been the subject of any 
current or past investigation or disciplinary 
proceedings, or has been reprimanded or 
issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority 
of Singapore or any other regulatory authority, 
exchange, professional body or government 
agency, whether in Singapore or elsewhere?

No 
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OILTEK INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Company Registration No. 202109778W
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

I/We,  (Name)

 (NRIC/Passport Number/Company Registration Number)

of  (Address)

being a member/members of Oiltek International Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:	

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholding 

No. of Shares (%)

Address 

and/or*

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholding 

No. of Shares (%)

Address 

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons referred to above, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) as 
my/our proxy/proxies* to attend, speak or vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held physically 
at Carlton Hall, Level 2, York Hotel Singapore, 21 Mount Elizabeth, Singapore 228516 on Monday, 24 April 2023 at 2 p.m. and 
at any adjournment thereof.

*I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for, against or abstain the Resolutions proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. 

If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof, 
the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. In the absence of specific directions in respect of a 
resolution, the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as your proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid. All resolutions 
put to the vote at the AGM shall be decided by way of poll. 

(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For”, “Against” or “Abstain”, please tick [√] within the box provided. 
Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.) 

No. Resolutions relating to: No. of Votes 
For

No. of Votes 
Against

No. of Votes 
Abstained

1 Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2022 

2 Declaration of a final tax-exempt one-tier dividend of 1.20 Singapore cents 
per share for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

3 Re-election of Mr. Lai Wai Kit Andrew as a Director

4 Re-election of Ms. Tan Yee Peng as a Director

5 Approval of Directors’ fees of S$200,000 for the financial year ending 31 
December 2023, payable quarterly in arrears  

6 Re-appointment of M/s PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors 

7 Authority to issue shares under the Oiltek Employee Share Option Scheme

8 Authority to issue shares under the Oiltek Performance Share Plan

Dated this  day of  2023	

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members
						    

Signature of Shareholder(s)				 
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder	 		

*Delete where inapplicable

IMPORTANT:

1.	 The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) will be held physically at Carlton Hall, 
Level 2, York Hotel Singapore, 21 Mount Elizabeth, Singapore 228516. 
Members have no option to participate virtually. 

2.	 For CPF Investors/SRS Investors who have used their CPF/SRS monies 
to buy the Company’s shares, this Proxy Form is not valid to use by CPF 
Investors/SRS Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if 
used or purported to be used by them. CPF Investors/SRS Investors should 
contact their respective Agent Banks/SRS Operators if they have any queries 
regarding their appointment as proxies. 

3.	 Please read the notes overleaf which contains instructions on, inter alia, the 
appointment of proxy(ies). 



Notes:

1.	 Each of the resolutions to be put to the vote of members at the AGM (and at any adjournment thereof) will be voted on by way of poll. 

2.	 Please insert the total number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the 
Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 
Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your 
name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number 
of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is 
inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

3.	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead. 
A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.	 Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding 
(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. If no proportion is specified, the Company shall be entitled to 
treat the first named proxy as representing the entire number of shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and any second 
named proxy as an alternate to the first named. The proxy form may be accessed on the SGX website. 

5.	 A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend 
and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or Shares held by 
such member. Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies the 
number of Shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed. 

	 “Relevant intermediary” means: 

(a)	 a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act 1970 or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, whose 
business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; 

(b)	 a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act 
2001 and who holds shares in that capacity; or

 
(c)	 the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act 1953, in respect of shares purchased under the 

subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest standing to 
the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to 
or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation. 

	 A member can appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy but this is not mandatory. 

	 CPFIS/SRS Investors who wish to vote at the AGM should approach their respective agent banks to submit their votes at least seven (7) 
working days before the date of the AGM (i.e. 5 p.m. on 12 April 2023). CPFIS/SRS Investors should contact their respective agent banks for 
any queries they may have with regard to the appointment of proxy for the AGM.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy(ies) (“Proxy Form”) must be submitted to the Company in the following manner:- 

(a)	 if submitted by post, be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company’s Share Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 77 Robinson 
Road, #06-03 Robinson 77, Singapore 068896; or

(b)	 if submitted electronically, be sent via email to main@zicoholdings.com,

	 in either case, not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, that is by 2 p.m. on 21 April 2023, failing 
which, the Proxy Form will not be treated as valid. 

7.	 Completion and return of the Proxy Form by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and voting at the AGM if he/she 
so wishes. The appointment of the proxy(ies) for the AGM will be deemed to be revoked if the member attends the AGM in person and in 
such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a 
proxy(ies) to the AGM. 

8.	 The Proxy Form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the Proxy Form is executed 
by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the Proxy Form 
is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the 
instrument. 

9.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its 
representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore. 

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the Member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set 
out in the Notice of AGM dated 6 April 2023.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the 
true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. 
In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if 
the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours 
before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



REGISTERED OFFICE
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Lot 6, Jalan Pasaran 23/5
Kawasan MIEL Phase 10
Section 23, 40300 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Malaysia

BOARD OF DIRECTOR
Hew Koon Chan 
(Non-Executive Chairman and Independent 
Director)
Yong Khai Weng 
(Executive Director and CEO)
Koh Keng Siang 
(Non-Executive Director)
Bernard Wong Ee Yu 
(Non-Executive Director)
Lai Wai Kit Andrew 
(Independent Director)
Tan Yee Peng 
(Independent Director)
Tay Tze Wen
(Alternate Director to Mr. Koh Keng Siang)

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
Tan Yee Peng (Chairwoman)
Hew Koon Chan
Lai Wai Kit Andrew
Koh Keng Siang
Bernard Wong Ee Yu

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Lai Wai Kit Andrew (Chairman)
Hew Koon Chan
Tan Yee Peng
Koh Keng Siang
Bernard Wong Ee Yu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Hew Koon Chan (Chairman)
Lai Wai Kit Andrew
Tan Yee Peng
Koh Keng Siang
Bernard Wong Ee Yu

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ong Beng Hong
Tan Swee Gek

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
7 Straits View, Marina One
East Tower, Level 12
Singapore 018936

Partner-in-charge

Lee Chian Yorn 
(appointed during the financial year ended 31 
December 2021)

SHARE REGISTRAR
B.A.C.S Private Limited
77 Robinson Road 
#06-03 Robinson 77
Singapore 068896

SPONSOR
SAC Capital Private Limited
1 Robinson Road
#21-00 AIA Tower
Singapore 048542

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Cogent Media Pte Ltd
203B Henderson Road
#12-08 Singapore 159546
Contact Person: Gerald Woon
Tel: (65) 6704 9287
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